JOINT MEETING OF THE WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY SCHEME OF
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND ADVISORY GROUP

Date:

Tuesday 25 January 2022

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

To be held via Microsoft Teams

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov

Members of the Scheme of Management Committee
Nicholas Long MBE (Chair), Paul Barber, Reverend Canon Ivelaw Bowman, Julian Briant, Councillor
Fred Cowell, Councillor Pete Elliott, Councillor Peter Ely and Councillor Sonia Winifred

Members of the Advisory Group
Professor Robert Flanagan (Chair), Jill Dudman, Dr Brent Elliott, Robert Holden,Elizabeth Whitbourn,
George Young, Councillor Fred Cowell (Substitute), Councillor Pete Elliott, and Councillor Peter Ely

Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Shyrina Rantisi, Telephone: 020 7926 0544; Email: srantisi1@lambeth.gov.uk

Published on: Monday 17 January 2022

Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

How to access the meeting
Reflecting current government guidance to help prevent the spread of Covid-19, members of the public,
visiting Members and officers are invited to attend virtually.
Members of the Public
To join the meeting online, using MS Teams, please contact democracy@lambeth.gov.uk for a link to the
meeting. Members of the public wishing to make representations at this meeting must inform Democratic
Services (see front page for contact details) by 12pm on Monday 24 January 2022.
Members of the Committee
Please refer to the joining instructions you have already received.

For elected Members of the Council
Councillors who are not members of the Committee but wish to attend the meeting must inform
Democratic Services by 12pm on Monday 24 January 2022. Upon doing so they will be invited to attend
the meeting virtually.

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact
Democratic Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office).
Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of
reasons including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that
it can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Representation
Ward Councillors may be contacted directly to represent your views to the Council: (details via the
website www.lambeth.gov.uk)

Participation at West Norwood Cemetery meetings
Members of the public are welcome to participate at the discretion of the Chair in discussion of topics
present on the agenda with priority accorded to formal Committee members. Any item of discussion not
included on the agenda or discussed in a previous meeting can be raised again with the approval of the
Scheme of Management and Advisory Group Chairs (via Democratic Services) prior to agenda
publication (at least seven days prior to the meeting date). Please be aware that the Advisory Group is
the more appropriate body for the expression of views from members of the public, given that the
Scheme of Management Committee is primarily a decision-taking body working on the advice of the
Advisory Group.

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING

Page
Nos.
1

Welcomes and Introductions

2

Election of the Advisory Group Chair and Vice-Chair

3

Election of the Scheme of Management Committee Chair and
Vice-Chair

4

Minutes of the West Norwood Cemetery Advisory Group
(05.02.20)

1-6

To agree the minutes of the West Norwood Cemetery Advisory Group
held on 05 February 2020.

5

Minutes of the West Norwood Cemetery Scheme of
Management Committee (11.03.20)

7 - 12

To agree the minutes of the Scheme of Management Committee held
on 11 March 2020.

6

Oral Update from the Chairs since 11 May 2020

7

Capital Project Update (National Lottery Heritage Fund
(NLHF))

13 - 44

8

Cemetery and Bereavement Services Update

45 - 50

9

Strategic Partnership Board, Petition for Faculty Pending

51 - 72

Wards: Gypsy Hill
Report authorised by: Bayo Dosunmu: Strategic Director for Resident
Services
Contact for enquiries: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director
Neighbourhoods, 0207 926 8973, kcrook@lambeth.gov.uk

10

Revised Regulations for West Norwood Cemetery

73 - 118

Wards: Gypsy Hill
Report authorised by: Bayo Dosunmu: Strategic Director for Resident
Services
Contact for enquiries: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director
Neighbourhoods, 0207 926 8973, kcrook@lambeth.gov.uk

11

Grave Re-Use Policy
Wards: Gypsy Hill
Report authorised by: Bayo Dosunmu: Strategic Director for Resident
Services
Contact for enquiries: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director
Neighbourhoods, 0207 926 8973, kcrook@lambeth.gov.uk

119 - 148

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY ADVISORY GROUP
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON
Wednesday 5 February 2020 at 5.30 pm
PRESENT:

Jill Dudman, Dr Brent Elliott, Professor Robert Flanagan (Chair), Robert
Holden, George Young, Councillor Pete Elliott and Councillor Peter Ely

ALSO PRESENT:

Tim Stephens, Canon Reverend Ivelaw Bowman, Nicholas Long MBE
(Chair SoMC/Chair of Project steering group for NLHF), Dan Thomas,
Jacqueline Landy, Beth Cross, Preeti Chatwal-Kauffman,

APOLOGIES:

Councillor Fred Cowell

1.

WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
The Chair, Professor Robert Flanagan, welcomed all to the meeting and the following
declarations of interest were raised:
 Robert Holden had a family interest and a potential right to burial in five graves;
 Nicholas Long was a grave owner; and,
 Jill Dudman was a cremation plot owner.

2.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS ADVISORY GROUP MEETING
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting dated 30 October 2019 be agreed as an accurate
record of proceedings.

3.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS SCHEME OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting dated 13 November 2019 be noted.
In discussion, it was noted that officers needed to discuss the list of outstanding Cemetery
actions with Professor Bob Flanagan, Chair of the Management Advisory Group (MAG)and
Nicholas Long (Chair SoMC/Chair of Project steering group for National Lottery Heritage Fund
(NLHF)).

4.

PROJECT MANAGER NLHF PROJECT UPDATE
Preeti Chatwal-Kauffman, Project Manager, introduced the report and responded to questions
as below:
 Officers apologised for the delays during the transition period, however the lead

Page 2


















5.

consultants - Donald Insall Associates – alongside Paul Harrison and Conisbee – had now
been appointed, and quantity surveyor procurement was in progress, with a March date to
interview for the appointment.
The Stage 4 design was now beginning and major spend was expected from August 2020
onwards. Designs and plans would be discussed with stakeholders as soon as possible.
The Capital Delivery team had seen numerous changes, but staff posting was now largely
complete.
The RIBA Stage 4 (ITT) was projected to begin in May, but due to tendering delay, was
now expected in August. Progress would be updated on a monthly basis to increase
visibility.
The Chair reiterated the MAG’s and Scheme of Management Committee’s (SoMC’s)
concerns over progress to date, with a three-month delay from that previous advertised,
and NLHF funding based on meeting the project’s timelines.
The Chair asked for individual timelines to be provided for each work package, detailing
lead officers.
Officers were in regular contact with the NLHF to provide assurance on grant funding and
progress. A key reason for delays were to correctly package procurement to get the
highest quality lead consultant, which had been achieved and would shorten the design
phase by providing continuity.
Once work packages were activated, detailed development would be provided by
monument, infrastructure, drainage, pathways, and visitor centre work strands.
The Interpretation Consultation would follow the quantity surveyor appointment to initiate
the project later in the year. The Chair noted that he did not want to employ someone to
duplicate his advice.
Beth Cross, Activities Co-Ordinator, confirmed planned events were now live on the
project website.
The full cost plan was approved as part of the Development Round 2 Bid, but the NLHF
required a continuing audit of works and contracts before tender to monitor and amend
cost plans. Furthermore, the NLHF did not advise appointing a quantity surveyor at the
same time as a lead consultant.
There was no progress on obtaining a Faculty for extinguishing grave rights for the
proposed Hubbard Road entrance, but officers and Harrisons would oversee progress.
There was similarly no progress on extinguishing burial rights on graves on the proposed
level access to St Stephen’s Chapel. Failure to receive Faculty would entail a rethink on a
second entrance and demonstrated the importance of detailing and sequencing works.

CAPITAL PROJECT OFFICER UPDATE
Dan Thomas, Programme Manager for Capital Programmes, introduced the report, noting that:
 Planning for the reconstruction of the boundary wall between the forecourt and library was
part for the lead consultant bid, but there had been no progress since the last meeting.
 A business case would be made to allocate funding to secure a sustainable future for the
Catacombs; with an update at the next meeting, and would also detail remedial works on
membrane fabric, leaks and access. The Chair noted that regular inspections were
needed.
 Catacombs’ membrane designs would be reviewed offline and brought to the MAG for
consideration and then the SoMC for approval, with intervention expected prior to July
pending planning approval.
 Tree works had been handed over with capital funding to the Tree team and were due to
go out to tender soon, but there was no progress to report. The Chair reiterated that

Page 3



6.

extensive damage could be caused by a storm and it was fortunate that trees were
currently out of leaf; and asked for a report at the next SoMC meeting, with officers
confirming that the arboriculture specialists had visited and not recommended any
specimens for immediate removal.
It was confirmed that logs and branches were to be removed and provided to parks for
chipping or to local florists.

OPERATIONS UPDATE
Jacqueline Landy, Bereavement Service Manager, noted the report and provided the following
responses to questions:
 The Landscape team working on Doulton Path, had now mown the grass on Lower Road,
and would remain with the Cemetery for a further week for mowing, scrub clearance and
minor tree works.
 Officers would provide costs for the replacement or replicas of the Maddick Mausoleum
handles. Although it was preferable to replace them, if a different material was used it
might be acceptable if it deterred future theft; and required Heritage England advice. It
was also noted that the Mausoleum was subject to maintenance in perpetuity and so the
Council likely had liability for repairs.
 The SoMC Chair stated his hope that the Council were handling the Benjamin Colls relief
as an open insurance claim.
 Jill Dudman recorded that previous repairs to the Maddick Mausoleum roof were now
failing and rainwater was entering, with the rate of failure accelerating. Officers noted that
costs and a cost centre were still being devised by Facilities Management.
 The Chair noted that the Talford memorial, previously demolished by a falling tree, was
now a priority to replace and should feature as a future capital project.
 Attendees noted that the overgrown wildflower area was not appropriate as it had a full
quota of 19th-20th century memorials and other areas needed to be suggested, such as the
previously agreed area near the eastern boundary wall which had largely seen its
monuments demolished.
 An unsafe monuments app was undergoing testing, and staff were recording and
photographing graves to create an up-to-date record. It was planned that this would feed
into existing registers and databases.
 The introduction of new animal species had been agreed in principle, although the Chair
noted that bird boxes should not be put on trees listed for removal, and attendees added
the importance of striking a balance with nature and diversity, and with the cemetery’s
primary purpose of commemoration of the bereaved; and that any conflicts would need to
be resolved.
 Officers noted that winter tasks were currently being undertaken (agenda pack, page 20).
 The Stillbirth Memorial did not appear to contain burials and it was proposed to relocate,
pending Faculty and SoMC agreement, as per Appendix B (agenda pack, pages 33-8).
The Chair of the SoMC noted that the current memorial was well used, but likely sat over
four graves and did not originally receive Faculty, and as such needed relocation.
 The delay to replace the coffin lift in the crematorium was due to vendor issues and works
were now expected to begin in March. This would lead to extra vehicles in the Cemetery
and officers confirmed would hopefully follow safety protocols to prevent damage to
memorials.
 An inventory of coffins and equipment was needed for the various items stored beneath
the Crematorium.
 Cemetery and park staffing remained the same, with the current rotating officer being

Page 4


7.

Rose Thomas.
Lambeth supported beekeeping in each of its cemeteries, which encouraged plants.
Councillor Ely stated that beehives in the Rosendale Road allotment were fenced off and
often stung people, however officers confirmed that in six years the Cemetery hives had
been largely trouble free and would not be fenced off.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
Beth Cross, Activities Coordinator, introduced the report and provided the following responses
to questions:
 The social media following continued to grow.
 The weekly visitor count increased during the summer due to open days, longer hours and
the Norwood Feast, but declined during colder weather.
 The open day and bird walks drew a more diverse crowd and first-time visitors compared
to the more established events, but the latter saw more return visitors.
 A new information leaflet was under development to help visitors learn about the
Cemetery and increase public engagement. The Chair noted that the Friends were
producing a new Guide to the Cemetery.
 Volunteering opportunities for 2020 were being planned, although it was more difficult to
get volunteer involvement in winter activities.
 Volunteering events primarily comprised the weekly Dulwich College visits.
 The Chair noted that the Friends of West Norwood Cemetery (FoWNC) still received
requests to assist in vegetation management, but the Friends did not the capacity to
organise this themselves.
 Officers were reviewing contacting The Conservation Volunteers (TCV) to aid with scrub
clearance and were in discussion with the Parks team to run sessions alongside
Bereavement Services.
 Scrub clearance would also be needed once the capital works started, and officers would
need to agree priority tasks to help maintain the Cemetery.
 There was interest in restarting Catacomb tours following numerous enquiries and this
formed part of longer-term volunteering plans.
 A replacement leaflet box had been budgeted and the damaged one would soon be
replaced.
 The Chair noted that new FoWNC information leaflets were available.
 Robert Holden noted that Lambeth’s Local History Forum Fair was taking place at St
Mark’s Kennington and would be ideal for the Cemetery to have a stall due to its large
footfall.
 The adjacent PictureHouse cinema complex had agreed an interactive exhibition space as
part of its planning agreement and their new Manager was keen to make contact with the
project and discuss ideas on how to best support one another.

8.

REVISED CEMETERY REGULATIONS
Jacqueline Landy, noted the report and provided the following responses to questions:
 This document had been circulated previously for review and officers asked attendees for
feedback.
 The new Regulations would cover all three of Lambeth’s cemeteries and had last been
revised in the 1980s.
 The Chair noted he had responded and provided comment to officers.

Page 5








Draft copies were accessible via the Council’s website and would be placed in Cemetery
offices.
Tim Stephens asked for extensive consultation on proposals prior to SoMC or Cabinet
approval.
Clear direction on activities in the Cemetery were needed in the Regulations so that they
did not conflict with bereavements, such as defining what would constitute a sport (e.g.
yoga or cycling).
Councillor Pete Elliott noted that driving was not banned in the Regulations.
The Chair of the SoMC noted that a prohibition on single use plastics, in line with the
Council’s policies, would also help stop the accrual of plastic over graves.
Brent Elliot noted that the rules on memorial inscription (agenda pack, page 60) could lead
to misinterpretation, and the Chair of the SoMC noted that headstones should be accurate
records.

The meeting ended at 7.00 pm
Date of next meeting: Wednesday 1 April 2020
Date of Despatch: Monday 17 February 2020
Contact for Enquiries: David Rose
Tel: 0207 926 1037
E-mail: drose@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY SCHEME OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Wednesday 11 March 2020 at 5.30 pm
Minutes
Present:

Apologies:

Reverend Canon Ivelaw Bowman, Professor Robert Flanagan (Chair of
the Advisory Group), Nicholas Long MBE (Chair, Scheme of
Management Committee), Councillor Fred Cowell, Councillor Pete Elliott,
Councillor Peter Ely and Councillor Sonia Winifred
Paul Barber and Dr Brent Elliott

Also present:

Tim Stephens, Robert Holden

1.

WELCOMES AND INTRODUCTIONS
The Chair, Nicholas Long, welcomed all to the meeting and the following declarations of interest
were raised:
 Robert Holden had a family interest and a potential right to burial in five graves; and,
 Nicholas Long was a grave owner.

2.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY SCHEME OF
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting dated 13 November 2019 be agreed as an
accurate record of proceedings.

3.

MINUTES OF THE WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY ADVISORY GROUP
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting dated 05 February 2020 be noted as an accurate
record of proceedings.

4.

PROJECT MANAGER NLHF PROJECT UPDATE
Dan Thomas, Programme Manager for Capital Programmes, introduced the report, noting that:
 The lead consultant, Donald Insall Associates, were appointed bringing expertise on
heritage, conservation and architecture; and continuity from the Round 2 Bid. Likewise,
Cavendish Bloor, Quantity Surveyor, also worked on the previous Bid for cost
management continuity.
 Curtins, civil engineering consultants, would work up heritage and conservation packages.
 Approvals over ecological considerations and permissions to consecrated ground or
graves were needed and would be discussed over the coming months.
 An interpretation consultant would be appointed to consider the whole site and steer
items, whilst a party wall surveyor would be appointed to ensure decisions were

Page 8

























5.

appropriate.
Important upcoming milestones included reporting back to the National Lottery Heritage
Fund (NLHF), preparing interpretation consultant briefs, forming meetings, ensuring the
new project governance, and increasing transparency of progress.
The Chair noted the Scheme of Management Committee’s (SoMC’s) concern that delivery
had slipped and that proper governance was still not in place after initial conversations in
November 2019; and instructed officers to ensure progress was made.
The Project Manager, Preeti Chapman-Kauffman, was setting up Governance Board
meetings in due course which would allow monitoring of deadlines and works.
It was expected that Donald Insall would be able shorten some timelines.
The SoMC’s hope was to have the St Stephen’s Chapel construction phase completed by
the bicentenary of the Chios Massacre in 2022, but was now scheduled for 2023, and
could bring interest into the Cemetery if this timing could be revised. Officers would report
back on its delivery.
Tim Stephens asked that more background material be included in the report.
Donald Insall would be invited to a joint SoMC and Management Advisory Group (MAG)
meeting in the future, including contextual works and findings to date.
Professor Bob Flanagan, Chair of the MAG, noted that there were 16 monuments to
restore, however the finite number of monumental masons would create a bottleneck to
undertaken restoration, as it represented the largest monument restoration in country.
The work programme was 4-5 months behind to date, whilst Donald Insall’s assessment of
programme notified of a further five months’ delay, which was being challenged by the
Council. It was noted by the SoMC that it was not acceptable to be one year behind
already on only one of five work packages and reiterated the necessity of having an
oversight board meeting.
The Chair noted that regular progress updates were needed to ensure transparency and
good information sharing practices, and also needed for the Friends of West Norwood
Cemetery (FoWNC) and Cemetery information boards.
Councillor Sonia Winifred, Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture, noted the shared
responsibility to progress with works, and that delivery and information sharing was
essential.
The design meetings had now been scheduled and the work programme was live, with
visible output to commence once construction packages were tendered and build started.
Additionally, officers were pressing for tender earlier than Donald Insall’s timelines.
The Chair also noted that there was likely to be further slippage as works progressed and
that Covid-19 would need to be included as part of this and put on the Risk Register.
Officers confirmed that lead consultant discussions would cover Covid-19 and potential
Brexit impacts to ensure resiliency.
Greater transparency on decisions and the community’s role in decision-making was
needed.
The Chair requested that the oversight group needed to meet to discuss matters and
asked for further details to be presented as soon as possible.

CAPITAL PROJECT OFFICER UPDATE
Dan Thomas, Programme Manager for Capital Programmes, introduced the report, noting that:
 Considered structural advice following surveys on the Cinema and library to Cemetery
boundary wall was that it should be in the main project due to dependencies on Tite Arch
and the Visitor Centre works. Officers had added this to the NLHF requirements via a
variation order and would be factored into the programme at a later date. Additionally,

Page 9




6.

there was funding available due to lower consultancy costs and from contingency funds,
but attendees were keen to understand the full implications and noted that contingency
funds should be left until later in the programme when the costs of high-risk elements such
as entrances and graves were fully known.
The Catacombs scaffolding and membrane designs were to be shared with the MAG and
SoMC prior to going to Planning for approval, but were not yet ready.
Officers were also meeting with PCSG, environment consultancy, on trees to agree a
schedule and programme of works, to be steered by the Chair of the MAG and the
Bereavement Services team. In discussion it was noted that trees had made some
monuments structurally unsound, such as with the Burgess tomb, and increased risk from
falling trees and branches.

OPERATIONS UPDATE
Kevin Crook, Assistant Director for Neighbourhoods, noted the report and provided the following
responses to questions:
 Cemetery scrub and litter clearance had commenced from mid-January, but wet ground
had delayed efforts, with the area behind the Greek Chapel and near the Crematorium to
be included in further clearance later in the year.
 Subject to final agreement, budget had been identified for two additional members of staff
to join the Maintenance team from early Summer.
 The Catacombs fencing had been secured following a break-in from Rose Garden side.
 Dulwich College students would be back on site on Tuesday lunchtimes over the coming
weeks.
 The quote for Maddick Mausoleum works had been received, but advice from Doug Black,
Design & Conservation Manager, was needed on replacement handles. The quote for
Benjamin Colls relief work was still pending.
 Concerns had previously been raised on conservation management as the Cemetery was
designated as part of Lambeth’s Local Plan as a Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation (SINC), as part of a national drive for greater biodiversity, and was reflected
in the draft Maintenance and Management Plan (MMP). The Chair stated that this had
been announced by Harrisons without a full review; and although attendees respected the
SINC, it was previously agreed that the primary purpose and provision was the burial of
the dead, and not ecological considerations.
 Professor Flanagan noted that the nature conservation area currently designated by
Harrisons was wetland and had significant memorials which was not appropriate, and
should be moved to the bee area where it would not come into conflict with those visiting
monuments; reiterating that these plans had not been suitably discussed.
 The Chair of the MAG also noted that strimming needed to start in June and not late
Autumn.
 Officers confirmed that the MMP would be reviewed in due course, taking note of water
stages, hierarchy of priority of Cemetery uses, and interdependencies. The Chairs of the
SoMC and MAG would identify contentious areas and come back to officers to initiate
discussion.
 The map in the agenda pack (page 20) was noted as being overly complicated and was
difficult for both the team on the ground and attendees to accurately follow.
 The Stillbirth Memorial, detailed in the agenda pack (pages 35-40) was to move to the
Rose Garden, and attendees agreed the proposed wording and design, noting that they
were sensitive and considerate. The Chair commented that the planned memorial was in
keeping with purpose and better allowed bereaved parents to come and leave flowers,

Page 10
















whereas the current site was over graves and had been placed without Authority.
Councillor Sonia Winifred asked whether a Book of Memory was agreed for the Stillbirth
Memorial and stated that if it were publicised then it would be used. The Chair also stated
that the Stillbirth Memorial was now and was to only be a focal point for bereavement and
did not contain internments.
Lambeth had developed separate Cemetery Regulations for each of its thee cemeteries,
with those for Lambeth and Streatham Cemeteries now implemented, and asked
attendees for comment, feedback and to address points raised in discussion prior to
further agreement.
The Chair noted that Lambeth’s policy on single use plastics meant that such tributes
should not be left on graves and conformed with other local authority and national
practices.
Attendees noted that the consultation needed to ensure the local community was given a
genuine choice. For instance, the banning the leaving of single-use plastic on graves
could be explained during a consultation instead of being consulted on when Lambeth
policies prohibited many items being left. As such, it would be necessary to inform people
of the Council’s intentions or otherwise open to complaints on the consultation process.
Officers noted that although the current regulations prohibited the placing of some items,
this was still done and there were likely to be complaints when enforcement started.
Reverend Cannon Ivelaw Bowman commented that the removal of items might be viewed
by some as a desecration, and the Chair suggested that a note of any transgression might
be necessary, but regular enforcement would see a decline in incidents and adherence to
regulations.
During discussion, it was noted that Jacqueline Landy, Bereavement Service Manager,
was responsible for enforcing the Regulations and adherence to the Activity Plan.
The apiary license (agenda pack, pages 25-33) was included to improve the management
of beehives and beekeeper-cemetery relationship, and this had now been signed and
sealed.
To carry out a site visit with the FoWNC to discuss sites for crematorium swift bird boxes.
The SoMC was content to proceed with proposals.
The Chair noted that whilst the SoMC could order trees, such as the one growing through
the Burgess Memorial, to be removed, it was for officers to action proposals.

At the conclusion of this item at 18:28 Councillor Peter Ely and Councillor Pete Elliott left the
meeting.

7.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
Beth Cross, introduced the report and provided the following responses to questions:
 Officers were still developing a new information leaflet planned to be ready in April.
 Detail on activities and statistics would be presented to the next meeting.
 The Chair noted that information-sharing between Lambeth and the FoWNC needed
improvement with monthly updates so that the newsletter and noticeboard could be
updated in a timely manner.
 The Lambeth website was now live and it was planned to link this with the FoWNC
website and Cemetery noticeboard in the future.
 Once an appropriate supplier was sourced it would be feasible to increase cemetery
activities, within reason, but the current proposals were provisionally sorted until April
2021.
 The Information leaflet would contain a seasonal programme of what activities had taken

Page 11




8.

place to date, and then officers would aim to plan further ahead. Advice from the NLHF
mentor focused on a longer-term strategy, involving public viewpoints, delivery of
volunteering over the next five years, and a shift to take into account he wider Project
Management Group.
The Chair of the MAG reiterated that there were limits of what could take place in the
Cemetery as it was a cemetery and not a park.
Officers would also meet with the Robson Road Resident Association who had expressed
interest in public engagement in the Cemetery.

REVISED CEMETERY REGULATIONS
This item was discussed above during the Operational Update.

The meeting ended at 6.39 pm
Date of Despatch: Thursday 16 April 2020
Contact for Enquiries: David Rose
Tel: 020 7926 1037
E-mail: drose@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery NLHF Project
PM Update: 10 January 2022
1

Progress against NLHF’s Approved Purposes
Reinstate the historic Hubbard Road entrance using original piers and gates, installed to Tite’s

1.1

design with new path.


Meeting has been held with Lambeth highways to arrange for the on-highway works to be
undertaken directly by Lambeth’s framework contractor for the Hubbard Road entrance. Note this
only applies to the small area outside cemetery boundary which is on the public highway. The costs
received from the Highway term contractor as higher than the budgeted costs, we are reviewing the
costs and seeking clarifications.

1.2

Create a new pedestrian entrance at Robson Road.


The Robson Road review report has been submitted to the last Implementation Board meeting and
was reviewed. The Implementation Board agreed to move with the proposed plans. The report has
been attached as Appendix 2 to this update.



Meeting has been held with Lambeth highways to arrange for the on-highway works to be
undertaken directly by Lambeth’s framework contractor. Note this only applies to the small area
outside cemetery boundary which is on the public highway.

1.3

Conservation work to the listed boundary wall and railings, to be carried out with assistance
from trainees and apprentices:


Nettlefold Hall wall: HDD and Conisbee are designing. Repairs to other boundary walls and ironwork
by DIA and Conisbee.

1.4

Repair/renewal of drainage systems at key points; and

1.5

Carry out road and footpath surfacing works:


Idverde continues to make good progress to Package B with no major issues to report at this time.
Works are programmed to be completed by the end of January 2022, which is approximately 3
weeks behind scheduled, however Idverde continues to work on Saturdays to try and recapture
some of this delay. There continues to be a good working relationship with Idverde and
Bereavement Services.

Page 14

1.6

Create a new visitor centre at the existing cemetery lodge, building a sensitive, single-storey
extension and providing courtyard space:


The RIBA stage 4 design meetings were held to consult the end users and the steering group.
Design Team is preparing tender package.



The redesign of the foundation of the boundary wall to the Robson Road entrance is in progress



An external lighting scheme is being developed with site-wide requirements being discussed with
LBL Events Team.



Planning conditions relating to trees are being attended to.
Carry out repairs to grade II* listed St Stephen’s Chapel, provide an accessible route in and a

1.7

WC:


The works to St. Stephen’s Chapel and the 14 Nos. Monuments have been re-programmed into a
separate procurement package in order to be prioritised before the Lodge, Hubbard Road and
Robson Road (Package A2) to fulfil the stakeholder’s request. This package of works was tendered,
and Lambeth is in the process of awarding this contract.



Delays have happened due to objections to some of the monuments being omitted from the
package after the tendering was completed and evaluated.



Decision report is in progress which was approved by the procurement board on 16 November 2021
and the Cabinet Member on 06 December 2021.



Bringing forward St Stephens has meant changes to Works Package B (Infrastructure and Drainage
and Works Package A2 Visitor Centre and Entrances), required in order to get services (water and
electric) into St Stephens chapel, in an appropriate sequence to avoid digging up newly laid
carriageways. The ducts for the services for St Stephen’s Chapel was completed by Idverde as part
of the Package B works. This was a significant piece of work which is now complete including the
core drilling of the UKPN box for the CCTV and LV ducting along with the laying of the base course.



Quotes were received and the works awarded to Barnes Memorials Limited for the straightening of
some memorials adjacent to St Stephens access path with a view to these works occurring ahead of
the main contract works for St Stephens.



Planning conditions relating to trees are being attended to.

Page 15

1.8

Carry out repairs/conservation works to 16 grade II listed monuments at risk:


Sally Strachey Historic Conservation Ltd has been awarded the contract for Package C (2
monuments) and works began on site week commencing 23rd August 2021. Practical completion
was achieved on the 03 December 2021.



The remaining 14No. monuments have been procured separately with St Stephen’s Chapel in
package A1, and the works will be overseen by a sub-committee for quality assurance and
coordinated working.

1.9

Employ an Activities Coordinator to deliver the activity plan:


The post of Activities coordinator has been advertised on Lambeth recruitment portal.



The post of Activities Coordinator was advertised on the Lambeth recruitment portal but there was a
lack of suitable candidates to the position following interview stage.



To encourage more interest in the position we will re-release the job description with a new job title,
Activities and Community Officer. The Job Description will not change.

1.10 Engage volunteers in a new volunteering programme:


Due to Covid 19, there has impacted on the planned Activities and the Activities and interpretation
Plan will be reviewed once the Activities coordinator is in post.



There is no volunteering going on currently apart from probation services and Friends of WNC.



The activities will be resumed once the Activities coordinator is in post.

1.11 Create two 2-year apprentice posts and develop a trainee/work experience partnership with
Lambeth College Construction students:


Horticulture Apprenticeship is in position.



The recruitment of the construction apprentices will be planned in 2022 aligned with Project’s
Programme to start repairs to boundary walls.

1.12 Deliver training to staff and volunteers in bereavement support, conservation, recycling and
sustainability and visitor/venue management:


Training will be arranged at the commissioning stage as per the programme.

Page 16

1.13 Provide interpretation including a digital offer, signage, way finding, fixed interpretation at St
Stephen’s and the visitor centre and printed materials.

2



This package will be procured after the Package A1 is concluded.



Inclusion of Cycling signs will be a change to the original brief.

Procurement


The tender for Package A1 (remaining 14Nos. monuments and St Stephen’s Chapel) have been
reviewed and moderated and the report has been reviewed and approved by the procurement
board and the Cabinet Member.



ITT documentation in preparation for Package A2 (pending approval for Robson Road).



NLHF approved the brief for Package D (Interpretation Consultant). This package is to be procured
after Package A1 works have been awarded.

3

Capital Costs Financial Summary – December 2021


In discussions with NLHF team, there is no risk to the funding due to Covid19.



Package B - Drainage & Roads, has been awarded to Idverde. The Contract Sum for this package
includes a contingency allowance.



Package C - 2nr monuments, has been awarded to SSHC. The Contract Sum for this package
includes a contingency allowance.



Package A1 14nr monuments & St. Stephens - Tenders received and evaluated. The tender sum for
this package includes a contingency allowance.



Revised procurement (split contracts) and surveys have increased professional fees.



The detailed design is currently being developed for The Lodge & Visitor Centre, Robson Road and
Hubbard Road entrances. Based on current market conditions, shortages of labour, supply price
inflation, etc which have been exacerbated by procurement delays (due to Covid / issues associated
with Robson Road entrance) it is anticipated that tendered costs for these elements of the works will
be significantly over budget.

4

Key Achievements


Robson Road review



CMDDR approved by Procurement Board and Cabinet Member for package A1



Ongoing coordination for package B with the contractor and consultants.



Ongoing Bi-weekly meetings set up with the stakeholders.

Page 17

5



Bi-weekly site walkaround with stakeholders.



Practical completion for Package C

Key Action next period:


Appointment of Contractor for the restoration of the St. Stephens Chapel and 14 monuments and for
works to start on site in January 2022. The starting of works by Highways to the Hubbard Road
entrance.



Develop stage 4 tender information for the Lodge, Hubbard Road, Robson Road and boundary wall
(Package A2)

6



Ongoing project management team meetings and Progress update meeting with NLHF.



Ongoing regular reporting to Capital Programme monitoring system.



Monitor extinguishment of burial rights (Hubbard, St Stephens and HAR Memorials)



Community User agreement



Detailed Business Case and Events Management Strategy



Revised Activity Plan to respond to Covid/volunteer expectations



Appointment of interpretation consultant



Appointment of evaluation consultant



Setting up of sub-committee for monuments



Approval of the samples by the steering group

Covid19:
The Covid19 restrictions has impacted the overall programme, but this is reviewed regularly. The site
construction works, Design and procurement are in progress and site visits and surveys are being
carried out as per Government’s and Council’s directives.
Decantation plan for the bereavement services delayed due to Covid 19.

Appendix 1: Site Update:
Package B - Drainage and infrastructure
Idverde has completed their site setup which is located at the top of Steep Hill and next to the Catacombs.
Works are progressing well, and we are still on target for completion by the end of January 2022. The
wearing surface to St. Mary at Hill Path is now complete along with the finishing surface to Doulton Path.
The connection of the drainage into the Thames Water system along the upper section of Lower Road is

Page 18

now complete and works have started on the excavation for the installation of the CCTV and LV cables
along Lower Road.
The grass path trial along Beeton Path is now complete and excavation for the installation of drainage
along Narrow Road Works is presently in progress. Works have also started on the steps at Reddins Hill
Idverde continues to work on Saturdays as agreed with Bereavement Services.

Enabling Works to St. Stephens Chapel
The enabling works to St. Stephens Chapel which was started on the 23 August 2021 (works being carried
out by Idverde) is now complete.

Package C – Restoration of 2 Monuments (Baldwin Brown and Baldwin Brown and Auffrey &
O’Gorman
Works started on the 23 August 2021 and practical completion was achieved on the 03 December 2021.

Photographs of progress on the next pages

Wearing course to St. Mary at Hill Path

Page 19

Finish surface to Doulton Path

Drainage works to Narrow Road

Drainage works to Narrow Road

Drainage works to Narrow Road

Page 20

Steps to Reddin Hill

Steps to Reddin Hill

Page 21

Excavation for drainage works along Lower Road

Restoration works completed to Baldwin Brown monument

Page 22

Restoration works completed to Auffrey & O’Gorman monument

Appendix 2: Robson Road Review report v2
Appendix 3: Key Task Programme_Rev15
Appendix 4: Risk Register_Rev13
Appendix 5: Approvals Tracker_Rev08

Page 23

Robson Road Review
Date: 18/11/21
Version 0.1
Change history
Version

Change Description

Author

Date

Signature

Date

0.1

Document sign off

Name
Originator

Preeti Chatwal-Kauffman

Input

Design Team (DIA, HDD,
Cavendish Bloor)
Lambeth Senior Management
team, WNC Implementation
Board, NLHF Team

Reviewed

18/11/21

Authorised
Purpose:
The purpose of this document is:
To review the Robson Road entrance which is one of the elements of the WNC NLHF
Project and one of the approved purposes. The document includes current position,
analysis, findings and recommendations to be submitted to NLHF (funders).
To provide a discussion paper outlining the above and seeking a view from Board
members on a provisional basis whether they would favour proceeding with the planned
construction or ceasing development of the Robson Road entrance.

1

Page 24

Robson Road Review
1

Understanding the current position

1.1

NLHF approved purpose
The South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery was awarded a NLHF grant in 2018 and
creating a new entrance at Robson Road is one of the approved purposes.

1.2

How was it achieved:
In the original NLHF Bid, the feasibility of creating a further entrance to the cemetery was
explored to provide ‘Access for All’. As submitted to NLHF, the new entrance will open up
the cemetery to the local residents provide a much-improved walk through the cemetery
rather than along Robson Road including over 1500 Park Hall Business Estate users, the
Aspire Wellbeing Centre and The Community Shop users. It will provide possible ‘out of
hours’ access for events held at the Chapel. This was consulted with stakeholders and end
users and was agreed and approved by NLHF as one of the approved purposes and
planning permission was sought.

1.3

What is included:
A new pedestrian access to the West Norwood Cemetery from Robson Road involving the
formation of a new opening within the existing boundary wall in the northeast corner of the
cemetery. Alterations within the cemetery including the formation of steps, ramp and a new
terrace and, repairs to the existing wall. Removal of the existing service enclosure and
prefabricated structures containing stores and a toilet. Removal of the east wing of
prefabricated structure with associated alterations to the remaining part of the structure.
The area adjacent to the entrance is to be re-modelled to give an entrance space that would
ultimately accommodate a columbarium (not funded through the NHLF project).

1.4

Consultations (reference to planning application ref: 18/02962/RG3 dt. 21.01.2019)
(Planning reference: https://planning.lambeth.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PBNTE2BOG8Z00&activeTab=summary)

Extensive consultations have been undertaken throughout the design development
Including the Steering group comprising SoMC, FoWNC, Lambeth Council and other
Stakeholders. The project manager has had continuing dialog with a number for
stakeholders throughout the design process in order to inform the design and Public
Consultation event ran from 6th August to 30th September 2017, which included a range of
questionnaires, open public sessions, emailing key stakeholders, distributing flyers to local
residents, blog, targeted consultation with key groups. This consultation has been written up
in a detailed report: Consultation on proposed changes to West Norwood Cemetery Lambeth
Council November 2017 (https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/co-west-norwoodcemetery-consultation-stage-1-report-v1.0-FINAL.pdf)
Targeted Groups consultation were held with local tenants and resident’s association,
organisations and businesses and Robson Road Residents Association. The consultation
report relating to the initial consultation found that 77% of the respondents would support a
new entrance.

Page 25
Further consultations and meetings were carried out with the steering group. (Appendix A:
110-01 _23.01.2018_Steering Group)
Apart from this, Lambeth Planning, Conservation Officer, NLHF mentor, Historic England
were consulted as part of the approval process.

(Ref: Appendix A Consultation report 110-01 _23.01.2018_Steering Group)

1.5

Where we are
The Planning approval was received 21/01/2019 and in the interests of meeting programme
most details of the scheme had already been developed in readiness for tendering and
discharge of planning conditions and faculty submissions. Trial pits have been carried out
and the detailed design options for the underpinning of the wall are being considered.

1.6

What has changed:
This is based on the input from the stakeholders and no wider consultations have been held
as these are based on perception that Anti-social behaviour (ASB) would increase due to an
additional entrance:
Covid 19 Impact: pandemic (from March 2020) appears to have caused a discernible shift in
the pattern of use by the public of the cemetery. It is being utilised by a greater number of
people for recreational purposes. There is a perception that this has led to an increase in
anti-social behaviour in the cemetery, in vandalism to memorials and (reported in the local
press) sexual assaults (Lambeth is analysing the crime stats). Some of the vandalism has
affected the Hellenic Enclosure (close to the proposed Robson Road entrance). Lambeth has
incurred repair costs in respect of the latter. There is a perception that another entrance may
increase the ASB issues in the cemetery.
Operational issues: drug use paraphernalia and sharps, the cost of provision of a security

Page 26
presence (which might include CCTV) in the cemetery and ensuring the cemetery is a safe
place for women and girls without undue fear of attack.
1.7

Crime Statistics
On request from the stakeholders, we requested Crime statistics from Met Police website:

1.8

Crime Statistics analysis:
It’s difficult to analyse whether the entrance would increase the Anti-social behaviour in the
cemetery. But the entrances can be monitored via CCTV (currently not in the scope of this
project). The opening up of Robson Road entrance will increase visibility and presence of
community users that may have positive impact on the cemetery.

Page 27
2

Implementation Board discussions:
In the WNC NLHF Project Implementation Board meeting held on 24 September 2021, the
Board requested for an analysis to enable the review of the Robson Road entrance proposal
going forward.
London Borough of Lambeth worked with the Design team and prepared the following
analysis and a list of issues for consideration in case the proposals don’t go ahead:

2.1

Financial Analysis:
The current budget allowance within the overall funding package for the physical works
associated with forming an opening through the existing boundary wall to create a new
entrance at Robson Road is £18,700, which includes the provision of a contemporary gate.
In addition to this we have an allowance of £23,300 for works to the public highway at the
proposed entrance, giving a total allowance of £42,000.
In the event that a new Robson Road entrance is not created the landscaping works within
the cemetery would need to be fully redesigned as the current scheme is focussed on lead
the public to and from the proposed entrance. The design works are complete and these
design fees would therefore be abortive. We have also undertaken enabling works
associated with the proposed entrance as part of the Package B contract, an element of
which may become redundant / abortive should this area be redesigned.
Given the relatively modest budget of £42,000 for creating a new entrance at Robson Road
the omission of these works is unlikely to achieve any cost savings to the project, due to the
additional design fees, potential additional landscaping costs, and likelihood that the
procurement and delivery of this package of works would be delayed significantly, extending
the overall construction programme and associated project team fees.

2.2

Technical Analysis:
The consultants have based the Package A2 design work on the Robson Road area based
on the surveys and wider consultations that were carried out during various stages of the
project.
As part of the surveys and investigations, trial pits were carried out using hand excavations
and the shallow depth of the shallow depth of the foundations indicate that underpinning of
the wall will be required. Also, unrecorded services were also revealed that need further
investigations.
Also, the incoming power supply comes in from Robson Road under the wall. The
underpinning works will have to be designed in a way that the power supplies to the
Crematorium are significantly disrupted by the works. This also needs UKPN involvement
and consent.
Further investigations and detailed design will be required, and the party wall notices will be
needed in place to commence the works.
The planning permission is in place, but given that the boundary wall is listed, details the
revised underpinning design needs to be approved by the Conservation Officer prior to
commencement.
The area is consecrated and a Faculty has been applied for and the Diocesan Advisory
Committee (DAC) is supportive but wishes to see, amongst other details, more information
on structural interventions to the listed wall.

Page 28
2.3

Funding Analysis:
The National Lottery Heritage Fund is contributing to the project and has laid out the 13
Approved Purposes in the grant award letter which is part of the contract signed by Lambeth
Council. The list of Approved Purposes includes, at point 2, a commitment to: “Create a new
pedestrian entrance at Robson Road’
As discussed with NLHF, this was valued as a strong element of the project over the
application review and at the time of the grant award decision. It is therefore a matter of
concern to the fund to have the commitment to complete this element questioned at this
stage. The questions may be raised:
•How would you improve the layout of the area in that corner of the cemetery and encourage
its use, so it does not remain (or be perceived to remain) a slightly unsafe corner?
•How would you improve access for local residents and businesses without the new
entrance?
•What alternative arrangements would be made for out of hours access to the Chapel?
As discussed with NLHF, if the Robson Road element is deleted, the assumption would be
that these would be deducted from the eligible costs, with the corresponding deduction in
total grant. If it was deemed that the effect of omitting the entrance had a significant effect on
the project outputs, it is possible the omission would have a wider effect on the grant award.
Any changes in Approved Purposes will be consulted with NLHF’s senior members of staff
who would decide how the Fund would wish to proceed in their consideration of the
application. It can have a significant risk to the funding.

2.4

3

Issues for Consideration


Community Mandate in support of the Robson Road entrance: any proposals to change
or omit the Robson Road entrance will have to be consulted with the local community
and stakeholders.



It will have an impact on rest of the proposals and new planning application and new
faculty application will have to be submitted.



Redesign of chambers may be necessary for them to fit correctly in the revised scheme.



Columbaria: It’s a point of debate whether an opening or no opening would be best for
marketing the chambers.



Programme: this review is delaying the design and procurement of Package A2 and any
further changes to the proposal will significantly impact the programme.



Risk to the funding: NLHF will need to agree the removing the entrance (opening), and
still funding the scheme.



Risk of disagreement with the funders as this is a change to the approved purposes



Planned Access to the cemetery as per the approved Design is reduced.

Conclusion and recommendations:


proceeding with the current proposals as a single Package (as part of Package A2 that
includes the Lodge building and the entrances) as per the NLHF agreed purposes.



to proceed with the Package A2 and create a separate package for Robson Road
entrance that needs further investigation and discussions. This will increase the costs
and may need applying for fresh planning approvals. This cost will not be funded by
NLHF.

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Rev 15

Stage C/D

RIBA Workstage

Package

4 Technical Design

A1

Key Tasks
St Stephen's Chapel
14No. Monuments
Submit Building Control application
Discharge of information for Building Control
Tender & Procurement Period

Lead
DIA
DIA
DIA
DIA
LBL
DIA
HDD
DIA
DIA
LBL

Stage E

5 Construction

A1

Discharge of Planning Conditions
Footpaths enabling works (TBC)
St Stephen's Chapel [TBC with contractor]
14No. Monuments [TBC with contractor]
Exhibition Fit out [TBC]

Stage F

6 Handover

A1

Footpaths enabling works
14No. Monuments
St Stephen's Chapel
St Stephen's Access

HDD
DIA
DIA
DIA
DIA
DIA
DIA

A2

Submit Discharge of Planning Conditions
Submit Building Control application
Discharge of information for Building Control
Faculty Consents - Hubbard and Robson Road [Submitted with
Chancellor]
Robson Road and cabins
Hubbard Road
Lodge
Lodge anti social railings (ASB)
Robson Road - WSI
Design team present A2
Client approval period for A2
Tender & Procurement Period

DIA
DIA
DIA
HDD
HDD
DIA
LBL
LBL

Discharge of Planning Conditions [Contractor dependent conditions]
Decantation of the Lodge
Hubbard Road [Programme TBC with contractor]

DIA
LBL
DIA

Robson Road [Programme TBC with contractor]
Lodge [Programme TBC with contractor]
PLANNING EXPIRY: 19.03.2022
Lodge Courtyard [Programme TBC with contractor]

DIA

Stage C/D

5 Construction

A2

Boundary Wall package [Programme TBC with contractor]
Hubbard Road - On Highways works [TBC with LBL]
PLANNING EXPIRY: 24.01.2022
Robson Road - On Highways [TBC with LBL]

DIA
HDD
DIA

5 Construction

A3

Stage E

5 Construction

A4

Stage C/D

4 Technical Design

B

Stage E

5 Construction

B

Work Package B Drainage. [01.06.2021-07.01.2022]

Cur

Stage F

6 Handover

B

Work Package B Drainage.

Cur

Stage C/D

4 Technical Design

C
C

Auffray & Baldwin tender design
Auffray & Baldwin Procurement & Tender period

DIA
LBL

Stage E

5 Construction

C

Auffray & Baldwin [23.08.2021-05.11.2021]

DIA

Stage F

6 Handover

C

Auffray & Baldwin

DIA

Stage F

4 Technical Design

D

Stage F

5 Construction

D

Interpretation Consultant
[Procurement programme TBC with LBL]
Interpretation Consultant
[TBC once procured]

NOTES
Notices to grave owners and for extinguishment of rights start date unknown
Decantation brief start date and duration unknown - important item for critical path of the project

September

August

July

June

May

April

March

February

January

December

November

October

September

August

July

June

May

April

March

February

December

November

October

September

August

July

June

May

April

March

February

December

November

October

September

August

July

June

May

2023

HDD

Stage E

Work Package B Development of Design and Technical information

2022

LBL
LBL
Cur

LBL
LBL

Downtime
Downtime
Downtime

Page 31

Stage E

4 Technical Design

2021

April

March

2020

January

04.11.2021

January

West Norwood Cemetery - Key Task Programme

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 33
West Norwood Cemetery - Delivery

Risk Register

04/10/2021

Rev13

Level of Risk
High
Medium
Low
Ref Risk
Risk
Owner
Pre-Construction Risks
1 DIA
Integration of NLHF project with day-to-day
working of Cemetery and Cemetery Team.

Potential Impact

Access for survey works, meetings,
research and other co-ordination
made difficult course delay to
programme.

CB
Changes in Stage 4 capital costs. Costs increase
Budgets exceeded
at technical design stage.

2
DIA

3

DIA

Survey and Site investigation works discover
unexpected issues not previously allowed for in
cost plan.

4

LBL

Asbestos discovered.

5

6

HHD

Con

Discovery of sites of archaeological Interest.

Work relating to Faculties
(memorials, Hubbard and Robson
Roads and access to St Stephen's)

8.4 Robson Road Faculty
7

8

Delays to programme, Increased
Costs, Increased disturbance.

Faculties are not granted by Southwark Diocese

8.3 Objection to Faculty at Hubbard Road

1. Close partnership working with
QS/LBL and Consultants
2. Regular cost and life cycle
reviews throughout Stage 4
1. Carry out surveys asap.
2. Complete costing work to assess
value/implication of any additional
work envisaged.

Increased cost, delayed programme. 1. Asbestos survey to be
commissioned by LBL

Increase in project cost. Repair
works not able to go ahead.

8.2 Monument Faculty condition requires a
separating layer.

1. Lead Consultant to ensure all subconsultants follow protocol. (Lodge
currently closed to public)
2. Continued dialogue between
project team and Bereavement
Services.
3. Notification and programme
updates to staff at the lodge.

Delays to programme, Additional
surveys may be required, Design
amendment, financial impact

Subsidence is diagnosed at St Stephen's and
repair works exceeded funding envelope.

8.1 Hubbard Road Faculty drawings out of date

Mitigation

1. Minimal ground disturbance
required to carry out works and in
areas previously excavated therefore an unlikely risk.
1. Continue monitoring works
(Conisbee have been appointed)
2. Conisbee have reviewed design
and have confirmed that in excess of
£50k rather than £20k will be
required for proposed works.
3. Design to be developed to provide
better cost certainty.
4. CB and LBL have been notified of
increase in cost

9

LBL

10

LBL

Permission not granted or change of DAC has confirmed that revised
design required.
design is acceptable
Unable to infill vaults as designed.
Faculty consent has been given.
Confirmation that current infill
strategy is acceptable.
Design change or omission of this
section of the works.

HDD are progressing.

Permission not granted

HDD are progressing.

Objection by grave owners at Hubbard Road and Legal challenge, political challenge,
St Stephen's Access.
inability to deliver scheme
Significant risk at Hubbard Road if
owners of vital graves object.
Extinguishment of rights not achieve
before signing a contract with a
contractor.

1. Ensure cancellation processes
graves undertaken as soon as
possible
2. Unable to mitigate risk for
Hubbard Road - in case of objection
from owner, funds would be
redirected to other parts of the
project.

Cancellation of the rights of burial at Hubbard
Road and St Stephen's Access.

Delays to programme if notices are
not put up in time to fulfil the
notification period (Minimum of 6
months but ideally 12 months to
allow for a full grave visiting cycle)

1. LBL to appoint consultant to put
up notices as soon as possible.
Notices were put up

Potential delays to the Hubbard
Road and Robson Road
programmes

1. Highways work to be carried out
by LBL contractors, removing the
need for a Section 278

Section 278 - works to existing highways

1

2

2

2

2

4

2

2

4

2

2

4

1

1

1

3

2

6

1

1

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

3

6

2

3

6

2

2

4

HDD are progressing.

HDD

LBL

Probabi Impact Risk
lity
Level

Page 34
Ref Risk
Risk
Owner
Pre-Construction Risks
Notices served to owners of the 16 Monuments
for repair work raises objections or new
requirements.
11 LBL

12

DIA

Adverse weather conditions effects surveys,
enabling works and construction.

Potential Impact

Potential delays to Monuments
repair works.

2

2

1

1

1

2

3

6

PR, legal challenges, political
challenges, disruption to works
programme, inability to access
works.

2

3

6

Disruption to programme, increased 1. Early involvement with licenced
costs.
ecologist to set out survey
programme and discovery strategy
for bats
2. Surveys may need to be carried
out twice if works not started within
same year.

1

2

2

2

2

4

3

1

3

2

1

2

2

2

4

Delays to programme, Increased
Costs, Increased disturbance.

Disruption to works programme,
bereavement services, PR issues,
cost.

LBL

DIA
LBL

16

17

18
19

DIA

DIA

DIA

Con
LBL
DIA
LBL

1. Surveys being carried out in
spring and summer months.
2. Works programmed to start in
summer months.
1. Decantation options appraisal to
be carried out. Bereavement
Services have confirmed need for
minimal on site presence in form of
a porta cabin on the parking spaces
opposite the Lodge.
2. Detailed preliminary requirements
sent to contractors at tender
3. Detailed RAMS from contractors
at tender/contract stage
4. Site notices, careful
communication and PR

1. Identify potentially affected graves
2. Buildability reviews and options
appraisal on methods pre-tender
3. Detailed preliminary requirements
at tender
4. Detailed RAMS from contractors
at tender/contract
5. Site notification, careful
communication and PR

Concern/bad publicity raised by upset grave
owners in/near works area.

14
15

1. To begin process of notification as
soon as possible.
2. HDD to liaise with FoWNC
regarding tracking descendants

Probabi Impact Risk
lity
Level

1

Decantation of Bereavement Services not
progressed to allow proposed works to go ahead.

13

Mitigation

Bats

Trees adjacent to Visitor Centre

Greek Enclosure Boundary Wall and the paths
within.

East Boundary Wall
Nettlefold Hall Boundary Wall (Air Source Heat
Pump)

Impact of roots leading to
programme and cost implications.

Works to boundary wall are
required.

Risk due to instability, work may
have to be carried out to stabilise the
Noise pollution from pump could
disturb activities in the Lodge -

1. Early excavations to ensure roots
not present and appropriate
foundation design in accordance
with arboriculturalist method
statement
2. Proposed foundation design to
allow for flexibility around major
roots.
3. Brief for trial holes has been
issued to LBL.
1. Works to boundary wall for the
access ramp and drainage solution
have been confirmed. Cost
implications of this are being
confirmed.
2. LBL have
confirmed that general repair works
to the Greek Enclosure Boundary
are not within the scope of NLHF
works.
3. Works are desirable to be
achieved and has been discussed
with Lambeth
1. Any new works package should
be coordinated with current works in
1. LBL to confirm if design needs to
change to mitigate noise and visual

Page 35
Ref Risk
Owner
Pre-Construction Risks

Risk

Potential Impact

Party Wall agreement may be
required, potential additional cost
and delay to programme.
Wall may need to be rebuilt. New
planning permission may be
required.

Mitigation

1. Enter discussions with Nettlefold
Hall to come to an agreement
2. Appoint party wall surveyor to
assist with any agreements that may
be required
3. Agree a plan with LBL regarding
the work required to the wall

20

DIA

Nettlefold Hall Boundary Wall (Structure)

21

LBL

Friends of West Norwood Cemetery not agreeing Risk of bad PR and political
1. Keep the FoWNC up to date with
to the proposals.
challenges if FoWNC are not happy the project, especially any changes.
with the proposals.
Considered to be low risk assuming
the outcomes remain the same.

Brexit

22

23

Covid-19

Disruption to supply of materials and 1. Monitor situation and adapt
goods required on site.
programme where necessary to
Increased cost for materials.
mitigate delays/costs
Unable to carry out surveys, site
visits, impact on burial rights
notifications and faculty notices,
disruption to project meetings.
Increased activity of burials and
cremations over the coming months.
Delay to programme.
Consultants, sub-consultants and
contractors staff on Furlough.
Funding for project withdrawn.

1. Continue to carry out meetings
remotely where possible.
2. Determine from sub-consultants if
there will likely be delays in surveys
etc and allow for this in programme
3. Proceed with programme as
much as possible and adapt where
necessary by following Government
advice and continuity plans.

Risk to works package B and
1. Proceed as much as possible and
reduced levels of interest for Tender adapt where necessary in order to
continue with the programme

24
25
26

27
28

29

LBL
Cur
HDD
Cur
LBL
LBL
DIA

Con

Cur

No arrangement has been made for
the contract administration for the
Discovery of human remains during contract
Legal difficulties, financial, design
Discovery of human remains behind retaining wall amendments, delays
Buildability of drainage
Drainage can't be delivered
Lot 2 Contract Administration

Bereavement Service requirements result in
restricted working area for contractor, ability to
manage public access, continued burial staff
requirements and car parking.

Legal difficulties, complaints, bad
PR, restricted ability for deliveries
and storage of materials on site.

Stevens monument has been filled in with debris. Cost increase. Design unknown
This will need to be removed.

Impact of excavation works on surrounding
graves.

DIA

Impact on crematorium

St Stephen's Building Control items not within
planning application requires change in lighting
and services design.

31

DIA

1. Conisbee to confirm structural
strategy

Damage to archaeology, delay in
1. Temporary works and control on
programme, increase in project cost. excavation requirements
Crematorium not being able to
function. Project not being able to
progress.

30

1. Discussions to be had between
Curtins and LBL to resolve this.
1. Work with LBL on a 'discovery'
policy
1. Curtains have redesign the
drainage.
1. Construction Management Plan to
be completed by contractor Appointment of good contractor
2. Careful development and
implementation of decantation plan
and construction management plan

Building might not be able to host
public events or be insurable.
Design change requires agreement
from Steering Group.

1. BS noted that 2 weeks notice
would be required for turning off gas
and electricity.
2. Works Packages have been split
to reduce potential impact.
3. Construction Management Plan
will be agreed with contractor before
works start on site to minimise
impact.
4. Noted that Crem gas comes from
the High Street not Robson Road.

1. New proposal for lighting and
services better meet the brief.
Proposal keep within £10k
construction budget.
2.
Dialog has started with Building
Control.
3.
DIA to begin dialog with Lambeth's
Conservation Officer regarding new
proposals.

Probabi Impact Risk
lity
Level

3

2

6

1

2

2

2

2

4

3

3

9

2

2

4

1

1

1

2
2

3
3

6
6

1

1

1

1

3

3

3

1

3

2

3

6

1

2

2

1

2

2

Page 36
Ref Risk
Risk
Potential Impact
Owner
Pre-Construction Risks
32 LBL
Delay to appointment of interpretation consultant. Result in abortive work and
variations to professional
consultants appointments
33
Risk of Monuments not having adequate space
for temporary works (such as scaffolding) to carry
out the work safely. Auffray, Grissell, Stevens and
St Stephen's will require extensive and complex
temporary works designs for the construction
work to be carried out or have cramped working
Cost implications and potential delay
conditions such as Schillizzi and Dodd.
Con
to programme.

LBL

No Steering Group

Completed project is not expected
by Stakeholders or public

34

35

36

37

LBL

LBL

LBL

1. LBL to appoint interpretation
consultant as soon as possible.

1. Conisbee to investigate
buildability of temporary works.

1. LBL to confirm FoWNC,
Bereavement Services and other
stakeholders regular meetings and
project updates.
2. Building Management Group to
meet on 14th July.
3. SOMC met in June.

On site notices no being seen because of Covid
19

Risk that notices are not accepted
as legal

1. LBL to confirm legal stance

Delay to Extinguishment of Burial Rights

Delay to programme.

1. LBL to progress as fast as
possible with process.
2. Ron Dunn has been appointed.

St Stephen's South Portico rotation not being
monitored.

38

HDD

Mitigation

H&S risk, design changes required,
cost and programme increase.

1. LBL to appoint Conisbee to
monitor

Damage from construction vehicles
to new road and footpath surfaces
installed during Works Package B.

1. HDD have left out decorative
gravel chip finish from Work
Package B at crossroads.
2. HDD to incorporate protection of
new tarmac and stone set surfaces
in tender for Works Package A.

Protection of road and footpath survices

39

Cur

40

Contrac Large congregations to a burial or cremation
t or
during construction

Prevents access to site areas.

LBL

Late decision could add delays to
progamme and increase costs due
to abortive work

1. LBL to confirm funding as soon as
possible
2. Design team to assist in
development of proposal as soon as
funding decision is received.

Collapse could cause significant
impact to programme and cost.
Significant damage to monument.
Inconclusive GPR survey

1. Temporary support to be installed
once GPR information is available.
2. Alternative means of establishing
below ground information discussed

41

ACCESS: HGV entry into site

1. Noted that Church Road gates will
require significant dismanteling to
enable large vehicle access. Main
entrance has arches that restrict
entry.
2. Design team has requested trial
of HGV entering the site.
3. Curtins to analyse programme
and financial impact of using smaller
vehicles to entre site.

Decision to install air source heat pumps and
other sustainability options to new lodge
extension (dependant on funding availability)

42

43

44

LBL

Risk of collapse of Auffrey monument.

DIA

Robson Road retaining wall - Risk of collapse

Con
Underpinning to St Stephen's Portico

Damage to entrance gates.

1. One contractor to control site to
allow for alternative routes to work
around large gatherings.

1. Additional cost and potential delay 1. Conisbee to carry out survey and
to programme
provide proposal
2. See item 25
2. See item 25
Risk of collapse - cracks have
Additional survey of the portico
become significantly worse made with alternative solutions
additional costs, asethetic issues.
This will require a different approach
to repairs.

Probabi Impact Risk
lity
Level

3

2

6

2

2

4

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

3

6

1

3

3

1

2

2

3

2

6

3

2

6

2

2

4

2

2

4

2

3

6

3

3

9

Page 37
Ref Risk
Owner
Pre-Construction Risks
45

46

47

48

49

Risk

HDD

Archaeology licence for St Stephen's

Con

Vegetation on boundary wall

LBL

LBL

All

50

Catacomb scaffolding

Unable to make contact with grave owner at
Hubbard Raod (Maragh)

Potential Impact

Mitigation

No planning condition relating to the
chapel application
- if a body is found, retrospectively
bring archaeology in.

Trench for bridge in the immediate
vicinity so this can be reviewed
closer to the time. There is nothing
to suggest that there are any burials
in the area surrounding the steps.

Vegetation is preventing survey of
the wall and leading to unknown
costs for this section of the wall.

Vegetation to be removed to allow
for a survey to be taken and costed.
Allowance within the boundary wall
budget to be put aside for these
works

Existing scaffolding to catacombs
Scaffolding to be assessed to allow
likely to clash with works to King and for alterations to remove excess
Dodds monuments
overhanging material
(poles/sheeting)
Legal challenge, political challenge, Owner to be re-written to for the
inability to deliver scheme
avoidance of doubt Notice to be
placed on grave.

Items needed for tender information are not yet
resolved: Tree roots, heat pump, soil
investigations, Interpretation Designer (St
Stephen's), CUMP (Lodge)

Delays to programme; additional
costs

Landownership and party wall at Park Hall
(Robson Road)

Party Wall agreement will be
required for the main works.
Legal challenge over land
ownership.

LBL

51

All

New railing for Grissell Monument

Delays to programme; additional
costs; requirement for planning
permission

Probabi Impact Risk
lity
Level

1

2

2

2

1

2

2

2

4

1

2

2

2

3

6

1

2

2

2

3

6

Items highlighted as risks and
discussed as priority Decisions to be
confirmed as soon as possible.

1. Enter discussions with Park Hall
to come to an agreement
2. Appoint party wall surveyor to
assist with any agreements that may
be required
3. LBL have engaged the legal team
ahead of potential discussions

Decision to be confirmed as soon as
possible to allow for programming

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 39

West Norwood Cemetery - Delivery

17/118/2021

Rev 08

Consent Application

Condition

Planning

Reinstatement of a historic entrance
into Norwood Cemetery from
Hubbard Road. Installation of new
gates and railings, formation of a new
footpath and associated public realm
works on the Hubbard Road side of
the boundary wall

Listed Building Consent

Hubbard Road

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice

ACTION
Insall HDD LO Conisbee Client

Discharge
Application
2
1

Notes

Approved
Reference

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the materials, colour, texture, profile and finished apprearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved or unless otherwise required by condition
The 2 existing trees in proximity to the entrance to be re-instated shall be protected in accordance with the details set out in
4 the approved plan drawing No 110-01-84 (Arboricultural Implication Assessment). The tree protections measures shall only be
dismantled and removed following written consent from the council
No demolition or development shall commence until full details of the proposed construction methodology in the form of a
Method of Construction Statement, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Method of Construction Statment shall include details regarding:
a) The notification of neighbours with regard to specific works
b) Advance notifications of road closures
c) Details regarding parking, deliveries and storage
d) Details regarding dust mitigation
5
e) Details of measures to prevent the deposit of mud and debiris on the public highway
f) Any other measures to mitigate the impacet of construction upon the amenity of the area and the function and safety of the
highway network
No demoltion or development shall commence until provision has been made to accommodate all site operatives', visitors' and
construction vehicles loading, off-loading, parking and turning within the site or otherwise during the construction period in
accordance with the approved details. The demolition and devleopment shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
details and measures approved in the Method of Construction Statement.
Notwhithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, the approved gate and the only openable gate to the public,
6 would be located to the east. The number of proposed bollards in front of the gate must be positioned in a way as to allow
vehicles to make the turn in and out of the vehicle access to Pleasant Mount safely
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the materials, colour, texture, profile and finihsed apprearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved or unless otherwise required by condition
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the materials, colour, texture, profile and finihsed apprearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved or unless otherwise required by condition
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, full details of the gates to the new entrance shall be
4 submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. This should include plans, sections and elevations to a scale of at least 1:20.
The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.
5

6

Planning

A new pedestrian access to the West
Norwood Cemetery from Robson Road
involving the formation of a new
opening within the existing boundary
wall in the northeast corner fo the
cemetery. Alterations within the
cememtery including the formation of
steps, ramp and a new terrace and
eparis to the existing wall. removal of
the existing service enclosure and
porefabricated structires containing
stores and a toilet. Removal of the
east wing of prefabricated structure
with associated alterations to the
remaining part of the structure.

8

9

10
1

Listed Building Consent

Robson Road

7

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a schedule and details of the materials to be used in the
hardstanding shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This shall include a sample panel to
be provided on site. The development hereby permitted shall be thereafter built in accordance with the approved details.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, the stone portal for the new access into the cemetery shall be
finished to match the geological stone found on the adjacent plinth.
No demolition or development shall take place until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no demolition or development
shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement of significance and research
objectives, and
a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the nomination of a competent person(s) or
organisation to undertake the agreed works
b) The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, publication and dissemination and deposition of
resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with
the programme set out in the WSL
Prior to the demolition of the sheds, an updated close inspection, carried out by a licensed ecologist, shall be undertaken
to confirm absence of roosting bats. In case bats or evidence of use by bats is found during the updated inspection, demolition
work must be delayed until further surveys, comprising emergence and/or re-entry surveys to be completed between MayAugust, have been carried out to characterise the roost(s) in order to inform a mitigation strategy and support a European
Protected Species licence application
No demolition or development shall commence until full details of the poropsed construction methodology in the form of a
Method of Construction Statement, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Method of Construction Statment shall include details regarding:
a) The notification of neighbours with regard to specific works
b) Advance notifications of road closures
c) Details regarding parking, deliveries and storage
d) Details regarding dust mitigation
e) Details of measures to prevent the deposit of mud and debiris on the public highway
f) Any other measures to mitigate the impacet of construction upon the amenity of the area and the function and safety of the
highway network
No demoltion or development shall commence until provision has been made to accommodate all site operatives', visitors' and
construction vehicles loading, off-loading, parking and turning within the site or otherwise during the construction period in
accordance with the approved details. The demolition and devleopment shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
details and measures approved in the Method of Construction Statement.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, the lamp post on Robson Road shall be relocated further from
the entrance to allow for a smooth flow of pedestrian traffic.
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
the date of this decision notice

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Prior to the commencement of the development herby permitted, full details of the herby approved gates shall be submitted
4 to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This should include plans, sections, and elevations to a scale at least
1:20. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details
Prior to the commencement of the development herby permitted, a schedule and details of the materials to be used in the
hardstanding shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This shall include a sample panel to
be provided on site. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, the stone portal for the new opening of the development hereby
6
permitted shall be finished to match the geological stone found on the plinth.
5

Discharged
12/07/2021

21/01670/DET

Expected Decision

Page 40

Consent Application

Condition
1

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
the date of this decision notice.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
No demolition or development shall commence until full details of the poropsed construction methodology in the form of a
Method of Construction Statement, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Method of Construction Statment shall include details regarding:
a) The notification of neighbours with regard to specific works
b) Advance notifications of road closures
c) Details regarding parking, deliveries and storage
d) Details regarding dust mitigation
3
e) Details of measures to prevent the deposit of mud and debiris on the public highway
f) Any other measures to mitigate the impacet of construction upon the amenity of the area and the function and safety of the
highway network
No demoltion or development shall commence until provision has been made to accommodate all site operatives', visitors' and
construction vehicles loading, off-loading, parking and turning within the site or otherwise during the construction period in
accordance with the approved details. The demolition and devleopment shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
details and measures approved in the Method of Construction Statement.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
4 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, full details and section drawings of new windows and doors at
5 1:20 scale shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the relevant works
commencing. The development hereby permitted shall be thereafter built in accordance with the approved details.
A Maintenance Plan for the timber extension prior to the Visitor Centre use commencing shall be submitted to and approved
6 in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the maintenance activities shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved Maintenance Plan.

Conversion of cemetery lodge building
into a visitor centre at ground floor
level and relocation of bereavement
services to first floor level including
associated internal and external
alterations and the erection of a single
storey side extension, new pedestrian
access with associated changes to
boundary treatment and landscaping.

Planning 18/03038/RG3

Visitor Centre

Before the use hereby permitted commences, a scheme for the siting and design of all boundary treatments shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Full detailed drawings, including sections, of the proposed railings
7
and gates shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA, prior to that work being carried out. The approved scheme
shall be fully implemented before the use hereby permitted commences and retained for the duration of the development.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, a landscaping scheme, including details and material of the
paving, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development hereby permitted shall
be thereafter carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the dale of visitor centre use
commencing. All tree, shrub and hedge planting included within the above specification shall accord with BS3936:1992,
BS4043:1989 and BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current Arboricultural best practice. The submitted
details are expected to demonstrate the following:
a) The quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all trees and shrubs to be planted
8
b) An indication of how they integrate with the proposal in the long term with regard to their mature size and anticipated
routine maintenance and protection.
c) Specification of which shrubs and hedges to be planted that are intended to achieve a significant size and presence in the
landscape.
A replacement tree shall be planted before the completion of the development. The species type, size and location of the new
tree and planting shall be agreed in writing with the LPA before the completion of the development.
Thereafter, all planting practices shall be carried out in accordance with BS8545: 2014.
Any trees, shrubs or hedges included in the landscaping scheme for the development hereby permitted that die, are
9 removed, become seriously damaged or diseased, within five years of planting, shall be replaced within six months of death,
removal, damage or disease.
No trees other than those shown to be removed on the approved Tree Protection Plan (drawing No. 16407/A1/TPP/01), as
contained in the approved Arboricultural report, prepared by Indigo Surveys Lid dated July 2018 (Ref: 16407/A3_AIA), shall be
felled, pruned, uprooted or otherwise disturbed without the prior written consent of the LPA.
The retained trees, as identified on the application drawings, shall be protected in strict accordance with the details set out in
the Approved Arboricultural report prepared by Indigo Surveys Lid dated July 2018 (ref: 16407/A3 -AIA). The protection
11 measures (including all facilitation pruning) shall be implemented before the commencement of any groundworks or
demolition and shall include. Appropriate monitoring of the site during the construction phase. The tree protection measures
shall remain in place until completion of the development
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the herby approved 'Surveys for bat'
12
October 2017
10

13

14

15

16

17

18

Prior to the commencement of the Visitor Centre use and notwithstanding any indication on the herby approved drawings,
details of waste and recycling storage for the whole development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The waste and recycling storage shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to the
commencement of the Visitor Centre use hereby permitted, and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use. The
waste and recycling storage areas/facilities should comply with the Lambeth's Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide (2013),
unless it is demonstrated in the submissions that such provision is inappropriate for this specific development.
Prior to the commencement of the Visitor Centre use, a Travel Plan shall be submitted lo and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The measures approved in the travel plan shall be implemented prior to the use hereby permitted
commencing and shall be so maintained for the duration of the uses, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority is obtained to any variation.
Prior to the commencement of the Visitor Centre use and notwithstanding any details shown on the herby approved drawings,
a Parking Management Plan for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include the provision of 2 on-site disabled parking spaces. Thereafter, the approved parking management
plan shall be implemented prior to use commencing and operated for the duration of the permitted use.
Prior to the commencement of the Visitor Centre use and notwithstanding any indication on the herby approved drawings, full
details of cycle parking for at least 20 cycles shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The cycle parking shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the relevant part of development hereby permitted,
and the cycle parking shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use.
The herby approved Visitor Centre shall not be let to third parties until, a Community Use Management Plan (including the
spaces available, potential users, management responsibilities during all operating hours, measures to control noise and
disturbance, playing of music or other amplified sound and minimising the effects of patrons coming and going from the site)
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The community use of the site shall thereafter
only occur in accordance with the approved Community Use Management Plan.
The use of the Visitor Centre hereby permitted shall not be open to members of the public other than within the following
times:
Monday to Sunday, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays: 09.00 hours to 22.30 hours.

ACTION
Insall HDD LO Conisbee Client

Discharge
Application
1
2

Notes

Approved
Reference

Expected Decision

Page 41

Consent Application

Condition

ACTION
Insall HDD LO Conisbee Client

Discharge
Application
1
2

Reference

Listed Building Consent

Monuments

Planning

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice.

Repair and Conservation works to 16
listed monuments within Norwood
Cemetery. All monuments are on
Historic England's Heritage At Risk
register. Ibbotson, Sparenborg,
Wimble, Grissel!, Moffatt, Stevens,
Grane, Dodd, King, Gabriel, Baldwin
Brown, Auffray, Kershaw, Schilizzi,
Rodocanachi and Bali.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carlied out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Prior to any vault remediation work being carried out and notwithstanding the hereby approved documents, a detailed report
4 covering the impact of the herby approved works on the neighbouring vaults which shall cover the structural analysis, including
section drawings and an investigation of other materials (including grout binder) shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the works shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the herby approved 'Surveys for bat'
5
October 2017.
The development herby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the herby approved 'Surveys of lichens'
6 July 2017.
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice.
2

Planning 18/02972/RG3
Listed Building Consent 18/02973/LB]

St Stephens

Discharged
05/08/2021

21/00244/DET

The development hereby permitted shall be earned out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.

All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Prior to any vault remediation work being carried out and notwithstanding the hereby approved documents, a detailed report
covering the impact of the herby approved works on the neighbouring vaults which shall cover the structural analysis, including
4
section drawings and an investigation of other materials (including grout binder) shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the works shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details.
1

Internal and external repair works and
minor alterations to St. Stephens
Chapel, including installation of toilets,
to facilitate use as a gallery and events
space.

Notes

Approved

Discharged
05/08/2021

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
the date of this decision notice.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed
in this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Full details of the proposed cleaning method of the stone and terracotta shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
4 LPA, prior to that work being carried out. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details.
Before any part of the development hereby commences, full details of the proposed mortar specifications shall be submitted
5 to and approved in writing by the LPA. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details.
Prior to any decorative work being carried out, full details of the decorative paint work shall be submitted and approved in
6
writing by the LPA. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details
Full details of the proposed plumbing, extraction and services to be submitted for approval prior to any drainage work being
7
carried out. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.
The retained trees as identified on the application drawings shall be protected in strict accordance with the details set out in
the Approved Arboricultural report prepared by Indigo SuNeys Ltd dated July 2018 (ref: 16407/A2- AIA). The protection
8 measures shall be implemented before the commencement of any groundworks or demolition and shall include Appropriate
monitoring of the site during the construction phase.. The tree protection measures shall remain in place until completion of
the development.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the herby approved Surveys for bat
9 October 2017.
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice.
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Full details of the proposed cleaning method of the stone and terracotta shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
4 the LPA, prior to that work being carried out. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details.
Before any part of the development hereby commences, full details of the proposed mortar specifications shall be submitted
5 and approved in writing by the LPA. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved
details.
Prior to any decorative work being carried out, full details of the decorative paint work shall be submitted and approved in
6
writing by the LPA. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.
Full details of the proposed plumbing, extraction and services to be submitted for approval prior to any drainage work being
7 carried out. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details

Discharged
07/04/2021

21/00260/DET

Discharged
03/06/2021

21/01409/DET

Discharged
07/04/2021
Discharged
15/09/2021

21/00260/DET
21/02263/DET

Discharged
07/04/2021

21/00259/DET

Discharged
28/05/2021

21/01410/DET

Discharged
07/04/2021
Discharged
15/09/2021

21/00259/DET
21/02262/DET

Expected Decision

Page 42

Consent Application

Condition

ACTION
Insall HDD LO Conisbee Client

Discharge
Application
1
2

Reference

Planning 18/04121/RG3

Application for the creation of level
access into St Stephens Chapel
including alterations to boundary
treatments, new surfaced footpath
and associated alterations.

Memorials

Conservation of Memorials at risk

Faculty

Creation of new entrance

Faculty

Faculty

Hubbard Road

Reinstatment of the Hubbard Road
Entrance

Robson Road

Listed Building Consent

St Stephens Access

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice.
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, prior to the installation of the level access into St Stephens Chapel
(the bridge) herby approved full details of the bridge structure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
4
planning authority. This should include schedule of materials. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in
accordance with the approved details.
A) No demolition or development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work including a Written Scheme of
Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an
assessment of significance and research questions in respect of the Greek Temple Enclosure (the area outlined in green on
drawing No. 110-01-356 Rev N), and all of the following:
i. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording.
5 ii. The programme for post investigation assessment.
iii. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording.
iv. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of the site investigation.
v. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site investigation.
vi. Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the works set out within the Written Scheme of
Investigation.
B) No demolition or development shall take place other than in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation
6
approveded under part (A) of this condition.
C) Within 6 months of completition of the foundation works, the site investigation and post investigation assessment shall
be completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under part (A) of
7
this condition and the provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has been
secured.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the herby approved 'Tree Survey,
8 Arboricultural Implications Assessment & Method Statement' October 2018.
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning from
1
the date of this decision notice.
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and drawings listed in
this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
All new external and internal work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent original work in
3 respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance, except where indicated otherwise on the drawings
hereby approved, or unless otherwise required by condition.
Notwithstanding any indication given on the approved plans, prior to the installation of the level access into St Stephens Chapel
(the bridge) herby approved full details of the bridge structure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
4 planning authority. This should include schedule of materials. The development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in
accordance with the approved details
2 copies of the Public Notices to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2
Original papers relating to the proposals
Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry
2 copies of the Public Notices to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2
Original papers relating to the proposals
Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry
2 copies of the Public Notices to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2
Original papers relating to the proposals
Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry

Notes

Approved

Discharged
21/10/2021

21/02148/DET

Expected Decision

19-Aug

Part A Approved
24/02/2021

Discharged
30/04/21

21/00945/DET

Discharged
21/10/2021

21/02144/DET

Page 43

CONDITION

Planning Application

Reinstatment of the Hubbard
Road Entrance

Faculty

Hubbard Road

2 copies of the Public Notices (4A) to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2

Historic England list entries for West Norwood Cemetery and
Crematorium and West Norwood memorial Park walls, iron fences,
railings, gate piers and gates on West and South Sides
Figure 2.3.3 Combined Consecration Plans
Design and Access Statement

Original papers relating to the proposals
Drawings

Original papers relating to the proposals
Conservation of Memorials at
risk

Faculty

Memorials

Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry
2 copies of the Public Notices (4A) to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2

Faculty

Robson Road

Historic England List entries for West Norwood Cemetery and
Crematorium and for the tombs in question
Figure 2.3.3 Combined Consecration Plans
Letter dated 4th May 2018 (Claire Halestrap to Luke Tatam)
West Norwood Cemerery monumnets at Risk Pre-application Report
dated 22nd May 2018 (Donald Insall Associates and Conisbee)
Email dated 14th August 2018 (Claire Halestrap to Luke Tatam) and
letter dated 8th July 2018 (Kevin Clark to Claire Halestrap)
Drawings

Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry
"Where any tombs are to be opened up to reveal their
occupants, (i) a basic record should be made of the state of
the burials and of any coffine nameplates that can be
deciphered; and (ii) that, before backfilling, a permeable
geotextile should be laid over the coffins/burials (to
prevent fill materials adhering to them, and to act as a
marker barrier should re-excavation ever happen).
2 copies of the Public Notices (4A) to be displayed
Faculty Petition - Form 3A
Standard Information Form - Form 1A
DAC Notification of Advice - Form 2

Reinstatment of the Hubbard
Road Entrance

Policy and Procedures: Establishing ownership of graves and
memorials and serving notices

Policy and Procedures: Establishing ownership of graves and
memorials and serving notices

Historic England list entries for West Norwood Cemetery and
Crematorium and West Norwood memorial Park walls, iron fences,
railings, gate piers and gates on West and South Sides
Figure 2.3.3 Combined Consecration Plans
Design and Access Statement

Original papers relating to the proposals
Drawings

Copy of the Public Notice to be sent to the Registry

Policy and Procedures: Establishing ownership of graves and
memorials and serving notices

Do we have this?

110-01-6 revA
110-01-108
110-01-194
110-01-295
110-01-358 revA

110-01-08
110-01-09

Insall

HDD

ACTION
Laurence Owen

Conisbee

Client

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 45

Agenda Item 8

MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP AND SCHEME OF MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE JOINT MEETING 25 JANUARY 2022
WEST NORWOOD CEMETERY – OPERATIONAL UPDATE

Covid 19 Response
Managing funerals has continued as the service priority since March 2020. At the peak of the pandemic
through spring and summer 2020 we experienced up to a 120% increase in weekly funerals compared to
2019, with the service consequently stretched to the limit for several months. Funeral numbers are
currently at a steady level, broadly back at pre-Covid numbers. There are some restrictions that remain
in place for indoor services under current Government guidelines.
Burial numbers rose throughout 2020 as a result of the pandemic, with a 26% increase in grave reopens.
The Coronavirus (COVID-19) guidance for funerals and commemorative events during the coronavirus
pandemic states that masks must be worn by law if attending an indoor funeral ceremony (updated 16
December 2021).
The office is accessible by appointment including to collect cremated remains. A video doorbell has been
installed to safely manage enquiries. Staff presence remained on site throughout the pandemic.
General enquiries such as deed transfers, memorial orders and searches were not progressed at key
points in the pandemic when heightened funerals numbers were required to be managed. These have
been resumed and the current position is that the backlog for 2020 has been cleared.

Landscapes Team
The team began the winter works programme at West Norwood Cemetery on 4 January. The works will
cover strimming and cutting back the conservation area, removing self-sets and lifting low branches over
paths; strimming the areas of bramble previously cleared around the Catacombs, Hellenic area and Ship
Path; cutting laurel and removing ivy from the Hellenic section wall.

Preparation for Decant of Office (NHLF)
The team have been preparing for the proposed decant for the Visitor Centre works – older cremation
papers are being digitised and condensed.

Trees
All memorial trees on site have been checked for health and lease terms, with queried trees having a
sign installed for over a year to invite contact.
We have ascertained that in the first instance 21 trees can be removed, either because the lease has
lapsed, or the tree is unhealthy and poses a safety risk. The Trees team will be required on site for most
of these removals due to the height or dangerous branches.

Page 46
Conifer Management
This project continues with many grave owners receiving contact asking them to remove the tree where
Regulations have been breached. There are a large number across the cemetery so further letters or
contact is required and ongoing. Several trees have already been removed in 2021.

Memorial Safety
A SIAM (Safety Inspection and Assessment of Memorials) course was completed by 10 members of staff
in late 2021, who now hold accreditation to Inspect and Assess Memorials.
There is further training booked on the purchased app that will record the memorial condition, but staff
are beginning to assess memorials square by square where possible between other duties. The app
links to the BACAS cemetery management system and can automatically generate letters to registered
grave owners where safety works are required.

Stillborn Memorial
A Faculty application is required to move the current memorial to the Garden of Remembrance. The
stone will be changed and the wording will need to be revised and agreed.

Current Wording
IN CHERISHED MEMORY / OF OUR BELOVED BABIES / FLEETINGLY KNOWN / BUT NEVER
FORGOTTEN
Replacement Option 1
FOR ALL OUR BABIES / BRIEFLY KNOWN / FOREVER LOVED
Replacement Option 2
A SPECIAL PLACE IN MEMORY OF ALL BABIES WE HAVE LOST
“Let the little children come to Me, and do not forbid them; for of such is the kingdom of God.

Replacement Option 3
IN LOVING MEMORY OF ALL BABIES LOST
To bud on earth and bloom in Heaven

Page 47
Memorial Benches
The five benches scheduled for removal in 2021 have all been removed. A further five are down for
removal during 2022.

Apprenticeship (NHLF)
NLHF apprentice Helen Mackenzie joined the team in July 2021. She is on site at West Norwood four
days a week and attends Capel Manor for the remaining day.
Helen is currently working on assessing and removing the damaged box hedge in the Rose Garden area
and has engaged with the Friends over horticultural projects.

Volunteer Working Parties
The weekly volunteer group from Dulwich College returned in October 2021, with a new team of students
attending daily when the weather permits.
A group attends every lunchtime (Monday-Friday) and as agreed carry out general tidying, branch
clearance and litter picking around the gate and front foyer.

Capital Projects (Bereavement Services)
Quotes are pending for various workstreams including Gilbarts, many masons were closed or operating
with reduced timetables during the pandemic so there have been some delays in obtaining prices.
There is an additional concern as material costs have escalated and extreme delays with shipping are
now common across the industry for some stone and metal.
Capital Works are planned to replace the existing catafalque at West Norwood Crematorium in Spring
2022. Services will not be able to take place while these works are implemented, and funerals will be
diverted to Lambeth Crematorium where possible.
Work was also completed on the wall at the crematorium for the Tate Memorial (pictures below).

Page 48

Community Payback
The group returned in May 2021 and now operate two days a week. Numbers remain low due to their
risk assessments to ensure close supervision and social distancing within rest areas.
The average group attendance is 4, tasks such as branch, leaf and litter collection are the main duties at
this time.
There have been some breaks in attendance as the group could not attend during some parts of the
NLHF project work on the surrounding roads and paths to the rest areas.

ICCM Charter for the Bereaved
Bereavement Services completed the annual assessment for the Charter for the Bereaved last July. The
assessment is judged over all cemeteries and crematoria managed by Lambeth. The Gold award was
achieved for both the crematorium process and burials.

London in Bloom
West Norwood Cemetery was re-entered in the Large Cemetery category in 2021 after a break of two
years. With a combination of the new apprentice and the NLHF works we feel confident that a Gold
award is achievable by 2023. For 2021 we secured a Silver Gilt award, with an improved score of 157
compared to 142 in 2018. 170 is needed for a Gold.

Green Flag
The cemetery retained Green Flag accreditation for 2021.

Cemetery of the Year

Page 49
This award scheme was revived recently, and we entered West Norwood Cemetery in 2021. We didn’t
win but will continue to enter annually. The judges’ feedback was received recently but is yet to be
reviewed in detail.

Winter Memorial Service
The annual memorial service went ahead on 17 December. Bereaved families who have organised a
service in the past year receive an invite, but all are welcome. Due to restrictions on events imposed by
Lambeth’s Public Health team we were unable to offer refreshments as is traditional.

Bereavement Services Team Staffing
The team is fully staffed, and the current structure is shown below.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 51

Agenda Item 9

CABINET MEMBER DELEGATED DECISION 13 JULY 2021
Report title: Amended governance arrangements for South Metropolitan (West Norwood)
Cemetery
Wards: Gipsy Hill
Portfolio: Councillor Sonia Winifred, Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture
Report Authorised by: Bayo Dosunmu: Strategic Director for Resident Services
Contact for enquiries: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director Neighbourhoods, 0207 926 8973,
kcrook@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
In July 2019 the Council approved a decision to create new governance arrangements to replace the
current Scheme of Management Committee. These arrangements are running in parallel with the Scheme
of Management Committee whilst the process of amending the Scheme is underway. Following the receipt
of advice from external counsel this report proposes a change to the previously agreed membership of the
Strategic Partnership Board and the National Lottery Heritage Fund Implementation Board. The process
of changing governance will be subject to agreement by the existing Scheme of Management Committee
and the Consistory Court.

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no direct financial implications from the creation of new governance arrangements to replace
the current Scheme of Management Committee.

RECOMMENDATIONS
(1)

To approve the amended membership structure for the Strategic Partnership Board and the
National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) Implementation Board for West Norwood Cemetery, as
shown in paragraphs 2.4 and 2.5.

(2)

To approve the revised terms of reference for the Strategic Partnership Board and NLHF
Implementation Board to reflect the change in Board membership, as set out in Appendix 1 to
this report.

Page 52
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

The Scheme of Management Committee covering West Norwood Cemetery has existed for 23
years and the members are in agreement that the current management of the cemetery, the
investment recently secured from the NLHF, and the progress made in other areas means that it is
now prudent to consider making the case to the Consistory Court for amending the Scheme of
Management so as to replace the Scheme of Management Committee and the Management
Advisory Group with the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). The SPB will now be the decisionmaking body for management of the whole cemetery.

1.2

Lambeth agreed a new governance model in July 2019, and in December 2019 sought external
counsel from a barrister specialising in Ecclesiastical law to advise on the transition process. In
January 2020 Counsel produced a draft revised Scheme of Management for presentation to the
Archdeacon.

1.3

Counsel advised that moving from the current balance of four Diocesan representatives and four
Lambeth representatives on the Scheme of Management Committee, to a single Diocesan
representative under the new governance model may be considered too much of an extreme
change.

2.

PROPOSAL AND REASONS

2.1

Counsel proposed that both of the new governance boards include up to four Diocesan
representatives. This has been discussed and agreed with Cllr Winifred and the Chair of the
Scheme of Management Committee. It is unlikely that four Diocesan representatives will be
appointed initially, however the flexibility allows for successional planning, a sharing of
responsibility, and for the Diocese to increase representation in the future if it feels that is
appropriate.

2.2

The original position of a single Diocesan representative had been agreed with the Chair of the
Scheme of Management Committee. However, the revised proposal from Counsel is based on indepth experience of Diocesan workings; and is felt to be reasonable and practical in terms of its
flexibility.

2.3

It is considered prudent to implement counsel’s proposals, in order to improve the chances of the
Consistory Court endorsing the change in governance.

2.4

The proposed changes in membership of the Strategic Partnership Board are:
Membership category
Diocesan representatives
Councillors
Friends of West Norwood Cemetery
Historical specialists
Lambeth officers
Norwood Forum
Third party co-optees
TOTAL

2.5

Previously agreed
1
2
1
1
2
1
Up to 5
8-13

Proposed
Up to 4
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 4
6-18

The proposed changes in membership of the NLHF Implementation Board are:

Page 53
Membership category
Diocesan representatives
Councillors
Friends of West Norwood Cemetery
Historical specialists
Lambeth officers
Norwood Forum
Third party co-optees
TOTAL

Previously agreed
1
2
1
1
2
1
Up to 5
8-13

Proposed
Up to 4
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 2
Up to 4
6-18

3.

FINANCE

3.1

There are no direct financial implications from the creation of governance arrangements to replace
the current Scheme of Management Committee.

4.

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

In 1997, the Consistory Court granted authority to the Council to manage the consecrated part of
the cemetery provided that the Council does so in accordance with the Scheme of Management.
The Scheme of Management requires that decisions relating to the consecrated part of the
cemetery are made by the Scheme of Management Committee after having consulted the
Management Advisory Group. The Council is seeking to continue its management responsibility (in
the consecrated part) but is seeking the proposed changes to the Scheme of Management, so that
the SPB will now be the decision-making body for management of the whole cemetery. It is
envisaged that the SPB will delegate to the Council decision-making on many day-to-day matters
(and will draft a protocol), so that the SPB will have oversight of the whole cemetery and take a
strategic role, focussing on significant projects, particularly with respect to conservation. The
membership of the SPB will include interested parties who are currently members of the
Management Committee. These proposed changes to the Scheme of Management will require the
consent of the Consistory Court. This report recommends changes to the proposed membership of
the SPB and the NLHF Implementation Board and their terms of reference on the advice of expert
counsel, so that they will be likely to satisfy the Consistory Court (which has jurisdiction over the
consecrated part of the cemetery.

4.2

The Council’s Constitution requires that issues of an important or sensitive nature will be published
on the Council’s website for five clear days prior to the decision being taken (Constitution, Part 2,
Section 3) by the Cabinet Member or officer concerned. It is suggested that this proposed decision
is published online in the interests of transparency. Any representations received during this period
must be considered by the decision-maker before the decision is taken.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

The proposals for revised membership of the Boards is fully endorsed by the Chair of the Scheme
of Management Committee and the Chair of the Friends of West Norwood Cemetery. The Chair of
the Scheme of Management Committee attended the meeting with external counsel alongside
officers. The revised membership has been discussed with the appropriate Cabinet Member, Cllr.
Winifred, who has agreed the changes.

Page 54
6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

No risks have been identified from the revised membership proposals. The use of ‘up to’ provides
flexibility to accommodate the scenarios which might limit representation from individual bodies;
and provides for greater resilience, allowing additional representatives to gain knowledge, working
alongside more experienced members.

7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

An Equalities Impact Assessment covering the change in governance was completed on 21
December 2018 and approved on 3 January 2019. The proposed change in membership structure
for the Boards has no bearing on the original assessment and no potential to negatively impact the
protected characteristics.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

No direct implications.

9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

.
Environmental
None.

9.2

Health
Not applicable.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
Not applicable.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
Not applicable.
Responsible Procurement

9.5

Good Quality Jobs with Fair Pay and Decent Working Conditions
Not applicable.

9.6

Quality Apprenticeships, targeted Employment for Lambeth residents and Lambeth Priority Group
Not applicable.

9.7

Reduce Emissions: Lambeth Council has a commitment to being Zero Carbon by 2030
Not applicable. The Boards are currently meeting virtually and can continue to do so.

9.8

Single Use Plastics
Not applicable.

9.9

Positive Health and Wellbeing
Not applicable.

Other Offers (Innovation)
9.10 Not applicable.

Page 55

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
10.1 The table below details the stages and deadlines for implementing the recommendations:

Activity

Proposed Date

Publication on Decisions online

5 July 2021

Cabinet Member Decision

13 July 2021

Page 56
AUDIT TRAIL

Name and Position/Title
Cllr. Sonia Winifred
Cabinet Member for
Equalities and Culture
Bayo Dosunmu
Strategic Director
Venetia Reid-Baptiste
Director of Environment and
Streetscene
Andrew Ramsden
AD Finance
Michael Munnelly
AD Infrastructure,
Environment, Public Realm
& Climate Change Delivery
Peter Flockhart
Senior Planning Lawyer
Wayne Chandai, Head of
Chief Executive's Office &
Democratic Services
External Consultees
Nicholas Long
Robert Flanagan

Date Sent

Date
Received

Comments in
paragraph:

Cabinet Member

03.06.21

07.06.21

Approved

Resident Services

27.05.21

04.06.21

Cleared

Resident Services

19.05.21

27.05.21

Cleared

Finance and Investment

02.02.21

02.02.21

3

Resident Services

25.01.21

25.01.21

-

Legal and Governance

05.01.21

05.05.21

4

Legal and Governance

17.05.21

19.05.21

4

27.05.21

01.06.21

2

27.05.21

01.06.21

2

Lambeth Directorate

Chair of Scheme of
Management Committee
Chair of Management
Advisory Group

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

05.01.21
No
No
N/A
4. Not applicable
2019 decision report covering change in
governance
Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference
Appendix 2 – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 57
.

APPROVAL BY CABINET MEMBER IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCHEME OF DELEGATION

I confirm I have consulted Finance, Legal, Democratic Services and the Procurement Board, and
taken account of their advice and comments in completing the report for approval:

Signature: _______

___________________ Date: __13 July 2021____

Post: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director Neighbourhoods

I confirm I have consulted the relevant Cabinet Members, including the Leader of the Council (if
required), and approve the above recommendations:

Signature: __

__ Date: ___13 July 2021____

Post: Councillor Sonia Winifred, Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture

Any declarations of interest (or exemptions granted): None
Any conflicts of interest: None
Any dispensations: None

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 59

Governance Arrangements for the
Management of the South Metropolitan (West
Norwood) Cemetery

V1 March 2019
V2 January 2021
1

Page 60
1

Introduction
The governance structure for the South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery
comprises the following:
• The existing Scheme of Management Committee and Management Advisory
Group, which will continue in their current form until such time as their
termination is formally approved. The Terms of Reference for these groups will
not be detailed in this document as they exist elsewhere.
• The National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) Implementation Board, responsible
for overseeing the Parks for People project.
• The Strategic Partnership Board, which will exist in shadow form until the NLHF
Board is disbanded at the end of the implementation period. The Strategic
Partnership Board will be responsible for matters not pertaining to the Parks for
People project and will become the single governing Board once the Scheme of
Management Committee is terminated and the Parks for People project is
complete.

2

Purpose

2.1

To provide recommendations to the council, strategic oversight and governance for the
implementation of the Parks for People project and to act as the strategic decision making
bodies for the Cemetery, developing the cemetery Management Plan and deciding on
future development of the cemetery.

2.2

The Council will ultimately be responsible and accountable for all strategic decisions
regarding the cemetery and this will be in accordance with the Conservation
Management Plan, the Funerary Plan, the Scheme of Management, the Cemetery
Regulations, the Grave Reuse Policy and other relevant strategic documentation,
Diocesan requirements and relevant legislation.

2.3

The Council will consider all reports or recommendations sent to it by either Board.

3

Terms

3.1

The NLHF Implementation Board and the Strategic Partnership Board will come into being
during June 2019.

3.2

The NLHF Implementation Board will remain in place until implementation of the Parks
for People project is complete, and in any case for a maximum tenure of five years from 1
April 2019. Whilst the NLHF Implementation Board is operational, the Strategic
Partnership Board will act as a shadow board. It will become the sole form of governance
for the cemetery when the NLHF Implementation Board is dissolved.

2

Page 61
4

Representation and Membership

4.1

The overall structure of the NLHF Implementation Board reflects the range of
stakeholders which are key to ensuring successful delivery of the project. There is
allowance for the Board to co-opt additional members, which could be for set periods of
time, to assist with specific areas of the project or particular issues.

4.2

The membership of the Board will be as follows:
• Up to 4 x Archdeacon’s representatives
• Up to 2 x Councillors (selected via the Outside Body Appointments Process)
• Up to 2 x Friends representative (Chair of the Friends of West Norwood
Cemetery and optional additional representative nominated by the Chair)
• Up to 2 x Historical specialist with appropriate expertise (there are suitable
candidates on the existing Scheme of Management Committee/Management
Advisory Group)
• Up to 2 x Lambeth officers (to be selected by the appropriate service Director or
by the Chief Executive)
• Up to 2 x Norwood Forum representatives (the Chair plus an optional additional
representative nominated by the Chair)
• up to 4 x third party co-optees (optional, nominated, seconded and approved by
majority board vote).

4.3

The minimum composition of the board will be 6 members and the maximum shall be 18.

4.4

The structure of the Strategic Partnership Board is the same as the NLHF Implementation
Board, with two exceptions. The Bereavement Services Manager will replace the Capital
Programmes Manager; and co-opted members may differ.

4.5

For the sake of consistency individual Board members will only alter due to interorganisational changes or resignation. The Chair and Vice-Chair positions will be
determined through a standard nomination and voting process at the inaugural meeting
and on each anniversary.

5

Responsibilities of the NLHF Implementation Board
The Board will have responsibility for making recommendations to the Council for
delivering the NLHF ‘Parks for People’ outcomes and the approved project purposes. This
will include:
• Involvement in the selection process for project staff
• Oversight of the procurement of the consultant team
3

Page 62
• Agree NLHF Budget/Finance Plan, spending allocations and priorities
• Agreeing the capital works (RIBA works 4-7) delivery, which includes:
i.
Drainage and infrastructure works
ii.
Robson Road entrance
iii.
Hubbard Road entrance
iv.
The lodge / visitor centre
v.
St Stephen’s Chapel
vi.
16 Monument repairs
• Agree the Activity and Interpretation Plan
• Agree all other aspects of project implementation
• Consider monitoring and evaluation reports from officers
• Consider project updates, risk analyses, proposals and recommendations from
officers
• Agree the Communications Plan and the level and detail of public reporting
• Approve the content of an agreed NLHF Project Annual Report.

6

Responsibilities of the Strategic Partnership Board
The Board will have responsibility for making recommendations to the Council on the
approval of the following matters:
• Approve the Management and Maintenance Plan and future updates
• Approve updates and revision to the Funerary Plan
• Approve the Cemetery Regulations
• Approve the Grave Reuse Policy and Procedure document and reuse
implementation plans
• Agree decisions regarding restoration and repair of memorials within the
consecrated sections of the cemetery not forming part of the NLHF project
• Consider project and operational updates, proposals and recommendations from
officers
• Approve a Filming and Photography Policy
• Approve an Activities and Events Policy.

7

Decision Making and Accountability

7.1

The Boards will strive to make decisions by consensus but the responsibility would
ultimately rest with the Chair, ensuring that all strategic and financial decisions are made
by those accountable for them. Where relevant, Lambeth’s constitutional decisionmaking processes will apply.

4

Page 63
7.2

Board members are responsible for reporting on the activities and decisions of each
Board to their respective members and/or organisations.

7.3

Both Boards will produce an annual report in order to demonstrate accountability to a
wider audience. The primary purpose of the NLHF Board annual report will be to
communicate progress of the Parks for People project implementation and will form part
of a wider communications package. The purpose of the annual report produced by the
Strategic Partnership Board will primarily be to provide reassurance to the Archdeacon of
Lambeth that the requirements under the Scheme of Management are still being adhered
to.

8

Meetings

8.1

The NLHF Implementation Board will meet quarterly or in exceptional circumstances
when called for by 40% of the board. The Strategic Partnership Board will also meet
quarterly, with meetings immediately following each meeting of the NLHF
Implementation Board.

8.2

Meetings will be held in the cemetery lodge or Lambeth Town Hall; or virtually via MS
Teams.

8.3

The Board meetings are held in public and are open to all stakeholders and members of
the general public, except where the provisions of the attached Appendix 1 apply.
Questions and comments from non-board members are at the discretion of the Chair.

8.4

Lambeth Council will act as secretariat and agendas and minutes will be published on the
relevant websites, including the Parks for People project website and Lambeth’s
Bereavement Services web pages. Agendas will be published and circulated at least five
working days prior to each meeting date. Items for Any Other Business must be submitted
to the Chair by board members at least two working days prior to each meeting date.
Additional items will not be accepted without this notice being given.

8.5

The Boards will hold an annual meeting and at least three other meetings each year for
the transaction of general business.

8.6

The Chair may call a meeting of either Board at any time.

8.7

Four members of the Board may, by written request to the Chair, call for a meeting of the
Board to be held for a purpose, or purposes, specified in that request. If the Chair fails to
call such a meeting within seven days of receipt of that request, the four members may
forthwith, in writing, request the Assistant Director Neighbourhoods at Lambeth to
arrange a meeting.

5

Page 64
8.8

Meetings of the Strategic Partnership Board will be arranged by the Assistant Director
Neighbourhoods at Lambeth, or nominated deputy, who will, at least five working days
before the intended meeting, send, by email to the provided address of every member of
the Board, notification of the time and place of the meeting. The notice will include an
agenda setting out the business proposed to be discussed at the meeting.

8.9

Meetings of the NLHF Implementation Board will be arranged by the Capital Programmes
Manager at Lambeth, or nominated deputy, who will, at least five working days before
the intended meeting, send, by email to the provided address of every member of the
Board, notification of the time and place of the meeting. The notice will include an
agenda setting out the business proposed to be discussed at the meeting.

8.9

The agenda will include any item of business submitted, in writing by a Member of the
Board, which is received by the Assistant Director Neighbourhoods or Capital
Programmes Manager at least seven working days before the meeting.

8.10 Meetings of the Board will be open to the press and public except where business of a
confidential nature is to be heard; for which items members of the press and public will
be asked to leave the meeting. Please refer to Appendix 1 for details of items considered
to be confidential.

9

Chair and Vice-Chair

9.1

The NLHF Implementation Board will, at its inaugural meeting, elect a Chair and ViceChair from among the Board Members, who shall, unless they resign their respective
offices or, respectively, cease to be a member of the Board, continue in office for a period
of a year. The Chair and Vice-Chair will hold the same positions for the Strategic
Partnership Board.

9.2

The Chair will, if present, preside at every meeting of each Board. In the absence of the
Chair, the Vice-Chair will, if present, preside. In the absence of both the Chair and ViceChair, the Board will elect one of its number to preside at the meeting. The person
presiding at the meeting shall decide all matters of order, competence, relevancy and
interpretation of the rules of procedure. Their decision, in this respect, will be final.

10 Quorum
10.1 No meeting of either Board shall take place unless at least one representative from each
of the following categories is present: Diocese, Lambeth Councillor, Friends of West
Norwood Cemetery, Lambeth officer.

6

Page 65
11 Order of Business
11.1 The Order of Business at a meeting of each Board will be as follows:1. Election of Chair (In the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair);
2. Minutes of the previous meeting;
3. Matters arising from the Minutes;
4. Items of business as set out in the Agenda.

12 Voting
12.1 Voting shall be by show of hands and the issue in question shall be determined by a
simple majority of those present and voting. In the case of an equality of votes, the
person presiding shall have a second or casting vote.

13 Minutes of Meetings of the Committee
13.1 Minutes of meetings of the Strategic Partnership Board will be drawn up by the Assistant
Director Neighbourhoods, or nominated deputy, and circulated to all members of the
Board within fourteen working days of the meeting. Minutes of meetings of the NLHF
Implementation Board will be drawn up by the Capital Programmes Manager, or
nominated deputy, and circulated to all members of the Board within fourteen working
days of the meeting. The Minutes will be submitted to the next meeting of each Board for
approval. The approved minutes will be circulated to the Director of Environment and
Streetcare at Lambeth and published on Lambeth’s website.

14 Attendance
14.1 Members of the Boards are expected to attend all meetings or to send apologies to the
chair at least one working day prior to each meeting. Attendees may, by exception and
with the consent of the chair, send a suitable deputy if they are unable to attend a
meeting. Deputies must be appropriately senior and empowered to act and vote on
behalf of the Board member.

15 Appointment of Sub-Groups
15.1 Each Board will be empowered to appoint such Sub-Groups and Working Parties to deal
with specific matters as it thinks fit. Members of the Sub-Groups and Working Parties will
be appointed by the relevant Board and membership is not confined to members of the
Board. Sub-Groups and Working Parties are responsible to and report to each meeting of
the Board.
7

Page 66
16 Amendment, Modification or Variation
16.1 These Terms of Reference may be amended, varied or modified by the council after
consultation and agreement by Board members. They should be reviewed annually at a
meeting of the Boards.
16.2 Each Board may make any necessary procedural rules for its own government.

8

Page 67
Appendix 1
Appendix 1 to the Terms of Reference for the South Metropolitan (West
Norwood) Cemetery NLHF Implementation Board and Strategic Partnership
Board
PART I
Set out below are the reasons for which the Boards shall exclude the press and public from its
meetings.
N.B. In each instance, "the council" shall mean the London Borough of Lambeth.
The press and public will be excluded from a meeting of either of the Boards during an item of
business whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the
nature of the proceedings, that, if members of the public were present during that item,
confidential information would be disclosed to them in breach of the obligation of confidence.
For the purpose of this part, "confidential information" means:
1.

Information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under any enactment
or by the order of a court.

2.

Information relating to a particular employee, former employee or applicant to become
an employee of, or a particular office-holder, former office-holder or applicant to become
an office-holder under, the council.

3.

Information relating to any particular occupier or former occupier of, or applicant for,
accommodation provided by or at the expense of the council.

4.

Information relating to any particular applicant for, or recipient or former recipient of,
any service provided by the council.

5.

Information relating to any particular applicant for, or recipient or former recipient of,
any financial assistance provided by the council.

6.

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (other
than the council).

7.

The amount of any expenditure proposed to be incurred by the council under any
particular contract for the acquisition of property or the supply of goods or services.

8.

Any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the council in the course of negotiations
for a contract for the acquisition or disposal of property or the supply of goods and
services.

9.

The identity of the council (as well as of any other person, by virtue of paragraph 5 above)
as the person offering any particular tender for a contract for the supply of goods or
services.

10. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations
9

Page 68
or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the
council or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officeholders under, the council.
11. Any instructions to counsel and any opinion of counsel (whether or not in connection with
any proceedings) and any advice received, information obtained or action to be taken in
connection with (a) any legal proceedings by or against the council, or
(b) the determination of any matter affecting the council.
(whether, in either case, proceedings have been commenced or are in contemplation).
12. Information which, if disclosed to the public, would reveal that the council proposed (a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are
imposed on a person; or
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.
13. Any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or
prosecution of crime.

10

Page 69

Proposal Title *
Governance arrangements for West Norwood Cemetery

Author
Kevin Crook
Please provide name of lead author and/or those within project team who may be required to contribute to this assessment

Who will sign off the assessment?
Raj Mistry ﴾Left Council﴿
Please indicate who will be involved in approving this assessment. This will need to be signed off by the Director

Q1a. What is changing?
The governance of West Norwood Cemetery. Currently it falls under a Scheme of Management created via a
Consistory Court judgement. Having met the requirements imposed by the Court judgement it is proposed to
apply to the Diocese for dissolution of the Scheme of Management and replace it with a Partnership Board

What is the most significant or key change taking place? Can you indicate the type of change in your response ﴾e.g.
policy/decision/strategy/ service/procedural/ geographic/procurement etc.﴿ so it is clear what is being equalities
assessed? Why is this change happening? What do you aim to achieve? Can you clearly indicate what decision‐makers
are being asked to take a decision on?

Read more

Q1b. Who will be involved in approving this decision?
Democratic Services, Legal, Finance, Raj Mistry, Sue Foster and Cllr. Winifred
Who else will be involved in signing‐off this decision?

Read more

Q2a. What do we know about the people who will be impacted by this
change?

No‐one will be directly affected by this change. The change in governance will be un‐noticeable by anyone using
the cemetery and there is no potential for negative impacts on the protected characteristics

Page 70

What does your information tell you about the people who will affected by this change? Are protected groups
impacted? What information do you hold on the protected characteristics of the people affected by the change? ﴾Age,
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
health, socio‐economic, language﴿ Are there any gaps or missing information?

Read more

Q2b. How will they be impacted by the change?
n/a

Would you assess the impact as positive, adverse, neutral? Do you have any uncertainty about the impact of your
proposal? Is there a likelihood that some people will more impacted than others? Can you describe the ways in which
they will be affected? How might this change affect our ‘general duty’

Read more

Q3a. How do you plan to promote and deliver any positive impacts of the
proposal?
It was clearly a humiliation for Lambeth to have external management imposed on it and it has been in place for a
very long period of time, so announcements over the change will be muted and low‐key

How might the principles of fairness, equality of opportunity and positive
relationships be further promoted as a consequence of this proposal? How
do you propose to measure your positive outcomes and the benefits outlined
to find out if these have been achieved?

Read more

Q3b How do you plan to address and mitigate any negative impacts of the
proposal?
n/a

What impact has this evidence had on what you are proposing? What can you do differently that might lessen the
impact on people within the timeframes i.e. development‐implementation? Who can help you to develop these
solutions?

Read More

Q4. How will you review/evaluate your proposal, mitigating actions and/or
benefits? Who will be responsible for this?
n/a

Who will you be accountable to for the above actions/outcome? How will those responsible know these actions have
worked? What performance indicators will you use to demonstrate this? Are there any other forms of evidence you can
use to support this assessment of their effectiveness?

Read more

Page 71

Section to be completed by Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Outcome of equality impact assessment

Read more

Comments from Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Submit for approval
Submit for approval

Executive Approval
Approved

Attachments
Close

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 73

Agenda Item 10

OFFICER DELEGATED DECISION JANUARY 2022
Report title: New Regulations for South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery
Wards: Gipsy Hill
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Equalities and Culture: Councillor Sonia Winifred
Report Authorised by: Bayo Dosunmu: Strategic Director for Resident Services
Contact for enquiries: Kevin Crook, Assistant Director Neighbourhoods, 020 7926 8973,
kcrook@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
The Regulations covering Lambeth’s three cemeteries are believed to date from the 1970s and replace
earlier byelaws. Because of the differences in our cemetery operations – and the Scheme of
Management in place at West Norwood Cemetery – separate Regulations are being produced for each
cemetery. New Regulations covering Lambeth Cemetery were approved through a separate decision
report in October 2017; and for Streatham Cemetery in 2019. A revised set of Regulations for West
Norwood Cemetery have now been completed and this report recommends their approval and adoption.

FINANCE SUMMARY
Updating the cemetery regulations will not create any significant costs for the service or authority.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1.

To adopt and implement the new South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery Regulations
(included as Appendix 2 to this report) with immediate effect.

Page 74
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

After Lambeth purchased West Norwood Cemetery in the 1960s it commenced a programme of
memorial clearance and reuse of graves, which spanned several decades and included a number
of actions which were not legal. This resulted in a Consistory Court ruling against the authority,
which led to a Scheme of Management being imposed in 1997, covering the consecrated sections
of the cemetery. The Scheme of Management Committee (SoMC) has agreed to propose a new
governance model to the Diocese, but the 1997 arrangements are still in place. The new
regulations will also need to be approved by the SoMC, whose members have been heavily
involved in the wording.

1.2

The 1977 Local Authorities Cemeteries Order (LACO) permits local authorities to: “do all such
things as they consider necessary or desirable for the proper management, regulation and control
of a cemetery.”

1.3

It is assumed that Lambeth’s current (undated) Cemetery Regulations were created shortly after
LACO was published, as that is the last piece of legislation mentioned in the preamble. The
document covers all three of Lambeth’s cemeteries: Lambeth Cemetery, Streatham Cemetery and
West Norwood (South Metropolitan) Cemetery. The Regulations replaced earlier cemetery
byelaws.

1.4

The Institute of Cemeteries and Crematoria Management recommend that cemetery regulations
are updated on a regular basis.

1.5

Under the current regulations all interments are to be lawn graves – this was intended to make
maintenance of the grass easier. However, it has never been adequately enforced and many grave
owners have edged the full grave and decorated and embellished their plots as they liked. As a
result, the easy grounds maintenance regime has not been realised. Staff still need to strim around
most plots individually, which is hugely time consuming.

1.6

Many bereaved families have requested traditional plots with full kerbs and ledger stones and the
demand for this is high, but not permitted under our current regulations. There is no real
justification for not permitting full memorials, and staff are regularly facing dissatisfied service users
who can’t understand why the rules are so restrictive, compared to most other cemeteries. For
West Norwood Cemetery at present it is not possible to allow full kerbsets within the consecrated
areas of the cemetery as this is prohibited under the Scheme of Management. However, the SoMC
and Friends are content to see this changed and the intention is to seek consent from the Diocese
to relax this condition in the future. If this change was granted, registered grave owners would then
be allowed to retrospectively apply for full kerbsets and cover slabs. For the sake of consistency, it
is not intended to make this change separately for non-consecrated areas.

2.

PROPOSAL AND REASONS

2.1

It is proposed that the revised Regulations for West Norwood Cemetery are adopted, publicised
and implemented with immediate effect.

2.2

The revised regulations have been fully updated, take account of changes within the industry since
the original regulations were written; and aim to cover all potential issues which arise within the
cemetery environment.

2.3

A summary document will be available at the cemetery office and this will include a weblink to the
full Regulations.

Page 75
2.4

The current regulations allow people to enter the cemetery in a car, but not on a motorbike or
bicycle. This restriction has been removed and responsible cycling will be permitted.

3.

FINANCE

3.1

Updating the cemetery regulations will not create any significant costs for the service or authority.
There will be some small costs for producing a summary leaflet and some signs to be installed
across the cemetery and these will be covered by existing budgets.

3.2

Updating the regulations does not offer increased income opportunities at the present time
because of the conditions imposed by the Scheme of Management and the fact that there is no
space available in the cemetery for new graves.

4.

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

Lambeth, along with other London boroughs, became a burial authority by virtue of s. 214 of the
Local Government Act 1972. This gave local authorities, among other things, the power to provide
and maintain cemeteries. Article 3 of LACO provides that subject to the other provisions of the
Order, a local authority “…may do all such things as they consider necessary or desirable for the
proper management, regulation and control of a cemetery.” Such things would include the making
of regulations to ensure the good management of a cemetery.

4.2

It is essential that all using a cemetery and its services are aware of what may or may not be
permitted within a cemetery. There is no legal requirement to have written regulations but it is
recommended as a matter of good practice that any applicable rules and regulations are in writing.
Any such regulations setting out what may or may not be permitted must be fit for purpose, clear
and precise and capable of enforcement.

4.3

There is no legal duty for burial authorities to consult prior to amending cemetery regulations.
Where there is no legal duty to consult consideration should be given to whether to consult. The
Cabinet Office Principles on Consultation (2016) state that consultation should not be carried out
for the sake of doing so.

4.4

Factors to consider in whether or not to consult include the issue or issues at stake, the nature and
impact on the decision and whether any community groups or other interested persons have
already been engaged with. The more significant the impact of the decision, the more likely the
need to consult. In addition, a promise to consult or a previous practice of consultation on the issue
in question is likely to give rise to a legitimate expectation of consultation.

4.5

Given that the revised regulations allow greater freedom and flexibility to users of West Norwood
Cemetery rather than restrict what is currently permitted then there is likely to be less need for any
consultation. Further, the history of the proceedings before the Consistory Court in respect of this
cemetery and the fact that the Scheme of Management Committee (which includes parties with an
interest in the cemetery, including the Diocese) has been consulted on the proposed regulations is
likely to be sufficient consultation for these purposes.

4.6

The new regulations, if approved, will not override the need for a faculty from the diocese where
that is required.

4.7

Regulation 15 of the Order allows a burial authority to charge such fees as it thinks proper for or in
connection with burials in a cemetery, for the grant of a right to place and maintain a memorial in a

Page 76
cemetery, and for the grant of a right to put an additional inscription on a memorial. It is noted that
the increased memorial permit fee has already been addressed via the 2016/17 Fees and Charges
Report.
4.8

Further, s.111 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that a local authority generally has
power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate or to be conducive or incidental to the
discharge of its functions. The making of such regulations would fall within this power.

4.8

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the new public sector equality duty (“the Equality
Duty”) replacing the previous duties in relation to race, sex and disability and extending the duty to
all the protected characteristics i.e. race, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief,
pregnancy or maternity, marriage or civil partnership and gender reassignment. The Equality Duty
requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to:
a.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
b.
Advance equality of opportunity; and
c.
Foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do
not.

4.9

Part of the duty to have “due regard” where there is disproportionate impact will be to take steps to
mitigate the impact and the Council must demonstrate that this has been done, and/or justify the
decision, on the basis that it is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim. Accordingly,
there is an expectation that a decision maker will explore other means which have less of a
disproportionate impact.

4.10 The Equality Duty must be complied with before and at the time that a particular policy is under
consideration or decision is taken – that is, in the development of policy options, and in making a
final decision. A public body cannot satisfy the Equality Duty by justifying a decision after it has
been taken.
4.11 The Council’s Constitution requires that issues of an important or sensitive nature will be published
on the Council’s website for five clear days prior to the decision being taken (Constitution, Part 2,
Section 3), where this is required by the Cabinet Member or Director concerned. It is suggested
that this proposed decision is published on Officer Decisions in the interests of transparency. Any
representations received during this period must be considered by the decision-maker before the
decision is taken.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

Consultation on the draft Regulations was arranged via the Norwood Forum, whose members were
encouraged via their website and e-newsletter to read a short presentation, look through the
proposed Regulations and send any comments to the Bereavement Services team. The
consultation was also publicised on social media, and members of the Friends of West Norwood
Cemetery were also encouraged by their committee to join the consultation. Due to a lack of
comments, the consultation was retained as live on the Norwood Forum website and re-publicised
to The Friends’ membership. However, no responses were received.

5.2

The Regulations have also been the subject of extensive consultation with the Scheme of
Management Committee and the members of the Shadow Strategic Partnership Board for the
cemetery. This produced a number of comments and amendments which have been made to the
final document.

Page 77
6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

The proposed Regulations reduce risk to the authority from a thorough updating and will provide
for the effective management of West Norwood Cemetery. They bring a number of positive
improvements including: ensuring the full range of issues and challenges which have arisen at the
site in the past have been addressed; removal of unnecessary restrictions; increased choice for
grave owners making it much easier to ensure effective implementation of Regulations on the
ground and standardised treatment for all grave owners.

6.2

The main risks that impede on the successful implementation of the Regulations are:
Table 1 – Risk Register

Risk

Likelihood Impact Score

Lack of enforcement of tribute
regulations in the past makes
implementation subject to
persistent complaints

4

2

8

Control Measures
Experience at Lambeth
and Streatham Cemeteries
has demonstrated that
effective enforcement of
tribute regulations is
impossible and
controversial. The most
dangerous items will be
removed, otherwise a
moderate line will be
followed

Key
Likelihood
Impact

Very Likely = 4
Major = 8

Likely = 3
Serious = 4

Unlikely = 2
Significant = 2

Very Unlikely = 1
Minor = 1

7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed on 18 September 2020 and approved on 22
September 2020 by the Director for Environment and Streetscene. Updating the Regulations will
have a negligible impact on cemetery visitors and has no potential to negatively impact on the
protected characteristics.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

None.

9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

9.2

Environmental
The current Regulations ban bicycles from our cemeteries. The revised Regulations allow the use
of bikes for visiting graves or the cemetery. Otherwise, there are no environmental impacts arising
from the adoption of these revised regulations.
Health
None.
Corporate Parenting

Page 78
9.3

None.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
There are no procurement implications to this report.

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Activity

Proposed Date

Publication on Decisions online

October 2020

Officer Decision

November 2020

Page 79
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name and Position/Title
Cllr. Sonia Winifred
Bayo Dosunmu
Strategic Director
Venetia Reid-Baptiste
Director of Environment
and Streetscene
Andrew Ramsden
AD Finance
Jon Melnick
Prosecutions Lawyer
Adrian Bentley
Democratic Services
Officer

Lambeth Directorate

Date Sent

Date
Received

Comments in
paragraph:

Cabinet Member for Equalities
and Culture

15.10.20

Resident Services

15.10.20

15.10.20

Cleared

Resident Services

02.10.20

14.10.20

Cleared

Finance and Investment

11.10.20

12.10.20

3

Legal and Governance

18.09.20

08.10.20

4

Legal and Governance

18.09.20

25.09.20

4

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information

Appendices

17.09.20
N/A
N/A
No
No
N/A
N/A
The Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977
Local Government Act 1972, s214
Appendix 1 – existing Regulations covering
Lambeth’s cemeteries
Appendix 2 – revised West Norwood Cemetery
Regulations
Appendix 3 – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 80
APPROVAL BY CABINET MEMBER OR OFFICER IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCHEME OF
DELEGATION

I confirm I have consulted Finance, Legal and Democratic Services, and taken account of their
advice and comments in completing the report for approval:

Signature: _____________________________________ Date: ________________
Post:

Kevin Crook, Assistant Director Neighbourhoods

I approve the above recommendations:

Signature: _____________________________________ Date: ________________
Post:

Bayo Dosunmu, Strategic Director of Resident Services

Any declarations of interest (or exemptions granted): None
Any conflicts of interest: None
Any dispensations: None.

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Page 85

Page 86

Page 87

South Metropolitan (West
Norwood) Cemetery
Rules and Regulations
July 2020

Page 88

Contents

Introduction ................................................................................................................... 3
Interpretation of Terms .................................................................................................. 4
Opening Times.............................................................................................................. 6
1. Management Regulations ......................................................................................... 7
2. Burial Regulations ................................................................................................... 10
3. Funeral Regulations ................................................................................................ 16
4. Tribute Regulations ................................................................................................. 17
5. Memorial Regulations ............................................................................................. 18
6. Work in the Cemetery ............................................................................................. 24
7. Miscellaneous Regulations...................................................................................... 25
8. Fees and Charges................................................................................................... 27
9. Grievance Procedure .............................................................................................. 28

2

Page 89

INTRODUCTION

We aim to provide the highest standards within our Bereavement Services offer to meet the
needs of the bereaved and all those who visit our cemeteries. It is therefore essential that
Cemetery Rules and Regulations are in place to maintain the dignity, security and sanctity of
our cemeteries, and to inform all Cemetery users of the reasonable requirements applicable
to them to enable us to manage our services effectively.
These Rules and Regulations include the statutory requirements contained within the Local
Government Act 1972 and the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 and any other
relevant legislation governing this service.
We reserve the right to make any amendments, alterations or additions to the Cemetery
Rules and Regulations as required, and to impose temporary restrictions as and when
necessary.
The Cemetery’s legal name is the South Metropolitan Cemetery, but is known colloquially as
West Norwood Cemetery. In this document it will be referred to as West Norwood Cemetery.
Everyone entering or using West Norwood Cemetery must abide by these Rules and
Regulations at all times and the Bereavement Services Manager has full powers to exclude
or remove anyone from the Cemetery as they see fit, without stating any reason.
Lambeth Bereavement Services adopted the Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium
Management (ICCM) Charter for the Bereaved in July 2016. The Charter provides
recognition of a Council’s commitment to minimum standards and continual improvements to
the services provided for the bereaved. Lambeth holds Silver accreditation under the Charter
for burials and is working towards Gold.
These Rules and Regulations apply only to West Norwood Cemetery, Norwood Road,
London SE27 9JU.
All enquiries regarding West Norwood Cemetery should be directed to the Cemetery office
at:
West Norwood Cemetery
Norwood Road
London
SE27 9JU
Tel: 020 7926 7999 or 0207 926 4221
Email: BereavementServices@lambeth.gov.uk

3

Page 90

INTERPRETATION OF TERMS
Throughout these Regulations the following words or terms shall have the meaning set out
below. Where the context requires, words in the singular can denote the plural and vice
versa:
“Bereavement Services Manager” means the person who has been delegated
responsibility by the Council to manage the Cemetery and includes members of staff under
their authority.
“Body” means the body of a deceased person or their cremated remains brought into the
Cemetery for burial.
“Catacombs” means a subterranean place for the burial of the dead, consisting of galleries
or passages with recesses excavated in their sides for tombs or coffins.
“Cemetery” means the South Metropolitan Cemetery at West Norwood, which is owned and
maintained by the Council. The Cemetery is generally referred to as West Norwood
Cemetery.
“Consecrated” means the greater area of the Cemetery subject to the Consecration of
Churchyards Act 1867 and within which certain additional rules apply. The Consecrated part
of the Cemetery is everywhere other than the Unconsecrated parts (see ‘Unconsecrated’
below). A map showing the Consecrated and Unconsecrated parts of the Cemetery is
available for inspection at the Cemetery office.
“Council” means Lambeth Borough Council.
“Cremated Remains Area” means the area of the Cemetery set aside at Squares 44, 58
and 71 for the burial and commemoration of cremated remains.
“Deed of Grant” means the document issued by the Council to a person who has purchased
the Exclusive Right of Burial in a Grave.
“Diocese” means the Diocese of Southwark, which holds and exercises powers in relation to
the Consecrated area (the greater part) of the Cemetery.
“Exclusive Right of Burial” means the exclusive right of burial in a Grave or Vault specified
in a Deed of Grant. (This is sometimes referred to as EROB)
“Executor” means a person or institution appointed by a testator to carry out the terms of
their will.
“Faculty” means a license from the Diocese of Southwark for works on consecrated ground.
The application for a Faculty is called a Petition.
“Grave” means a burial place formed in the ground by excavation and without an internal
wall of brickwork, stonework or any other constructed lining.
“Grave Owner” means the person named in a Deed of Grant.
“Grave Space” means the area allowed for the establishment of a Grave and in a position
determined by the Council.
“Green Form” means the statutory Certificate for Burial or Cremation, unless the coroner
has already issued an Order for Burial or a Certificate for Cremation.
“ICCM” means Institute of Cemetery & Cremation Management.

4

Page 91

“Memorial” means any Gravestone, monument, tablet, kerb set, plaque, statue, desk, vase,
headstone, footstone, kerbstone, cremation Memorial or other form of Memorial or stone of
any description or similar ornament.
“Memorial Rights” means written authorised permission from the Council to erect and
maintain a fixed Memorial for an agreed period of time.
“NAMM” means the National Association of Memorial Masons
“Notifiable Disease” is as per the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010 and a
list is provided online at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/notifiable-diseases-and-causativeorganisms-how-to-report
“Plan” means the West Norwood Cemetery plan which is be held at the Cemetery office and
can be viewed, without charge, during office hours. There are separate plans for the 129
individual designated Squares within the Cemetery.
“Square” means a section of the Cemetery. There are 129 squares in total.
“Unconsecrated Area” means those parts of the Cemetery not subject to Consecration.
Approximately a quarter of the Cemetery is not consecrated and can be found at Squares 8
(part), 9-12, 13 (part), 24 (part), 25-27, 28 (part), 29 (part), 37 (part), 38-42, 43 (part), 51
(part), 52-55, parts of 56 & 57, parts of 66-69, 81 (part) and parts of 115 & 119. A map
showing the Consecrated and Unconsecrated parts of the Cemetery is available for
inspection at the Cemetery office.
“Vault” means an underground burial place with an internal wall of brickwork and a concrete
base which is a single chamber; or is divided into separate chambers each of which is
sealed in an approved manner after each interment, and the vault sealed with top covers.
“Working Days” means any day excluding a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good
Friday, or any day which is a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act
1971.

5

Page 92

OPENING TIMES
Cemetery office (within the Cemetery, Norwood Road, SE27 9JU)
Monday to Friday 8.00am to 4.00pm (closed 12:30-13:30 and on Public Holidays)
Following the Covid-19 pandemic the office is closed to walk-in enquiries. Face-to-face
appointments within the stated times can be made via email or telephone.
Cemetery gates
1 April – 31 October
Monday – Friday: opened at 8.00am and locked at 6.00pm
Weekends: opened at 10.00am and locked at 4.00pm
1 November – 31 March
Monday – Friday: opened at 8.00am and locked at 4.00pm
Weekends: opened at 10.00am and locked at 4.00pm
Christmas Day: opened at 10.00am and locked at 2.30pm
The last time of entry is fifteen minutes before the advertised closing time.
The Cemetery gates will be locked promptly, and any vehicles locked in may not be
recoverable until the following morning.

6

Page 93

1. MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS
Conduct in Cemetery Grounds
1.1 The Cemetery, which is recognised nationally and internationally as being of great
architectural, cultural and historic importance, is provided as a tranquil area so that
visitors can reflect and remember their loved ones. The Council requires that visitors
act accordingly and respect the needs of others.
1.2 Article 18 of The Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 (as amended) provides that
no person shall:
a)
b)
c)
d)

wilfully create any disturbance in a Cemetery
commit any nuisance in a Cemetery
wilfully interfere with any burial taking place in a Cemetery
wilfully interfere with any Grave or Vault, any tombstone or other Memorial, or any
flowers or plants on any such matter
e) play at any game or sport in a Cemetery
f) enter or remain in a Cemetery at any hour when it is closed to the public unless
they are an officer or servant of the Council or are authorised by or on behalf of the
Council.
1.3 Any person who contravenes any prohibition detailed above or any prohibition
specified in Article 19 of the above-mentioned Order shall be liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding £100 and in the case of a continuing offence to a
fine not exceeding £10 for each day during which the offence continues after
conviction.
1.4 All persons entering the Cemetery will be subject to the order and control of the
Bereavement Services Manager. Any persons who infringe these Rules and
Regulations may be removed from the Cemetery.
1.5 The Cemetery is also subject to a Scheme of Management approved by the
Chancellor of the Diocese of Southwark. Further rules apply, which are incorporated in
these Regulations, and a copy of the Scheme may be inspected at the Cemetery
office.
1.6 Children under twelve years of age are to be kept under the supervision of an adult at
all times.
1.7 Visitors must keep to the roads and footpaths at all times, except to the extent
necessary in order to visit or tend to a Grave.
1.8 Visitors must conduct themselves in a quiet, orderly manner at all times.
1.9 No-one shall climb on or over any Memorial, boundary wall, fence, gate or tree.
1.10 No dogs or other pets are permitted in the Cemetery except assistance dogs.
1.11 Assistance dog owners must ensure that they bag and remove any fouling by their dog
and place it into a rubbish bin.
1.12 The consumption of alcohol and non-prescription drugs within the Cemetery is
prohibited.

7

Page 94

Vehicles
1.13 All vehicles (motorised or not) are subject to the control and direction of the
Bereavement Services Manager at all times when in the Cemetery.
1.14 The speed limit within the Cemetery is ten miles per hour, pedestrians retain priority.
1.15 The Council reserves the right to forbid the entry of any vehicle into the Cemetery.
1.16 Vehicles in excess of 4 metres by 3.7 metres may only enter the Cemetery with the
permission of the Bereavement Services Manager. This is intended to protect the listed
Tite Arch and the surfaces of the roadways. Certain heavier vehicles, if authorised,
might be required to enter and leave via the secondary entrance opposite St Luke’s,
known as Church Road.
1.17 Vehicles permitted to enter the Cemetery must not be parked anywhere other than
designated parking areas or parked fully on roadways and must ensure that vehicular
or pedestrian access is not impeded.
1.18 The Council accepts no liability for any loss from or damage to any vehicle whilst it is
within the Cemetery.
1.19 The Bereavement Services Manager may require the immediate removal of any vehicle
from the Cemetery at any time.
1.20 Vehicles must not be driven in any part of the Cemetery other than roadways and
parking areas.
1.21 Access for vehicles is only allowed for the purpose of visiting the Cemetery, attending a
funeral or working within the Cemetery. Other vehicles can only park within the
Cemetery if they hold a valid parking permit and have paid the appropriate fee.
1.22 Bicycles, motorised scooters and motorcycles are permitted as transport to a funeral or
for visiting a Grave only. All cyclists and motorcyclists must adhere to the speed limit
and be considerate of other Cemetery users.
1.23 Skateboards and Segways and their use are not permitted in the Cemetery.
1.24 The Bereavement Services Manager reserves the right to inspect any vehicle leaving
the Cemetery where there is reasonable suspicion that it contains items stolen from the
Cemetery.

Right of Passage
1.25 The Council reserves to itself and its employees, servants and agents the right of
passage over any Grave for any purpose connected with the maintenance and
management of the Cemetery; and to remove any Memorial from an adjoining Grave to
facilitate an interment if this should be necessary. In the event of such action being
necessary the cost of such works shall be borne by the person arranging the interment.

Gratuities
1.26 No employee of the Council is allowed to solicit or receive any gratuity or payment for
any work in connection with any Grave, Grave Space, Vault or Memorial.

Sale of Goods and Soliciting Orders

8

Page 95

1.27 Unless expressly authorised to do so by the Bereavement Services Manager no person
shall:
a) sell or offer or expose for sale within the Cemetery any goods, plants or articles; or
b) solicit within the Cemetery for the installation or repair of Memorials or for any work
connected with Graves or Vaults.

9

Page 96

2. BURIAL REGULATIONS
2.1 No burial shall take place, no cremated human remains shall be buried or scattered,
and no Memorial or additional inscription shall be placed in the Cemetery, without the
permission of the Bereavement Services Manager.

Burial Plot Plans
2.2 Plans for the Squares within the Cemetery are held at the Cemetery office and can be
viewed during office opening times by scheduled appointment.

Exclusive Rights of Burial
2.3 There is no unused space for new Graves in the Cemetery. The Council will only offer
new burial space in Graves that are to be reused. Please refer to the separate Grave
Reuse Policy and Procedure document for full details. The rights, as described in
paragraphs 2.5-2.7 below will continue to apply for reused Graves although, in certain
instances, the Memorial relating to earlier burials will remain over the Grave. The
purchaser will be expected to adopt the existing Memorial and have continuing
responsibility for its repair and maintenance. As appropriate, arrangements will be
made, by agreement with the purchaser, for the incorporation of new inscriptions.
2.4 The Council reserves the right to reserve any portion of burial ground as it sees fit.
2.5 On the purchase of the Exclusive Right of Burial in a Grave, a Deed of Grant shall be
issued to the person on whose behalf the Exclusive Right of Burial is purchased. This
person shall be registered in the records held by the Council as the Grave Owner.
2.6 When a Grave is purchased the named Grave Owner will obtain the Exclusive Right of
Burial in that Grave. This gives the Grave Owner(s) the right, during the period of
tenure purchased, to:
a) Be buried in that Grave if space is available.
b) Authorise burials in that Grave, where space is available
c) Authorise the burial in, or scattering of cremated remains over, that Grave. Grave
Owners should note that either of these actions may mean that an exhumation
licence is required to re-open the Grave for any purpose. As such Grave Owners
are advised to inter ashes within the Grave in a suitably robust container.
d) Place a Memorial on that Grave of authorised design, with or without inscription,
subject to these Rules and Regulations and to the approval by the Council
following the application for a Memorial Permit.
2.7 Purchase of the Exclusive Right of Burial and subsequent issue of a Deed of Grant
does not transfer ownership of any land. The Deed of Grant gives the Grave Owner
the legal right of burial in that Grave (subject to space being available) for the period of
time for which the Right is purchased.
2.8 All current cremated remains Graves for lease are offered in the Consecrated area.

Alterations to Arrangements
2.9 Once a booking for a burial has been made, no alteration of any details will be allowed
unless notice is given in writing to the Bereavement Services Manager at least two
10

Page 97

Working Days before the time booked for the funeral.
2.10 Any alteration or cancellation notified less than two Working Days before the service is
to take place will result in the appropriate fee being levied.
2.11 Any orders or instructions given by telephone are placed at the sole risk of the
applicant and must be confirmed via email or in writing within one Working Day of the
call.
2.12 The Council shall not be responsible for any misunderstandings or errors which may
arise unless the instructions are confirmed in writing in accordance with clause 2.11
above.

Certification
2.13 No burial will be permitted without production of the certificate for burial (green
certificate) and a statutory declaration certificate signed by a funeral director or other
person responsible for the arrangements of the person to be buried; or the Coroner’s
certificate where an inquest has been opened. The appropriate document(s) must be
submitted to the Bereavement Services Manager prior to a burial taking place.
2.14 The Council reserves the right to refuse burial to individuals who had a Notifiable
Disease at the time of death. The Bereavement Services Manager must be informed of
any persons who had died from a Notifiable Disease prior to funeral arrangements
being made.

Documents of Title for Burial
2.15 No Grave or Vault, to which the Exclusive Right of Burial has been granted, shall be
opened or re-opened without the production of the Deed of Grant and/or the written
consent of the Grave Owner(s).

Transfer of Burial Rights
2.16 Any transfer of the Exclusive Right of Burial shall not be deemed valid unless such a
transfer has been registered at the Cemetery office (an appointment may need to be
made to register such a transfer).
2.17 Where the current Grave Owner is alive and wishes to transfer ownership to another
person or persons, a Form of Assignment must be completed.
2.18 Transfer of Exclusive Right of Burial for a specific Grave may take place where the
registered Grave Owner is deceased, by submitting the following to the Cemetery
office:
a) Letters of Administration
b) Proof of a named Executor who may then decide on ownership
c) Completion of a Statutory Declaration.
Possession of a Deed of Grant does not necessarily give ownership of the Exclusive
Right of Burial. When a Grave Owner is deceased, the Council’s Transfer of Burial
Rights process will need to be carried out to establish a new “legal” Grave Owner.
2.19 All Graves and Vaults shall be opened and back-filled by Cemetery staff only. No
Grave or Vault shall be opened beyond a depth of seven feet except by special
permission. Ground conditions may prevent any specific depth being attained. No
coffin shall be buried in a Grave unless separated from any other coffin already in the
11

Page 98

Grave by means of a layer of earth not less than six inches in thickness.

Coffins
2.20 A Body will not be accepted for burial unless it is enclosed within a coffin that complies
with the current industry standard.
2.21 Interference of any description with a coffin or its fastenings, whether before or after
the committal, is not permitted within the Cemetery.
2.22 Cardboard, willow and homemade coffins will not be accepted for burial unless
authorised in writing in advance by the Bereavement Services Manager.
2.23 Only coffins of wood or other perishable material shall be used in an earthen Grave.
2.24 All coffins for burial must bear a nameplate or other suitable form of identification
which must contain the name of the deceased and the dates precisely as recorded on
the Certificate for Burial.
2.25 The nameplate must be witnessed by the Bereavement Services Manager before the
coffin is permitted to be removed from the hearse. Any discrepancies may result in the
funeral being postponed until the matter can be clarified.
2.26 It is the responsibility of the funeral director or other persons conducting the funeral to
ensure that enough people are available to transfer the coffin to the Graveside and
lower it into the Grave.
2.27 Coffins may be opened for viewing in the chapel only with prior notice to the office.
2.28 The person arranging the burial is responsible for the provision of the correct coffin or
casket measurements. In the event of a Grave being excavated to the wrong size due
to incorrect coffin measurements being provided then the Bereavement Services
Manager will need to review the situation. If it is possible to provide burial space within
a larger Grave, then this will be facilitated, and the additional fee for a larger coffin will
need to be paid. It may be necessary to relocate the burial to a more suitable part of
the Cemetery.
2.29 Except as provided for below, all bodies are to be brought into the Cemetery in
separate coffins. The only exceptions to this are:
a) When a mother with child dies in childbirth and the child also dies, both the mother
and child may be buried in the same coffin.
b) When twins or other multiple births die in childbirth, the babies may be placed in the
same coffin.
c) With advance authorisation in writing from the Bereavement Services Manager.

Unpaid fees
2.30 No Grave or Vault will be re-opened in respect of which any costs, fees or charges
remain unpaid.

Grave Maintenance
2.31 Any Grave in respect of which the Exclusive Right of Burial has been purchased shall
be maintained by the Grave Owner. This includes but is not limited to the repair of
Memorials, keeping the Grave area free of weeds, and ensuring that any plants,
flowers, shrubs or trees are pruned, lopped or cut back as and when required.
Memorials in the Consecrated area may require a Faculty for certain types of repair.
Enquire at the Cemetery office for more details.
12

Page 99

2.32 In the event that the Grave Owner fails to maintain the Grave as set out in Clause 2.31
above, the Council may carry out such work as it thinks fit.
2.33 Any costs incurred by the Council in exercising its powers under Clause 2.32 above
shall be recovered from the Grave Owner.
2.34 The Council reserves the right to prune or remove from any Grave plants, shrubs,
trees, cut flowers, artificial flowers or foliage of any sort which, in the opinion of the
Bereavement Services Manager, have become unsightly, overgrown or detrimental to
any adjoining Grave.
2.35 Wilted flowers, wreaths, shrubs, weeds or other items removed from a Grave must be
deposited in the bins provided on site.
2.36 Cemetery staff will clear away and dispose of any wilted flowers which have not been
removed from a Grave by the Grave Owner or other persons tending the Grave.
2.37 No soil is to be deposited in any bin.
2.38 Any items considered by the Bereavement Services Manager to present a hazard or
danger will be immediately removed without notice and stored for collection for a
period of one month. After this time they will be disposed of.
2.39 Christmas wreaths will be removed by the Cemetery staff at the end of January.
2.40 Permanent Grave mounds are not permitted and will be cleared or levelled by
Cemetery staff.
2.41 Grave Owners or anyone else tending a Grave are not permitted to use any herbicide
or pesticide within the Cemetery.
2.42 Immediately after a burial has taken place, the Cemetery staff will replace the soil and
a temporary soil mound will be formed, topped up and maintained as necessary for a
period of twelve months. This is to allow for any soil settlement.
2.43 When the mound has been formed, the Cemetery staff and/or funeral directors will
sensitively place all the floral tributes on and around the mound. A temporary wooden
Grave marker with the name of the deceased and the Grave number can be organised
and placed at the top of the Grave. The Grave marker may remain for twelve months
only.
2.44 After twelve months the Grave will be topped up as necessary, prior to installation of
the final Memorial.
2.45 If, during the twelve-month period, the Grave Owner has any concerns regarding the
level of the soil, they should contact the Cemetery office and an instruction will be
issued to top up as necessary.

Chippings
2.46 Any type of natural stone chipping is allowed, including but not limited to: slate,
limestone, Cotswold stone or marble. These must be enclosed in a traditional masonry
kerb surround. New kerb edging is not permitted.
2.47 Coloured glass chippings are not permitted.
2.48 Any glass chippings placed on a Grave will be removed by the Council and replaced
with a material of the Council’s choosing. The costs of carrying out this work will be
recovered from the Grave Owner.

13

Page 100

Grave Planting
2.49 For graves created since 1965, a small planting area is permitted in front of the
memorial, extending the width of the plot and up to two feet in front of the headstone.
2.50 The Council encourages the sowing of wildflower seed mixes or the planting of nectarrich perennials to benefit wildlife.
2.51 The Council also encourages the planting of bedding plants, bulbs, small patio roses
or similar. Any such plants must have non-invasive root systems.
2.52 All planting must be maintained by Grave Owners so that nothing exceeds two feet in
height.
2.53 The Council reserves the right to prune or remove any plant that does not comply with
these requirements. The costs of carrying out such work will be recovered from the
Grave Owner.

Cremated Remains Area
2.54 The Cremated Remains Area is a part of the Cemetery at Squares 44, 58 and 71.
2.55 The type of Memorial permitted in the area differs from the rest of the Consecrated
area. The area is Consecrated, but certain size restrictions are applicable in this area.
2.56 The maximum Memorial height permitted is 18’’, foundation width 24’’ x 24’’ and base
plate dimensions must not exceed 24’’ x 24’’ x 2’’.
2.57 Specific items are not permitted. These include polished granite, photo plaques, gold
leaf, abbreviated terms such as ‘Mum’, ‘Dad’ ‘Grandad’ etc., specific shaped stones,
e.g. heart, teddy bear etc., or any inscription which could be deemed as a message
from the living relatives to the deceased.

Greek Necropolis
2.58 The Greek Necropolis is an enclosed area of approximately one acre at Squares 27-29
and 41-43.
2.59 The area was acquired in stages from 1842 and was under the overall jurisdiction of
The Trustees of The Greek Cathedral Cemetery Enclosures Trust Fund until 2019
when control reverted to Lambeth Council. Burials and Memorial regulations have
always been in accord with those prevailing for the South Metropolitan Cemetery
Company Limited and after 1965, Lambeth Council.
2.60 The area is full and contains no space for new burials. Existing Grave owners may
exercise rights for further burials where space exists within the Grave.

St Mary-at-Hill Section
2.61 The St Mary-at-Hill Section at Square 19 was acquired by the City of London Parish of
St Mary-at-Hill for the purpose of the reburial of remains cleared from their churchyard.
2.62 The section was acquired in 1846 and remains under the jurisdiction of the Rector and
Churchwardens of the Parish of St Mary-at-Hill. The section was originally enclosed by
a wall, railings and gates which were unlawfully demolished by Lambeth Council
during the 1980s. Lambeth Council has acknowledged the unlawful demolition and
informally undertaken to reconstruct in replica. However, six Graves were inserted
illegally by Lambeth Council along the frontage to the St Mary-at-Hill Path.
14

Page 101

2.63 No burials may take place without the consent of the Rector and Churchwardens of the
Parish.

Catacombs
2.64 The Catacombs are underground burial chambers, constructed under the now
demolished Episcopalian Chapel at Squares 38 and 52. There is no regular public
access.
2.65 Separate regulations apply to the placing of a coffin in the Catacombs. The Cemetery
Office will provide a copy on request.

Removal of Remains
2.66 No coffin or human remains (including cremated remains) may be removed after burial
except with the licence of the Secretary of State or, where the burial is in consecrated
ground, under a Faculty issued by the Consistory Court.
2.67 An exhumation once licensed, must be arranged directly with the Bereavement
Services Manager.

15

Page 102

3. FUNERAL REGULATIONS
3.1 The Cemetery Office must be informed at least two Working Days before the service is
due when it is anticipated that there will be a large attendance at a funeral, so that we
can make arrangements to marshal parking and to ensure the service is not disrupted
or compromised.
3.2 In the event that a funeral party is running late the Bereavement Services Manager
must be notified by phone as soon as reasonably practicable. Any failures to attend a
funeral promptly may result in additional fees or charges becoming payable, e.g. where
the late attendance causes the Council to incur overtime costs.

Notice of Interment
3.3 Notice of interment must be given to the Bereavement Services Manager not less than
two Working Days before the time when the interment is to take place.
3.4 Notice of interment must be given on the Council’s standard interment form, which
must be completed in full.
3.5 Applications sent through the post are transmitted at the sender’s risk and the Council
does not accept any responsibility should they be delayed or lost. Applications or
instructions given by telephone will be received at the sole risk of the person making or
giving them. All such applications must be confirmed in writing to the Council using the
Interment form.
3.6 Interments to be held at short notice to meet religious requirements may be arranged at
the discretion of the Bereavement Services Manager.
3.7 A Registrar’s Certificate of Death, Coroner’s Order for Burial or Certificate of Disposal
of Ashes must be given to the officiating officer at the Cemetery preferably before the
time of interment. In the case of a stillborn child a Doctor’s Certificate will be accepted
in place of a Registrar’s Certificate.
3.8 In the event of an interment being postponed or cancelled with less than one Working
Days’ notice, the late cancellation fee becomes payable.

Documentation
3.9 All Notices of Interment and any other necessary forms (green certificate or Coroners
Order for Burial) must be received at the Cemetery Office by not later than:
a) two Working Days before burial in a Grave
b) five Working Days before interment in a Vault, or
c) at such other time as may be required by the Bereavement Services Manager.
3.10 Unless otherwise authorised by the Bereavement Services Manager, burials shall only
take place between 9am and 2pm.
3.11 Burials or cremations will take place on Working Days unless a Saturday or Sunday
service has been approved by the Bereavement Services Manager. Services taking
place on a Saturday or Sunday will be at an enhanced rate and the applicant informed
of that at the time.
3.12 No funeral will take place on a public holiday except in the case of a mass fatality or
other major incident.
3.13 The time stated on any documentation for a funeral shall be the time at which the
16

Page 103

procession is to arrive at the Cemetery or, if booked, the Cemetery chapel.

4. TRIBUTE REGULATIONS
4.1 Following burial, floral tributes must be carefully placed on or around a Grave by the
funeral director or mourners under the direction of Cemetery staff.
4.2 Anything attributed to the deceased, including fresh floral arrangements, left within the
Cemetery is done so at the risk of the persons placing them there. The Council accepts
no liability for the removal or disappearance of any items.
4.3 Any articles that stray from Graves will be disposed of.
4.4 The Council reserves the right to remove any neglected, unsightly, broken, dilapidated,
dangerous or unsafe articles or materials from any Grave, or any article or material
considered by the Bereavement Services Manager to be a nuisance, detrimental to the
appearance of good order in the Cemetery, or in breach of Lambeth Council’s
environmental standards, without notice. This includes solar lights and other forms of
lighting, candles, candle holders, plastic or silk flowers, pinwheels, lighters and
matches. This list is not exhaustive.
4.5 Glass pots, jars, bottles, vases or tins and other such articles used to contain plants or
flowers, are not permitted in the Cemetery and should they be found, they will be
removed without notice.
4.6 Floral tributes placed on a Grave immediately following a burial will be left in situ for 14
days and then removed. If they are placed in a container, the container may also be
disposed of. The Council needs to maintain the grounds and items extending beyond a
Grave Space will be moved fully onto the Grave or removed and stored for collection
for a period of one month. After this they will be disposed of.
4.7 Trees or shrubs must not be used to support or hang any items. Items found in breach
of this provision will be immediately removed once identified and stored for collection
for a period of one month. After this they will be disposed of.
4.8 No form of personalisation will be permitted in or around the Grave, including but not
limited to planting shrubs or placing seating around the perimeter.

17

Page 104

5. MEMORIAL REGULATIONS
5.1 Due to the Council’s responsibility for the safety of Memorials, the planting of any large
shrub, tree, or conifer is not permitted as, over time, the roots could eventually
undermine the foundation of a Memorial thereby affecting its stability. If these are
planted, the Council reserves the right to remove such plants without notice.
5.2 Memorials will be permitted to remain on the Grave for the duration of the Memorial
Rights period granted. Memorial Rights are granted for a set duration from the date of
the erection of the Memorial. It is possible to renew memorial Rights at the time of
expiry; and enquiry should be made via the Cemetery office if an invitation to renew
has not been received.
5.3 Memorial installation works must be carried out in accordance with BS8415 or higher
(or any subsequent standard that may be approved at the time of installation) and any
Industry Standard or Code of Working Practice that complies and conforms with
BS8415 or higher (or any subsequent standard that may be approved at the time of
installation).
5.4 Only BRAMM (British Register of Accredited Memorial Masons) or NAMM (National
Association of Memorial Masons) registered Memorial masons will be allowed to carry
out work in the Cemetery.
5.5 To ensure high standards of Memorial installation are maintained, all new Memorials
are tested approximately two months after the date of installation. If any problems are
identified, the Memorial mason will be contacted and will be required to carry out any
necessary repairs.
5.6 No Memorial shall be altered or interfered with once erected in the Cemetery
according to the design submitted nor shall any additional inscription be added. At the
discretion of the Bereavement Services Manager, any Memorial not conforming to the
approved design submitted will be removed and the cost recovered from the Grave
Owner. An additional Memorial permit application must be made for any new
inscription to a Memorial.
5.7 A Memorial is the sole responsibility of the Grave Owner. The Council shall not be
responsible for any damage, breakage or theft caused by third parties. This includes
any personal items or plants placed on the Grave.
5.8 Following an interment, no Memorial can be installed until the ground has settled
sufficiently. This will be between six and twelve months from the date of burial. The
Bereavement Services Manager will determine when a site is ready for a Memorial to
be installed.
5.9 No works to a Memorial or other structure shall be permitted within the Cemetery or at
its entrance without the permission of the Bereavement Services Manager. All
materials, Memorials, Vaults and such like items shall be conveyed into the Cemetery
along the main roads or footpaths, by or in such a manner as the Bereavement
Services Manager may direct.
5.10 Temporary wooden crosses will be permitted to remain on a Grave for a period of 12
months from the date of interment. Any such crosses found after this time will be
removed by the Council unless written agreement from the Archdeacon for the cross to
remain for a further specified period has been received at the Cemetery Office.
5.11 Memorials must be kept in good order and repair to the satisfaction of the Council and
at the expense of the Grave Owner. Grave Owners are liable for any damage or injury
caused by the failure, collapse or toppling of their Memorial.
18

Page 105

5.12 The Council will undertake regular safety assessments of Memorials to determine
necessary health and safety or repair works.
5.13 Where repairs are required by Clause 5.12 above the Council shall give written notice
to the Grave Owner setting out what needs to be undertaken and the time limit by
which any such works are to be commenced and completed.
5.14 If any repairs are not commenced and completed within the time specified in any such
notice served pursuant to Clause 5.13 above or within any period of extension that may
have been agreed in writing by the Council, the Council may cause the same to be
repaired, or the Memorial to be removed. The Grave Owner will be liable for any costs
incurred.
5.15 If the name and address of the Grave Owner cannot be ascertained upon reasonable
enquiry the notice required by this regulation may be given by posting the same upon
the Grave Space in question and shall be deemed to have been served six weeks after
being first posted thereon.
5.16 The type and size of a Memorial will depend on the sections of the Cemetery and may
alter from time to time. All information relating to the types and sizes available can be
obtained from the Cemetery office.
5.17 In the event of a Grave being re-opened for an additional burial, the Memorial must be
removed before Grave-digging operations can commence. The applicant or Grave
Owner is responsible for all related costs. The Memorial must be removed at least two
Working Days before the funeral, or by such other time as the Bereavement Services
Manager may direct.
5.18 Applications may be considered for a vase or a tablet on a Grave where there is
limited space for further inscriptions. This will be reviewed on a case by case basis.
5.19 From time to time to facilitate a burial on a Grave nearby, a Memorial may be
temporarily removed or moved to one side to allow the burial to take place.
5.20 The Council may remove, re-fix or make safe any Memorial for any reason.
5.21 The Council will not be responsible for any damage to a Grave occasioned by storm,
wind, heavy rain, lightening, subsidence or any other similar cause. This includes any
Memorial, tablet, stone, tree, shrub or any item placed on the Grave. This also applies
to any unauthorised items on the Grave.

Applying for Memorials
5.22 All applications for Memorial works must be made on the Council’s standard Memorial
permit form. The application must be signed by the Grave Owner.
5.23 The form must also be signed by the approved Memorial mason and submitted to the
Bereavement Services Manager for approval. The form includes a requirement to
provide an illustration of the Memorial and full dimensions.
5.24 No work will be permitted to commence on site unless a Memorial permit has been
issued.
5.25 All work carried out must comply with and conform to the Memorial permit. Any failure
to do so must be corrected immediately by the Memorial mason. If it is not, Cemetery
staff will arrange removal of the Memorial and all costs will be charged to the Grave
Owner.
5.26 Memorial masons must produce the Memorial permit to the Cemetery office prior to
commencing any installation work. Failure to do so may result in revocation of the
permit.
19

Page 106

5.27 The Council reserves the right to revoke any Memorial permit upon reasonable notice
in writing.
5.28 The Bereavement Services Manager reserves the right to remove anything installed
without written consent or which varies from a written consent and to charge for the
cost of removal.

Inscriptions
5.29 It is the responsibility of applicants for any form of Memorial inscription to ensure that
there is no infringement of any copyright. No responsibility is accepted by the Council in
the event of any such infringement.
5.30 Any proposed inscription must be submitted to the Bereavement Services Manager by
the Memorial mason on the Memorial permit application form. Where an inscription is
proposed in any language other than English, an English translation must also be
submitted.
5.31 The Bereavement Services Manager reserves the right to refuse any inscription.
5.32 The inscription contained on the Memorial to be installed must accord precisely with
the inscription submitted in the proposal. In the event of any discrepancy the Council
reserves the right to take action as described in clause 5.27 above.
5.33 When creating inscriptions for Memorials in the Consecrated area, the following
guidance might assist with the choice of wording and other details:








a Memorial is a statement of record about the deceased
the full name of the deceased should be included
any alternative name or nickname should be within inverted commas or
brackets
dates of birth and death
the use of ‘age ... years’ should be avoided
the terms ‘Dad’ and ‘Mum’ or similar should be avoided
any epitaph should be apt and fitting; and messages should be avoided.

The formal guidance of the Diocese of Southwark in the Churchyards Regulations (as
modified) can be provided on request at the Cemetery office.
5.34 In respect of any unlisted headstone introduced within the period of 50 years prior to 3
February 1997, one or more additions to the inscription each of not more than 25
words (to include dates) may be made; or one or more supplementary memorials each
of lesser dimensions than the headstone may be introduced providing that the
lettering, layout, wording and materials used are consistent with the original inscription
and headstone.

Installation of Memorials
5.35 Memorials may only be erected on Graves for which the Exclusive Right of Burial has
been purchased. On the completion of the installation, a Deed of Grant for the
Memorial Rights shall be issued to the person by whom or on whose behalf such right
is purchased, and such person shall be registered in the books of the Council as the
owner of the right. The Deed of Grant must be carefully preserved by the owner of the
Memorial as this will be required for any new works, or for renewal of the Memorial
Rights. The Memorial Rights shall be granted for a period not exceeding 25 years in the
first instance, at the expiration of which the Memorial must pass a safety and stability
inspection to allow the period of the grant to be extended for either a further five or ten
20

Page 107

year period on payment of the appropriate fee. If the Memorial Rights are not extended,
they will expire and the Council reserves the right to remove the Memorial at any time
without the provision of further notice.

Power to Regulate Position of Memorials
5.36 The Council reserves the right to require any Memorial to be installed in any position on
a Grave as it thinks fit.

Dimensions and Types of Memorials
5.37 New Memorials may only take the form of a vertical headstone, a vertical headstone on
a horizontal stone base, a horizontal stone slab or a simple timber cross. Physical
kerbs of any kind are not permitted. Any other Memorial shall only be introduced into
the Cemetery with the authority of a Faculty.
5.38 In the case of a Memorial consisting of a vertical headstone, with or without a horizontal
stone base:


the maximum height of the vertical stone above ground level must be between
500mm and 1200mm;



the width must be between 500mm and 900mm;



the thickness in the case of a slate Memorial must be between 40mm and
150mm, or in any other case between 75mm and 150mm; and



any foundation slab must be located so that its upper surface is either flush with
the surrounding ground level or at least 300mm beneath it.

5.39 In the case of a Memorial consisting of a vertical headstone on a horizontal slab:


the base must be an integral part of the design;



the base slab must not be more than 225mm high;



where it incorporates a receptacle for a flower vase, there can only be provision
for one such vase, which must be sunk into and flush with the base stone;



where it incorporates a receptacle for a flower vase, the base must not project
more than 200mm beyond the face of the vertical stone; and



in any other case, it must not project more than 100mm in any other direction.

5.40 In the case of a Memorial consisting of a horizontal slab, it must be no more than
600mm wide and 1800mm long; and its upper surface must be flush with the
surrounding ground.
5.41 A planting area in front of the memorial is permitted, extending no more than the width
of the grave and no more than two feet from the memorial.

Memorial Materials
5.42 All Memorials must be made of terracotta, brick, natural granite, marble or quarried
stone (but not Bath, Caen, Clipsham or soft sandstone) or of such other material

21

Page 108

capable of withstanding continuous exposure to the weather as the Council may
approve.
5.43 The Council may reject any Memorial made of any materials which, in the opinion of
the Bereavement Services Manager, are unsuitable or incongruous with their
surroundings.
5.44 Memorials constructed from stone with a highly polished reflective finish are not
permitted.

Fencing
5.45 Wooden or plastic edging, or any other garden-style fencing or edging around Grave
plots is not permitted and will be removed without notice by Cemetery staff.

Marking of Memorials
5.46 All Memorials must bear the square and number of the Grave in clear, legible lettering
not less than three-quarters of an inch in height in a conspicuous position.
5.47 The Council reserves the right to place its mark or reference on any Memorial to that
Grave. Such mark shall not be removed except by or upon order of the Bereavement
Services Manager.
5.48 The name only of the mason may be inscribed on a Memorial but the lettering must not
exceed three-quarters of an inch in height.
5.49 There are Commonwealth War Grave markers at various locations throughout the
Cemetery. It is an offence to move, remove, or re-level any Commonwealth War Grave
Memorial maintained by the Commonwealth War Graves Commission, without first
obtaining the Commission’s consent. Please note that this applies to all Commonwealth
War Graves regardless of how they are commemorated, i.e. with a Commission
headstone or private family Memorial. This also applies to any other structure, path or
plant maintained by the Commission.

Foundations
5.50 Only foundations conforming to the NAMM code of working practice may be used and
must be of such size as is necessary to carry the weight of the Memorial to the
satisfaction of the Bereavement Services Manager.

Dowels and Cramps
5.51 All metal dowels and cramps shall be of smooth or threaded solid stainless steel,
copper or galvanised iron and installed according to the NAMM code of working
practice. Kerbs and posts must be set at ground level and must be properly dowelled
and grooved for adequate drainage. Headstones must be securely dowelled to landings
and properly fixed to any kerbs by means of a substantial cramp.

Removal of Memorials
5.52 No monument shall be removed from the Cemetery except by special order from the
Bereavement Services Manager.
22

Page 109

5.53 Any application to remove a Memorial shall be signed by the Grave Owner and shall be
submitted to the Bereavement Services Manager prior to such removal.
5.54 All necessary work to any Memorial so removed shall be executed and re-installation or
replacement completed without delay and to the complete satisfaction of the
Bereavement Services Manager.
5.55 The Council reserves to itself and its employees, servants and agents the right to
remove any Memorial from an adjoining Grave to facilitate an interment if this should be
necessary. In the event of such action being necessary the cost of such works shall be
borne by the person arranging the interment.
Internal and External Walls of Buildings
5.56 The placing of a Memorial on any building, wall or structure is strictly prohibited except
in the allocated Memorial areas.

23

Page 110

6. WORK IN THE CEMETERY
General
6.1 All work shall proceed diligently and be completed with due dispatch from day to day
(weather permitting) until completed, and without causing any disturbance or
annoyance to any person or damage or interference with other Grave Spaces in the
Cemetery or the monuments, Gravestones and tablets installed thereon; or the permit
issued for the installation or placing of such Memorial, Gravestone or tablet will
automatically become void.

Hours Permitted for Work
6.2 No operative or materials will be admitted into the Cemetery before 8am and operatives
may not remain after 4.30pm (4pm from 30 November to 31 January). No operative or
materials will be admitted within the Cemetery other than on Working Days unless
authorised in writing by the Bereavement Services Manager.
6.3 Work under a Memorial permit may be executed only during the hours specified in this
regulation.

Handcarts and Other Vehicles
6.4 No handcart, truck, barrow or other vehicle shall be allowed to remain within the
Cemetery longer than reasonably necessary for loading or unloading. This regulation
shall not prevent the use of a handcart or barrow as shall be reasonably necessary
exclusively for monumental or masonry work or in connection with the planting of
shrubs or flowers on Graves, but such handcarts or barrows shall not be allowed to
remain in the Cemetery overnight nor during such time as they are not actually in use
except with the permission of the Bereavement Services Manager. At no time shall any
such handcart or barrow be drawn across any Grave and all precautions shall be taken
to prevent any damage to any part of the Cemetery. All handcarts and barrows must
have tyres of not less than four inches in width.

Hewing and Dressing of Stone
6.5 No hewing or dressing of stone shall take place in the Cemetery without the permission
of the Bereavement Services Manager.

24

Page 111

7. MISCELLANEOUS REGULATIONS
Chapel Services
7.1 The time allowed for a service is thirty minutes. If an organist is required, this must be
arranged by the funeral director or other person(s) arranging the funeral. If additional
time is required, this must be booked at least two Working Days before the proposed
burial. Additional charges will apply as per the current fees and charges schedule.
7.2

The chapel is available for viewings and other funerary arrangement with fees as set
by the current price list.

Ministers
7.3 Ministers shall be appointed by the funeral director or other person(s) arranging the
funeral.

Grave Depth Test
7.4 Grave depth tests may be carried out by the Council upon application by the Grave
Owner. A fee will be payable.

Filming and Commercial Photography
7.5 Applications for filming and commercial photography must be made via Lambeth’s Film
Office and the appropriate fee paid. The approval of the Bereavement Services
Manager must be obtained before any commercial filming or photography takes place
in the Cemetery. Filming of a funeral or burial is only permitted if it has been arranged
by the family, or they have given consent. Lambeth staff would need to give their
consent before being filmed. No other commercial filming of funerals is permitted.

Music
7.6 No music audible to other people in the Cemetery will be allowed within the boundary
of the Cemetery without the authority of the Bereavement Services Manager, unless it
forms part of a Memorial or funeral service.

Removal of Wreaths after Remembrance Day and other occasions
7.7 Wreaths placed around the Cross of Sacrifice and Screen Wall at the entrance to the
Cemetery will be removed by 31 December.
7.8 Wreaths placed in commemoration of other events such as VE Day or specific battles
will be removed after six weeks.

Scattering of Cremated Remains
7.9 The scattering of cremated remains is not permitted in any part of the Cemetery other
than:


within or on top of an existing Grave with current Exclusive Rights of Burial (and
this must be with the signature of the Grave Owner on an interment form or
25

Page 112

ashes instruction form)


in the Memorial Garden (by appointment)



on a designated scattering lawn (by appointment)

Temporary Hazard Warning
7.10 The Council reserves the right to erect (with or without notice) temporary hazard
warning signs and barriers around any Grave that needs to be opened for a burial or
where a Memorial presents, in the Council’s absolute discretion, an imminent risk to
public safety.

26

Page 113

8. FEES AND CHARGES
8.1 Fees for Bereavement Services are reviewed annually and are payable for:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

Exclusive Rights of Burial
An interment
Scattering or retention of cremated remains
Memorial permits
Erection of a Memorial on a Grave – purchase and renewal of Memorial rights
Chapel hire
Exhumation
Maintenance and planting on plots
Grave depth checks
Administrative work.

8.2 A schedule of fees is available on the Council’s website and upon request from the
Cemetery office.
8.3 Extra but reduced charge will be made for additional burials in the same Grave at the
same time on the same day.
8.4 Requests to place cremated remains in a coffin must be notified to the Cemetery
office. A cremation certificate must be provided at least two Working Days in advance,
in accordance with all other paperwork.
8.5 Burial fees for persons who were not residents of Lambeth or Wandsworth at the time
of death are higher than fees for residents of these boroughs.
8.6 All fees due will be required at the point of booking a funeral or making an application
for a Memorial or any other service and must be paid in advance – credit and debit
cards are preferred although cash or cheques (Bankers Draft) are accepted.

27

Page 114

9. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
9.1 The Council has adopted the ICCM Charter for the Bereaved, which represents an
ongoing commitment to improving the standards of the Cemetery service to the
bereaved. The Charter defines the rights of every individual who experiences
bereavement, recognises their needs and rights; and seeks to support the bereaved in
the standards of the service we provide.
9.2 It is the right under the Charter of the Bereaved for any individual to complain in the
event of any dissatisfaction or failure relating to their rights not being offered by the
Council. Charter Rights can be obtained from the Cemetery office or from the ICCM
website.
9.3 The Council also operates its own complaints procedure in respect of which an
information leaflet is available upon request from the Cemetery office. Complaints can
also be registered via the Council’s website at: www.lambeth.gov.uk.

28

Page 115

Proposal Title *
New Regulations for West Norwood Cemetery

Author
Kevin Crook
Please provide name of lead author and/or those within project team who may be required to contribute to this assessment

Who will sign off the assessment?
Venetia Reid‐Baptiste
Please indicate who will be involved in approving this assessment. This will need to be signed off by the designated Head of Service or
Director

Q1a. What is changing?
The existing Regulations covering all Lambeth's cemeteries are being updated with separate Regulations for each
cemetery. This EIA relates specifically to the new Regulations for West Norwood Cemetery. The new Regulations are
not fundamentally different, but provide more detail, address some additional issues, tighten up on dealing with
commonly experienced problems; and allow bicycles to be used for visiting graves or the crematorium.

What is the most significant or key change taking place? Can you indicate the type of change in your response ﴾e.g.
policy/decision/strategy/ service/procedural/ geographic/procurement etc.﴿ so it is clear what is being equalities
assessed? Why is this change happening? What do you aim to achieve? Can you clearly indicate what decision‐makers
are being asked to take a decision on?

Read more

Q1b. Who will be involved in approving this decision?
Democratic Services, Legal Services, Finance, Strategic Director, Cabinet
Member, Scheme of Management Committee
Who else will be involved in signing‐off this decision?

Read more

Q2a. What do we know about the people who will be impacted by this
Page 116
change?
We do not hold demographic data on people visiting our cemeteries. There will be minimal change affecting
cemetery users.

What does your information tell you about the people who will affected by this change? Are protected groups
impacted? What information do you hold on the protected characteristics of the people affected by the change? ﴾Age,
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
health, socio‐economic, language﴿ Are there any gaps or missing information?

Read more

Q2b. How will they be impacted by the change?
It is unlikely that anyone will be impacted by the implementation of the new Regulations. The key issues affecting
cemetery visitors are already in the current Regulations. The only significant change is that bicycles will be allowed
as transport to a funeral or for visiting a grave.

Would you assess the impact as positive, adverse, neutral? Do you have any uncertainty about the impact of your
proposal? Is there a likelihood that some people will more impacted than others? Can you describe the ways in which
they will be affected? How might this change affect our ‘general duty’

Read more

Q3a. How do you plan to promote and deliver any positive impacts of the
proposal?
The Regulations have been promoted locally in Norwood via the Norwood Forum. There are no significant positive
changes which we will look to specifically promote. A summary of the key points of the Regulations will be
available from the cemetery office

How might the principles of fairness, equality of opportunity and positive
relationships be further promoted as a consequence of this proposal? How
do you propose to measure your positive outcomes and the benefits outlined
to find out if these have been achieved?

Read more

Q3b How do you plan to address and mitigate any negative impacts of the
proposal?
No negative impacts are anticipated

What impact has this evidence had on what you are proposing? What can you do differently that might lessen the
impact on people within the timeframes i.e. development‐implementation? Who can help you to develop these
solutions?

Read More

Q4. How will you review/evaluate your proposal, mitigating actions and/or
benefits? Who will be responsible for this?

The Bereavement Services Manager will evaluate any changes arising from implementation of the new Regulations.
Anything of note will be reported to the Scheme of Management Committee for the cemetery and/or the Shadow
Strategic Partnership Board

Page 117

Who will you be accountable to for the above actions/outcome? How will those responsible know these actions have
worked? What performance indicators will you use to demonstrate this? Are there any other forms of evidence you can
use to support this assessment of their effectiveness?

Read more

Section to be completed by Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Outcome of equality impact assessment

Read more

Comments from Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Submit for approval
Submit for approval

Executive Approval
Approved

Attachments
Close

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 119

Agenda Item 11

South Metropolitan (West Norwood) Cemetery
Principles, Policies and Procedures for the Reuse of Graves

August 2020
This document sets out Principles, Policies and Procedures for grave reuse at West Norwood Cemetery.

Page 120

Contents
PART 1:

PRINCIPLES

1.

Introduction........................................................................................ 3

2.

Key Principles in the Reuse of Public and Private Graves ................. 3

3.

Strategy and Conservation Planning.................................................. 4

PART 2:

POLICIES

4.

Legal and Faculty .............................................................................. 6

5.

Notifications and Objections .............................................................. 8

PART 3

PROCEDURES

6.

Overview ........................................................................................... 9

7.

Early Stage Procedures: Records Review and Plans ...................... 10

8.

Early Stage Procedures: On-Site Survey and Categorisation .......... 12

9.

Access Considerations .................................................................... 15

10.

Searches and Notifications .............................................................. 16

11.

Detail Procedures – Private Graves ................................................. 19

12.

Detail Procedures – Public Graves .................................................. 22

13.

Reuse Protocols .............................................................................. 22

14.

Pre-sale Preparation and Restoration and Custody of Memorials .... 26

15.

Regulations for Memorials ............................................................... 27

16.

Training ........................................................................................... 27

17.

Records and Record Keeping .......................................................... 27

Tables
Table 1

‘Potential’ Private Graves for Reuse: Categories ............................. 13

Table 2

Summary of Notices 1976 Act, 2007 Act ........................................ 18

Figures
6.1

Overview of Procedures (Early Stages) ............................................. 9

6.2

Overview of Procedures (Late Stages) ............................................ 10

11.1

Implementation of Reuse of Private Graves..................................... 20

11.2

Implementation of Reuse of Private Graves by Category................. 21

12.1

Implementation of Reuse of Public Graves ...................................... 22

2

Page 121

PART 1: PRINCIPLES
1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Terms of Reference

1.1.1

This document sets out principles, policies and procedures for grave reuse at the
South Metropolitan Cemetery. Throughout this document the cemetery will be
referred to using its informal title of West Norwood Cemetery. It is designed to be
read as part of a Funerary Plan, which sets out how the Cemeteries operate in more
general terms.

1.1.2

The London Borough of Lambeth (LBL) administers the day-to-day functions of the
cemetery whilst being held to account by the West Norwood Cemetery Scheme of
Management Committee (SoMC) and advised by the Management Advisory Group.
This document has been produced under the guidance of, and with the authority of,
the SoMC.

2.0

KEY PRINCIPLES FOR THE REUSE OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE GRAVES

2.1

Key Principles

2.1.1

The key principles in respect of the reuse of public and private graves at West
Norwood Cemetery are:
a) reuse shall only take place where the last burial took place more than 75 years
ago;
b) there shall be no reuse of graves where records are such that there is
uncertainty as to whether they fully qualify;
c) reuse of public and private graves shall only take place where the procedures
set out in this document are followed in full, and where no objections to their
reuse have been received;
d) graves shall not be the subject of reuse where monuments or memorials are
listed under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
(‘Listed’);
e) where located in consecrated areas reuse will only take place as permitted in
accordance with a Faculty from the Consistory Court;
f)

in un-consecrated areas, reuse will only take place as permitted by, and fully in
accordance with, the provisions of legislation which is applicable at the time of
the proposed reuse;

g) there shall be no reuse of graves that fall under the jurisdiction of the
Commonwealth War Graves Commission;
3

Page 122

h) graves within the St Mary-at-Hill section and graves within the enclosure under
the control of the Greek Orthodox church are excluded from any proposals for
re-use;
i)

graves that were illegally re-used prior to 1994 are excluded from any proposals
for re-use;

j)

graves that were designated for use for the interment of cremated remains prior
to 1994 are excluded from any proposals for re-use;

k) the Council shall treat all graves that were created prior to the 1965 conveyance
that are not excluded by a) to j) (in areas under consideration for reuse) as
having potentially been granted rights in perpetuity. As such, where seeking to
pursue reclamation or reuse the Council will seek to extinguish such rights under
the 1976 Act regardless of whether it can establish that such rights were
granted.

3.0

STRATEGY AND CONSERVATION PLANNING

3.1

Reuse and the Land Management Strategy

3.1.1

Section 23 of the terms of reference of the Scheme of Management 1997 (as
amended 2006) set out obligations as follows:
23. The Committee will ensure that the existing 19th century character of the
Cemetery is maintained, and that the Cemetery is managed in line with this
Scheme of Management and the Council's approved Land Management
Strategy, which aims to strike a balance between the need to:
(a) protect its heritage of fine memorials and tombs (including a number of
listed structures);
(b) preserve and enhance its character as a Conservation Area; and
(c) maintain the Cemetery for continuing burials and cremations subject to
paragraphs 15 to 19 in section C above.

3.1.2

This document is integral to the Land Management Strategy for the cemetery. The
observance of these reuse principles and policies, and the implementation of reuse
procedures shall be fully in accordance with the strategy.

3.1.3

The broad strategy for reuse in terms of which areas are deemed most suitable and
to be prioritised will have been considered and determined beforehand, informed by
an overall understanding of public/private status, consecration status, and age profile
of graves taking account of matters of significance highlighted within the Land

4

Page 123

Management Strategy. Consideration will also have been given to access (see
below) and memorial regulations (see below).

Public Graves
3.1.4

Public graves, of known age (and in areas where all graves are older than 75 years
old) and where generally free of memorials, are to be prioritised for reuse. Here a
completely new burial layout is superimposed over the old.

Private Graves
3.1.5

Areas of private graves where densely set with kerbset memorials shall be
considered for reuse. Comprehensive reuse of the whole of such an area (at a time
when all or nearly all of the graves within that area are old enough) is the preferred
approach for a number of reasons, as outlined in: Technical Guidance on the Re-use
and Reclamation of Graves in London Local Authority Cemeteries (LEDNET 2013).
If that comprehensive approach is not possible, reusing graves on a row by row
basis or in or clusters is to be favoured over a random opportunistic approach to
reuse. Such a random (scattergun) approach can give difficulties in terms of
achieving access and can reduce achievable reuse potential in the long term. In
densely set kerbset areas the precise pattern of selection of graves will be informed
largely by age profile of graves, how access can be achieved, and by what
memorials will be suitable and permitted after reuse.

3.1.6

Areas of private graves where there have previously been clearances of memorials,
and where access is consequently less of a constraint, or where layouts are highly
irregular, may also be prioritised for reuse alongside dense kerbset areas, subject to
careful assessment as set out below.

5

Page 124

PART 2:

POLICIES

4.0

LEGAL AND FACULTY

4.1

Legislative Framework

4.1.1

Legal considerations in respect of the reuse of graves relate to:


whether graves are public graves (for which no-one has purchased a right of
burial) or private graves (for which a right of burial has been purchased);



whether there any other contractual rights over the graves, relating to
maintenance, rights of interment, memorial rights, or other agreements made
between the Council and any other party;



Section 9 of The Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 1976 (the ‘1976
Act’) (which provides for cancellation of private rights);



Section 74 of The London Local Authorities Act 2007 (the ‘2007 Act’) (which
provides for re-use of graves after cancellation of rights under the 1976 Act);



The South Metropolitan Cemetery Act of 1836 (under which the cemetery was
established);



Section 25 of the Burial Act of 1857 (as amended by the Church of England
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Measure 2014);



other Burial Acts;



whether or not the ground is consecrated;



the Open Spaces Act 1906;



any Consistory Court Rulings as may relate to consecrated parts of the
Cemetery, including those of 1994 and 2000;



any Faculty relating to specific graves or memorials.

Reclamation and Reuse
4.1.2

There is sometimes confusion and/or misunderstanding as to the different processes
and terminology involved.


Reclamation refers to burial into unused space (depth) in graves where the last
interment was at least 75 years prior to the new burial. Generally, this involves
the cancellation of private burial rights where previously held on those graves,
and removal of any memorial. Because of the limited depth over existing burials,
reclamation often involves only a single new burial per grave.



Reclamation is also used to refer to burial within private plots previously
purchased in advance where there has been no previous burial and where any
rights over that plot have been extinguished.
6

Page 125



Reclamation is also sometimes used to refer to burial over Public graves where
there is sufficient depth to conduct new burials without disturbance of existing
remains (usually because of an accumulation of topsoil that may have occurred
historically over Public graves).



Reuse involves the disturbance of remains and may take place in consecrated
public graves (under Faculty) or in a private grave under Faculty (where
consecrated) or under the 2007 Act (where not consecrated) after the
cancellation of any rights appertaining to that grave.

4.1.3

In some instances, it may be appropriate to cancel rights, offer burial, and reclaim a
grave but, due to ground or other conditions, not proceed to full reuse involving
disturbance.

4.1.4

Policies are set out below in italics and denoted P1, P2 etc.

4.2

Consecrated Areas:

P1

The consecration status of each individual grave shall be checked in the records
before proceeding.

P2

The only circumstance where a public grave can be reused is where it is situated in a
consecrated area and where reuse is with permission from the Consistory Court.

P3

Private graves located within consecrated land will only be reused by means of, and
subject to, consent under Faculty from the Consistory Court.

P4

Applications for reuse to the Consistory Court shall not include ‘blanket’
arrangements covering the whole or significant parts of the Cemetery and should
instead be made for defined and specific sections, or parts of sections of the
Cemetery.

4.3

Private Graves and Extinguishment of Rights

P5

The 1976 Act shall be used to cancel contractual rights prior to reclamation or reuse
in both consecrated and un-consecrated areas.

P6

Checks shall be made as to the existence, location, status and condition of graves
and available space as they exist on the ground prior to cancelling rights.

P7

The 1976 Act shall only be used strictly in accordance with the aims set out in
Section 23 of the terms of reference of the Scheme of Management 1997 (as
amended 2006); and must only be applied as required to deliver targeted reuse (and
shall not be used to extinguish rights on a widespread basis).

7

Page 126

P8

Checks shall be made of all pre-existing contractual rights relating to both the initial
purchase and subsequent transferrals of private graves, including checking whether
those rights were in perpetuity or otherwise.

P9

Checks shall be made for any maintenance or other agreements of private graves,
including checking whether those rights were in perpetuity or otherwise.

P10

Checks shall be made in respect of public graves to ascertain whether any “private”
rights may have been sold over graves.

4.4

Reuse and Disturbance of Remains
Reuse of Private Graves under Faculty – Consecrated Areas

P11

A process of ‘lift and deepen’ shall be employed for the reuse of graves in
consecrated areas subject to Consistory Court approval (in accord with the 1857 Act
(as amended). Faculty application for reuse should only be made after the minimum
notification period has elapsed and rights cancelled.

Reuse of Private Graves under section 74 of the 2007 Act
P12

A process of ‘lift and deepen’ shall be employed for the reuse of graves in unconsecrated areas in accordance with the 2007 Act (and subject to rights of
interment in private graves having been extinguished under the 1976 Act).
Public graves in non-consecrated land

P13

Reuse of public graves in non-consecrated land shall not take place.

5.0

NOTIFICATIONS AND OBJECTIONS

5.1

Notifications and Objections

5.1.1

The 1976 Act and the 2007 Act, and Faculty procedures require a system of
notification procedures. In addition to these formal procedures prior attempts shall be
made in advance of serving notices to trace and contact living relatives.

P14

Notification procedures in respect of the 1976 Act and the 2007 Act (as applicable),
shall have been followed in full prior to the cancellation of rights and prior to reuse
(respectively) in un-consecrated areas.

P15

Cancellation of rights under the 1976 Act and reuse under the 2007 Act shall only
progress subject to there being no outstanding objections from owners or heirs to

8

Page 127

exclusive rights of burial, or from registered owners of memorials, or from relatives to
those interred, or other objections, as prescribed by the Acts.

P16

Reuse further to a Faculty from the Consistory Court shall only progress subject to
all the notification procedures prescribed by the Faculty having been followed in full.

P17

Reuse further to a Faculty from the Consistory Court shall only progress subject to
there being no outstanding objections, and as prescribed by the Faculty.

9

Page 128

PART 3: PROCEDURES
6.0

OVERVIEW

6.1.1

Figures 6.1 and 6.2 set out an overview of the processes to be followed in
progressing reuse:

Figure 6.1: Overview of Procedures (Early Stages)

10

Page 129

Figure 6.2: Overview of Procedures (Late Stages)

7.0

EARLY STAGE PROCEDURES: RECORDS REVIEW AND PLANS

7.1

Stage 1: Searching and Transcribing Records, Setting out a Reuse Schedule
Approach

7.1.1

A thorough records review shall be conducted as set out below. Where there is any
uncertainty as to the identity and/or age of any grave on account of anomalies
between plans and records, or on account of difficulties in reading historic records,
then those graves shall not be proposed for reuse.
Schedule

7.1.2

Set out a Schedule of all the grave numbers in any given area under consideration.

7.1.3

Transcribe records for these graves held in the ‘Register of Graves’ and ‘Purchase
Registers’ and ‘Burial Register’ onto a schedule.

7.1.4

Investigate and correct anomalies where possible.

7.1.5

Exclude graves where anomalies cannot be resolved.

7.1.6

Refine to give a Reuse Schedule for the area under consideration.

7.2

Stage 2: Burial Plans, Draft Reuse Plan

7.2.1

Re-create/re-draft a digital version of the historic Burial Plans incorporating the areas
/sections considered. Show grave numbers clearly. (Plan 1 Draft Reuse Plan).
Where practicable for private graves show the family surname of the owner or last
interred.

11

Page 130

7.2.2

Where burial areas are irregular and/or complex in their physical nature, and/or have
been subject to widespread clearances, and/or include significant trees, use a
detailed topographic survey, overlaid over the historic burial plans, to recreate a
more accurate Draft Reuse Burial Plan.

7.3

Stage 3: Public/Private Consecration Boundary Checks
Public/Private

7.3.1

Identify and confirm from the Burial Register and Purchase Register (or Grave
Register) whether graves are Public or Private.

7.3.2

Check for private agreements that may have been made over public graves
including written agreements to “reserve” a public grave for future interment of
another family member, or more formal agreements for exclusive right of burial over
public graves, or informal/formal maintenance agreements made. Details of these
may have been entered into one or other in the registers.

7.3.3

Plot which historic graves are public (no rights, subject to 7.3.2) and which are
private (with exclusive burial rights).
Consecration Boundaries

7.3.4

Use either the Sentence of Consecration plan (available from the Dioceses) and/or
the individual register entries to confirm precisely which graves are consecrated.
Mark on the Plan. Exclude un-consecrated public graves from consideration for
reuse.

7.4

Stage 4: Listed Memorials and Other Significant Memorials
Listed Memorials, Other Significant Memorials

7.4.1

Check with the conservation officer from the planning authority which graves have
memorials which are Listed. Check if other graves/memorials have particular
significance on account of cultural/biographical/architectural significance as may be
identified in the Conservation Plan. Exclude all such graves from the scheme of
reuse/reclamation. Mark such graves/memorials on the plans and schedule
accordingly.
Commonwealth War Graves Commission (CWGC)

7.4.2

Check with the CWGC (with reference to their latest casualty lists) making reference
to cemetery name, section and grave number. Exclude CWGC graves. Mark CWGC
graves on the plans and schedule accordingly. Consult with CWGC on the process.
12

Page 131

Graves previously Illegally Reused
7.4.3

Reference the schedule of illegally reused graves. Check and exclude any
previously illegally reused graves from the process. Mark these graves on the plans
and schedule accordingly.

7.5

Stage 5: Age Profiling

7.5.1

Review records and exclude all graves where the last interment took place less than
75 years prior to the date proposed for reuse. Identify as being too new both on the
Reuse Schedule and Reuse Plan. Where appropriate identify proposed timescale for
reuse/reclamation in the future.

7.6

Use of Digital Mapping System

7.6.1

If and when (in the future) a digital mapping system (GIS based) is employed, all
these details shall be capable of being included.

7.7

Site Survey and Recording

7.7.1

Check graves and memorials on site using the Re-Use Plan. Correct the plan where
any anomalies are found and show the correct position of existing graves (digital plans
are edited digitally to make these corrections).

7.7.2

Where there is uncertainty as to the identification of any given grave on the ground, or
where there appears insufficient space to accommodate it (or where it is simply not
located), it is not to be taken forward for re-use and shall marked as ‘not found’ on the
plans and schedule.

7.7.3

At the time of this site checking other records are to be made including:
 a photographic record of each aspect (side) of each monument;
 a photographic record of each inscriptions on of each monument;
 a written transcription of inscriptions (existing information from previous surveys on
microfiche can be used to assist in this).

7.7.4

Use the Part 1 of the Pro-forma Grave Data Sheets (included separately to this
document) to record all details appropriately.

7.7.5

Store all written and photographic memorial records digitally. These may be linked into
the digital management system, when that system is available (see Section 17.0).

13

Page 132

7.7.6

‘Graves in Need of Investigation’: Where remnants of brick lined graves are apparent
from the surface but the capacity of the lining to accommodate new burial without
substantial re-construction is unknown (on account of size or condition), these should
be identified as ‘In need of further investigation’ on the plans, and only progressed
after investigation.

7.7.7

Vaults: Where a grave is recorded as a vault or found to be of a fully constructed vault
construction (e.g. with concrete base) then reuse (by means of lift and deepen) shall
not proceed. If it is clear that a vault construction is present but that there may be
sufficient depth available to receive new burials (without disturbance) then it may be
proposed to be taken forward for reclamation. Additional site investigations may be
necessary to ascertain the nature of any vault

8.0

EARLY STAGE PROCEDURES: ON-SITE SURVEY AND CATEGORISATION

8.1

Stage 6: Site Survey and Categorisation

8.1.1

Broad areas for reuse will have been considered beforehand (section 3.0 above).

8.1.2

Survey and assess all graves and memorials in the proposed reuse areas. Use the
Draft Reuse Plan (Plan 1) and cross reference against entries in the burial/purchase/
grave register. Use of a digital spreadsheet (or GIS version) of the records will
greatly assist on site.

8.2

Categorisation and Prioritisation and Selection: Private Graves

8.2.1

For private grave areas make an on-site survey and assessment of graves and
categorise according to Table 1 below.

8.2.2

In certain areas where there have been past memorial clearances and numbers of
intermediate graves, only those graves the location of which can clearly be identified
or ascertained will be selected and proposed for reuse.

8.2.3

In other areas where graves are arranged with regular rows of kerbsets, selection
will be made on the basis of rows or clusters allowing for good access in the future.
Private Graves: Types

8.2.4

Graves A, B and C are graves without memorials, but which can be reliably located,
identifiable earthen graves or brick-lined graves missing original ledgers/memorials.
These will be the graves prioritised for reuse – please refer to Table 1 below for full
14

Page 133

descriptions of the grave types. Thereafter priority shall be given to graves where
memorials are substantially degraded with only certain parts being salvageable (D)
and graves with memorials of ordinary or commonplace character requiring
restoration (or replacement) (E). Memorials on Category E graves may be restored
or replaced subject to more detailed assessment. Where graves (A to E) are to have
new memorials, those will be in accordance with the applicable memorial
regulations.

Table 1

‘Potential’ Private Graves for Reuse Categories

A

Earthen grave that can be reliably located but where the original
memorial is entirely missing.

B

Below ground brick-lined grave entirely missing the original ledger
or memorial.

C

Above/below ground brick-lined grave with ledger/temporary
ledger but no memorial surviving.

D

Other grave with kerbset memorial so degraded and/or substantially
missing as to be capable only of salvage of its parts for repairs
(notably the salvage of stone landings and salvageable ledgers).

E

Grave with monolith/kerbsets/ledger/cope-stone or other memorial
of ordinary or commonplace character, which if retained would
require some restoration.

F

Grave with monolith/kerbsets/ledger/cope-stone or other memorial
of distinctive character which if retained would require substantial
restoration including new parts or features.

G

Grave with monolith of substantial size or of distinctive or special
character requiring some restoration.

H

Grave with kerbsets/ledger/cope-stone/tomb of substantial size or
of distinctive or special character requiring some restoration

8.2.5

Category F includes graves where the memorials are substantial or distinctive but in
poor condition and which it may not be viable to restore. Further assessments will be
made (below) to determine whether they are to be retained and restored during the
progress of reuse. Categories G and H are similarly substantive and/or distinctive
but largely intact and these graves shall only be reused subject to their memorials
being restored with new inscriptions (to the newly interred/custodian) added.

8.2.6

Graves not found (NF): where there is uncertainty as to the identification of any
given private grave on the ground, or where there is no memorial and there appears
insufficient space to accommodate it on the ground (or where it simply cannot be
15

Page 134

located), it is not to be taken forward for reuse and shall marked as ‘not found’ (NF)
on the plans and schedule.
8.2.7

‘Graves in Need of Investigation’ (NI): where from site inspection, from the records,
or other evidence, it appears that graves may have been brick-lined graves and the
capacity of the lining to accommodate new burial without substantial re-construction
is unknown (on account of its size or condition), these graves should be identified as
‘In need of further investigation’ on the plans, and only progressed after
investigation.

8.2.8

Vaults (NV): Where from site inspection, from the records, or other evidence, it
appears that graves include a fully constructed vault (i.e. fully enclosed by walls with
ledger and with a solid base) then reuse (by means of lift and deepen) shall not
proceed. If it is clear that a vault construction is present but that there may be
sufficient depth available to receive new burials (without disturbance) then it may be
proposed to be taken forward for reclamation. Additional site investigations may be
necessary to ascertain the nature of any vault. Mark graves as a potential Vault on
the plans (NV).
Site Survey and Assessment – Private Graves

8.2.9

In making assessments as to grave category, robust governance procedures shall
be in place. Only appropriately trained senior Cemetery staff shall make final
assessments.

8.2.10

For Grave types E, F, G and H assessment may be complicated and to some extent
subjective. An assessment will be required as to whether memorials can be
realistically economically and practically retained and restored (including such
techniques as restoration, reversal and re-inscription (RRR)) so as to preserve
special or distinctive character of individual memorials and/or the character of the
wider cemetery. A senior member of the Cemetery staff shall consider whether
further specialist advice is required.

8.2.11

For Grave types F, G and H further advice shall be sought from approved
stonemasons or conservators in respect of specification of memorial restoration,
approximate costs of restoration, access issues (section 9.0) and approaches to
adding inscriptions or RRR.
Site Survey and Assessment: Areas of Public Graves

8.2.12

Carry out a survey of public grave areas to check whether there are any marked
graves or memorials and identify any private burials which may have taken place in
the area either as intermediate graves or set on top of earlier public burials.
16

Page 135

Trees
8.2.13

At time of site survey, or in advance, identify any significant trees that may influence
reuse. This may require a tree survey to BS5837. Protect and retain any trees of
category A or B identified in such a survey.

8.3

Stage 7a: Reuse Burial Plan

8.3.1

Using the Draft Reuse Plan / Draft Reuse Burial Plan, reproduced for the historic
burial plans overlain and corrected by topographic survey as appropriate, and further
to the site survey above, set out a final Reuse Burial Plan with anomalies resolved,
and positions and numbering of existing graves shown correctly.

8.3.2

For private grave areas the Reuse Burial Plan will show the existing layout of
individual graves, highlighting which are proposed for reuse.

8.3.3

For areas of public graves, the plan will show the approximate outline of public
graves, adjacent areas of private graves, and the proposed new layout of graves.

8.4

Stage 8: Reuse Schedule

8.4.1

Develop the reuse schedule (Excel or GIS-based) to include all the register entries
and survey information above.

8.5

Stage 9.0: Detailed Recording

8.5.1

Either at the time of the survey work (above) or in a separate follow-on survey make
detailed records of memorials including:
 a photographic record of each aspect (side) of each monument;
 a photographic record of all inscriptions on each monument;
 a written transcription of inscriptions (existing information from previous surveys
on microfiche can be used to assist in this).

8.5.2

Use the Part 1 of the Pro-forma Grave Data Sheets (included separately to this
document) to record all details appropriately.

8.5.3

Store all written and photographic memorial records digitally. These may be linked
into the digital management system, when that system is available (see Section
17.0).

17

Page 136

9.0

ACCESS CONSIDERATIONS, MEMORIAL REGULATIONS

9.1

General Access Considerations

9.1.1

For each area officers shall assess access issues and map out on an access plan.
Take account of access required for:
 grave digging;
 funeral access (to the graveside for the funeral party);
 restoration, placement or inscription work on memorials (see below);
 or placement of new memorial (see below);
 re-openings for second or third interments (involving all of the above);
 access for maintenance;
 general visitor access.

9.1.2

Plan for access over time. Prioritise restoration and re-use graves at the back (or in
the centre) of any area first (furthest from the path). Identify access routes in. Graves
with clearly apparent and insurmountable access issues should not proposed as
being taken forward for reuse.

9.2

Access in Full Memorial (Kerbset, Ledger, Tomb) Areas

9.2.1

Develop Method Statements on a grave by grave basis (use Part 4 of Standard
Proforma). Where memorials need to be removed to allow access and burial:
 avoid any displacement of Listed or significant memorials (see above);
 minimise all other displacement (adjacent memorials);
 seek to notify all affected owners of burial and/ or memorial rights: follow
notification procedures under the 1976 Act and/or LACO 1977 as appropriate;
 record memorials photographically before removal for access purposes, or for
burial or restoration;
 where memorials are to be only temporarily displaced, always return memorials
to original location;
 where memorials are to be only temporarily displaced, return memorials in their
original condition, and placed upright and stable to NAMM standards.

9.3

Memorial Types

9.3.1

Memorials on re-used graves will fall under two general categories (see also 15
below):
 Original memorials restored and re-inscribed (with/without modification /adaption
/reversal)
18

Page 137

 New Memorials in accordance with Memorial Regulations (general provisions)
(Modified as appropriate to be in accordance with Churchyard Regulations)
9.3.2

The precise approach for memorialisation of reused graves shall be agreed and
confirmed internally prior to proceeding with reuse in any given area.

9.3.3

Include outline statements on new/replacement/restoration of memorial on the proforma.

10.0

SEARCHES AND NOTIFICATION

10.1

Searches
General Searches

10.1.1

Check all records for owner of graves including transferees of rights (and their
addresses). Save and record all findings using a standard pro-forma.

10.1.2

Where relatives, heirs or other interested parties make themselves known to the
Council further to notices being publicised, their objection or agreement to reuse
shall be clearly recorded. Any person making a claim in respect of Exclusive Right of
Burial will be asked to demonstrate that they own those rights. If and where such a
person asserts ownership of those rights and/or wishes to exercise such rights the
authority requires the original Deed, or a Statutory Declaration (from the claimant’s
Solicitors or by a Commissioner of Oaths).
Responsibility to Maintain

10.1.3

Heirs should be made aware of their responsibilities to maintain memorials and,
where memorial rights have elapsed, shall be offered the opportunity to renew those
rights with appropriate payment. Whichever course of action arises the rights and
responsibilities of the grave owner and/or memorial owner shall be made clear to
any potential claimant.

10.2

Serving of Notices and Cancellation of Rights

10.2.1

Follow the Notice process as set out in summary at Table 2 as required by the 1976
Act and the 2007 Act, and as required by the Consistory Court (in respect of any
Faculty application). Refer to, and use, the Standard Notices (included separately to
this document). Undertake the following:
 Publish Notices in a London-wide newspaper and to purchaser’s addresses
 Display Notices at the cemetery entrance(s) (for private graves)
 Take a photographic record of these Notices in place on the day of installation

19

Page 138

 Use Standard proformas to record the serving of Notices and responses (Part
3).
10.2.2

In addition to the measures above, notices concerning all activities, preparations,
reuse and monument restoration shall be prominently displayed:
 at the entrance(s) to the cemetery;
 close to the site of the work/re-use;
 on the Bereavement Services section of the council website.

10.2.3

Ensure leaflets on reuse policy and detailed proposals are available in the cemetery
office.

Table 2 Summary of Notices 1976 Act, 2007 Act
(requirements where reuse is proposed under the 2007 Act are highlighted in italics)

Before removing any tombstone (memorial) (or before disturbing any human
remains)
a. publish a Notice of the intention to do so once in each of two successive
weeks in a newspaper circulating in Greater London with an interval
between the dates of publication of not less than six clear days;
b. display a similar Notice in a conspicuous position at each of the principal
entrances to the relevant cemetery;
c. serve a Notice thereof upon the registered owner of the right of interment
and on the registered owner of any tombstone affected at their registered
addresses
d. Serve Notices as deemed necessary by and in accordance with Faculty
consent.

Contents of Notices under 1976 and 2007 Acts:
(requirements under the 2007 Act in italics)
(see separate Standard Notices)
a. Include full particulars of the Council's proposals including a specification
of the registered number in respect of which it is proposed that rights of
interment should be extinguished (and if reuse is proposed that human
remains may be disturbed). Stating whether it is proposed that any
memorials should be removed;

20

Page 139

b. Specify the date on which it is intended that the rights should be
extinguished and any memorials removed, (and/ or the date after which
any works to disturb human remains will be undertaken) (and that date
shall not be earlier than 6 months1 after the date of the later of the two
publications, or the date on which Notice is first displayed, or the date on
which Notice is served whichever is the later; and
c. In respect of the reclaiming of rights (under the 1976 Act) the Notice shall
explain that the owner (of any rights of burial and/or a relevant
tombstone) has a right to object and the terms under which an objection
is made, explain that the memorial remains the property of the owner until
6 months after the notification date (after which it becomes the property
of the burial authority (the Council) to restore/reuse as necessary).
Explain compensation may be available if a claim is made within 6
months of cancellation of rights.
d. In respect of the reuse of graves involving disturbance of human remains
under the 2007 Act the Notice shall explain that the owner of any rights of
burial and/or a relevant tombstone, or the relative of any person whose
remains are to be disturbed, has a right to object and that if that objection
is not withdrawn then the burial authority may not exercise its powers
(under the 2007 Act) for a further 25 years.
e. Each Notice shall (in respect of the reuse of graves that will involve
disturbance of human remains under Faculty consent) explain that the
owner of any rights of burial and/or a relevant tombstone, or the relative
of any person whose remains are to be disturbed, has a right to object
and that if that objection is not withdrawn then the burial authority will not
reuse the grave.
1

Statutory minimum - longer periods may be given

Faculty Notices
10.2.4

Faculty Notices shall include information as required by, and in accordance with the
Faculty process and shall be erected and displayed as required by the process.
Faculty Timing

10.2.5

In consecrated areas where it is proposed to cancel rights under the 1976 Act and
disturb remains (lift and deepen) under Faculty, Notices should be served under that
Act. Then the Faculty application should be made only after the initial six months
minimum statutory period has elapsed, and where no objection has been received.

21

Page 140

11.0

DETAILED PROCEDURES: PRIVATE GRAVES

11.1

Approach (Private Graves)

11.1.1 Subject to:


cancelling of rights under the 1976 Act and receipt of a Faculty consenting to
reuse (in consecrated areas), or



cancelling of rights under the 1976 Act and fulfilment of the terms of s74 of the
2007 Act (in un-consecrated areas),
and



further to the expiry of all the relevant notice periods,

Then the processes set out in Figure 11.1, 11.2 are to be followed.

Figure 11.1 Implementation of Re-Use of Private Graves

22

Page 141

Figure 11.2

Implementation of Re-Use of Private Graves by Category

23

Page 142

12.0

DETAILED PROCEDURES: PUBLIC GRAVES

12.1

Approach

12.1.1

Further to receipt of consent (Faculty) from the Consistory Court to progress with
reuse, and further to the expiry of the relevant notice periods, the processes set out
in Figure 12.1 will be followed.
Figure 12.1 Implementation of Reuse of Public Graves

12.2

Layouts: Public Graves

12.2.1

New layouts will be developed so as to complement the historic layout of adjacent
areas of the cemetery. Checking will have been carried out, and layouts designed,
so as not to inadvertently disturb private or CWGC graves within the area, (some of
which may be unmarked).

13.0

REUSE PROTOCOLS

13.1

Reuse Protocols

13.1.1

Reuse protocols will be followed. These address:
a) Ethics Statement;
b) General Reuse Protocol;
24

Page 143

c) Excavation Protocol.

13.1.2

These Protocols shall be periodically reviewed.

Ethics Statement

i

Reuse will only take place in accordance with policies set out in this document and
as permitted by law and /or Faculty as applicable.

ii

No disinterment activity likely to cause distress to members of the public will be
openly on view at any time so far as is reasonably possible;

iii

Only skeletal and coffin material fragments will be disturbed during the process of
reuse, which will in no circumstances include the disturbance of any human
remains that are not fully decomposed nor remains within an intact coffin;

iv

All remains and artefacts encountered in the process of disinterment – including
any potentially valuable items such as jewellery – will be respectfully placed in an
appropriate container prior to re-interment in the designated public grave or the
original private grave;

v

No remains or artefacts will be removed and relocated to any place (other than for
public designated graves as noted above);

vi

Remains and artefacts removed from a grave will not be cremated prior to reinterment;

vii Remains and artefacts will be recorded in terms of depth found and given an
appropriate classification;
viii The process of reuse will be overseen by a senior member of staff from the
Bereavement Services team who has had specific training and is subject to an
appropriate level of supervision. All operatives involved will receive full and
appropriate training.

25

Page 144

General Reuse Protocol
1. All excavations in grave reuse areas will be undertaken with due care and
diligence due to the likelihood of human skeletal remains being disturbed. This
work will be undertaken before the cemetery grounds are open to the public,
although there will be occasions, particularly during busy periods, where work will
need to proceed during normal opening hours. Grave diggers shall maintain
dignity at all times in respect of the disturbance of skeletal remains and the
potential for visitors attending nearby graves being offended. Therefore, work will
cease whilst visitors are in close proximity to the grave being excavated.
2. Any disturbance of human remains shall be logged by the grave digger on the
digging order/papers and a senior officer advised. The details recorded shall
include the depth at which any remains were found (measured from the level of
the adjoining ground).
3. Details of the remains found shall be recorded using a six point scale (full details
set out below). This information will be recorded on the grave digger’s paper:


‘0’ No remains found.



‘1’ Small fragments of skeletal remains found.



‘2’ Significant skeletal remains found.



‘3’ Significant skeletal remains and fragments of coffin found.



‘4’ clearly defined but damaged coffin and significant skeletal remains
found.



‘5’ intact coffin found.



‘6’ remains that are not fully decomposed.

4. Points 5 & 6 on the scale above are shown in red as at these points reuse of the
grave will not proceed and the grave will be back-filled. Any remaining depth may
be used for burial provided the previous coffin / non-decomposed remains are not
disturbed.
5. Any grave artefacts found during the excavation will also be recorded using an
asterisk on the grave digging papers together with a brief description of the item(s)
found. Artefacts that have no value should be treated in the same manner as
those that do, e.g. gold or silver items. Any artefacts found shall be recorded and
reinterred into the grave together with any remains found. This information will fully
recorded.

26

Page 145

Excavation Protocol

Stage One

The grave will be dug by hand or by machine if accessible

to do so. All soil removed to a dumper until the driver/spotter reaches the
depth of the last known interment, or changes to the soil configuration
indicate that burial has taken place. At this point, the dig is called to a halt.
If to be left overnight the grave is very securely protected with locked grave
cover.
Stage Two

Further digging takes place with the grave digger removing

earth by the bucket load onto a grave board. An assessment is made by a
Supervisor as to the condition of the remains and grave with reference to
the General Reuse Protocol. A decision is made as to whether to proceed
with disturbance. Where proceeding, each load or bucket of soil arising is
selected/sifted by hand. The operative discretely places all remains arising
directly into a container, (a sturdy hessian sack or similar) carefully
removing excess soil as work proceeds. At no time do the remains leave the
vicinity of the grave, nor are they left unattended, nor are they made
available to view by the public.
Stage Three

The grave is over-deepened to give space for the remains

encountered. The remains are placed in the over-deepened section of grave
and covered with soil. All sifted soil is added to the dumper, to be returned
to the grave. If the grave is to be left unattended for any period of time it
must be partially (or fully) backfilled and then very securely protected with
locked grave cover or a substantial ledger safely replaced. Interment then
proceeds as would be the case with a re-open.

27

Page 146

14.0

PRE-SALE, PREPARATION AND RESTORATION, AND CUSTODY OF
RESTORED MEMORIALS

14.1

Sale of Graves

14.1.1

All potential purchasers shall be made fully aware that plots are reused graves.

14.1.2

To give certainty that any grave will be available ‘as sold’:


prior to re-selling exclusive rights of burial in a specific brick-lined grave, that
grave shall have already been pre-prepared (including lift and deepen);



prior to re-selling exclusive rights of burial in a specific earthen grave, where the
monument is to be retained and restored, then that grave shall similarly have
already been pre-prepared (including lift and deepen);



exclusive rights of burial may be sold without prior preparation (involving lift and
deepen) but only where rights are offered as one of a selection of earthen
graves (not a specific private grave) (termed an Area Grave) with it being made
clear at the point of sale that in the instance that difficulties in preparation arise,
another equivalent Area Grave would be offered within the same broad location.

14.1.3

Where memorials are to be restored (RRR or similar) and retained on the grave,
terms of agreements, period of agreement and costs for private rights will reflect the
level of commitment and outlay involved in the restoration of those memorials. Exact
terms and costs and maximum period will be subject to periodic review and are
detailed separately.

14.1.4

All purchasers wishing to buy the right to a private grave with pre-existing memorials
where those memorials are assessed as meriting being retained i.e. classification F
(subject to assessment), G or H, shall be made fully aware of:


their responsibilities upon purchase to be the new ‘custodian’, and to restore
and maintain the memorial;



potential costs and limitations associated with opening and accessing the
grave for first and subsequent interments;



the requirement to respect original inscriptions where those are retained on the
monument (usually on reversed monoliths/headstones);



any constraints upon the form of new inscriptions; and



the requirement that all restoration work shall be done through a register of
approved masons maintained separately by the Council and reviewed
annually.
28

Page 147

14.1.5

In areas that were previously public graves, purchasers shall be offered one of a
choice of graves, (an Area Grave) not a specific grave.

15.0

REGULATIONS FOR MEMORIALS

15.1

Regulations: New memorials

15.1.1

Memorial Regulations applying across the cemeteries are separately detailed within
the Cemetery Regulations.

15.1.2

All potential purchasers of graves shall be made aware of the requirement for any
new memorial or inscription to meet the Cemetery Regulations.

16.0

TRAINING

16.1

Training

16.1.1

All staff involved in the reuse process shall be appropriately trained to deal with
reuse and associated memorial work.

17.0

RECORDS AND RECORD KEEPING

17.1

Records of Reuse and Reclamation

17.1.1

Full records of reuse and reclamation shall be kept including:
a) entries shall be made on the original Purchase Register recording that the grave
has been reused or reclaimed.
For private graves all the original data relating to the original person(s) buried
and original owner, and transferees, shall be transferred to the digital cemetery
management system;
b) for private graves all the new details relating to the new person(s) buried and
new owner, and transferees, memorial rights etc. shall be maintained on the
digital cemetery management system and referenced with and made accessible
by the same grave number;
c) recorded entries shall distinguish where reuse (disturbance) as opposed to
reclamation (no disturbance) has been carried out;
d) all Burial Plans shall be clearly marked with a consistent annotation denoting
where graves have been reused or reclaimed (red dot);
e) new Burial Plans with unique numbering will be created for public grave reuse
areas and clearly annotated to show that all new graves therein are reused
graves;
29

Page 148

f)

record-keeping shall thus be in accord with the provisions of sections 9 and 11 of
the Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977 (Statutory Instrument No 204)
(‘LACO’).

17.2

Historic Record and Archiving

17.2.1

Records shall be maintained of the original (pre-restoration) condition and
inscriptions of memorials prior to their restoration. These shall be made accessible
through the system.

17.3

Future Record Keeping

17.3.1

The above requirements shall continue to be met (and shall be transferred across to)
any future digital system.

30

